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THIS
PUBLICATION
As part of Banif Bank (Malta) plc’s
ongoing drive towards employee
engagement, this publication
features a series of photographs
featuring employees following
their passions, practicing the
sports which exhilarate and ignite
their hunger to achieve. The
Bank’s culture is geared towards
encouraging those who strive for
success in their personal life, to
bring that same determination into
the workplace. A winning team,
above all else, is what gives the Bank
its identity.
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MISSION
VISION
VALUES

OUR VISION

OUR MISSION

Our Vision lays down what we want to be and what
the ambition of Banif is - to be a solid Bank that is
recognised as a beacon in the market by being close to
its customers and an example to the community.

Our Mission expresses who we are, what drives us and
what our purpose is as a financial services institution
- to be a Bank in constant sustained growth working
towards the creation of value, and a business and
family partner that strives to value its assets, delight
its customers and satisfy its employees, driven by the
highest principles of ethical and social responsibility.

OUR VALUES
Establish long lasting relationships, based on rigour, integrity and
transparency, with respect for the interests of our shareholders and
customers, believing in the continuity of our project, its goals and guiding
principles.

See customers and all those we have relations with as individuals with
unique life stories, whom we wish to help achieve their expectations, with
an attitude of commitment and social responsibility.

Act at the right time, with innovation and quality of service, based on an
understanding of the context and anticipating opportunities, always aiming
at the common goal of value creation.

Understand and interpret the new market trends, in order to anticipate
differentiating solutions that are in tune with our customers’ interests,
confirming our capacity to compete and be an agent for change.

Have the ‘Power to Believe’, to make so-called ‘impossible’ dreams come
true, build new futures, overcome difficulties without giving up or
becoming discouraged, doing more and doing better, for everyone’s benefit.
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Chairman
and CEO’s
Statement

Operational Context

Banif Bank (Malta)
plc continues to
perform positively in
an environment of
challenging scenarios
across the Eurozone and
a highly saturated local
market. In concluding
its seventh year of
business activity, the
Bank ended the past
financial year with
very positive financial
results, registering a
five-fold increase in
its profit before tax
on the previous year.
These results mark an
important achievement
for the Bank, especially
in the context of volatile
European markets.
Favourable, although
competitive, local
economic conditions
enabled the Bank to
consolidate its position
in the local market and
reinforce its reputation
as a reliable financial
services provider.

In the face of aggressive competition, rapid techonlogical advances, everchanging market trends and volatile EU and global economies, Banif’s strengths
have come to the fore to deliver a clear message - that of strategic growth
and evolution. This was achieved through the internalisation of the Bank’s
core values by the team, through a strong brand supported by positive public
perception and via a corporate social responsiblity strategy, contributing to
the fostering of positive fruitful relationships with customers, partners and
suppliers.

Strategic Investment
The results confirm that Banif Bank is on target with its business and growth
plans. The past year was one in which the Bank capitalised on its role as a key
player in the local market, in parallel with Bank-wide optimisation to ensure
continued improvement in key business processes. The Bank worked on
streamlining its practices, improving its cost efficiency and financial margin,
while monitoring risk, exposure and impairments. Banif focused on business
growth, with an emphasis on strengthening retail business and relationships
with customers, in parallel with an investment in core operations, branch
network, technological infrastructures, human resources and product
portfolio.
The Bank’s workforce continued to grow. In line with our expansion strategy,
new branches were opened in Paola and Mosta and a Corporate Banking
office was also opened in Paola. The Bank’s e-channels platforms and digital
infrastructures were further enhanced, with additional ATMs added to the
network. New and increased regulatory requirements significantly impacted
the Bank’s daily activities, and the correlative measures in this context
were accordingly updated and stepped up. Banif is fully compliant with all
applicable regulations and exercises prudence in ensuring it is well in line
with the requisite provisions and reserves. Our track record of delivering
results is testament to our resilience, ambition and belief in what we do. The
Bank is confident that the increase in profits during 2014 marks an upward
trend for the future.
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Positive Results
In 2014, Banif Bank registered a profit of ¤1.4 million before taxes. The Bank
closed the year with total assets of ¤619 million – a significant achievement
driven by the growth of both the loans and deposits portfolios.
We are confident 2015 will render just the same success. A new shareholder
is expected to enter the Bank in the coming year, which will enable us to
pursue new areas of business and growth. We will keep up the practices
and processes which have proved so effective in our growth spurt, and will
continue investing in our team and infrastructure, maximising the potential
of our resources to deliver the high level of service which differentiates us
from our competitors. We will continue to focus on the parties who have a
stake in the Bank’s performance – the customer, the team, the shareholders
and the regulators – to ensure that the demands of each are fully satisfied.

We owe our positive results to our customers for
reiterating their trust in Banif Bank and to our
employees for a fantastic outcome, and for this we
are extremely grateful. Our winning team, above all
else, is what gives the Bank its identity and fuels our
drive towards success. We look forward to 2015 as
another opportunity to demonstrate our ability to
achieve, to improve and to succeed.
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BOARD OF
DIRECTORS
Michael Frendo,
Chairman
Chairman of the Board
since May 2013. A former
Speaker of the House
of Representatives
and a former Minister
responsible for
various portfolios
including Foreign
Affairs, Information
and Communication
Technologies, and the
Arts, Dr Frendo is a lawyer
with a postgraduate
specialisation in European
Union law who has also
worked in the private
sector in both Malta and
the United Kingdom. Dr
Michael Frendo is a Senior
Lecturer in the Faculty
of Laws at the University
of Malta and teaches
at the Mediterranean
Academy of Diplomacy
(Malta) and the London
Academy of Diplomacy
(University of Stirling). He
has published widely on
European, diplomatic and
legal issues and currently
practices as a lawyer and
consultant.

LuÍs Carlos Ferreira
Avides Moreira,
Executive Board Member
Joaquim Francisco Da
Silva Pinto,
Chief Executive Officer
Director on the Board
since March 2007. Mr Silva
Pinto started his career
at Oporto University
before moving into the
financial services sector.
In 1978 he joined UBP in
the Foreign Department
for Trade Finance
Operations. In 1987 he
joined BNP to launch
business in northern
Portugal, heading
operations and leading
trade business. In 1991 he
joined Banif Group taking
responsibility for banking
operations, finance, HR
and corporate services
of the northern region.
Mr Silva Pinto went on
to become the National
Managing Director for
Operations and later
National Managing
Director for Procedures
and Quality. He then
became General Managing
Director of Operations of
the commercial banks
within the Banif Group
and represented the Bank
on national committees.
He was appointed Chief
Executive Officer of Banif
Bank (Malta) plc in 2007.

Director on the Board
since December
2010. Joined Banif
Financial Group in 1995
holding several senior
management positions
within Banif, SA. He
headed the Corporate and
Business Banking Unit
of Banif Group and has
vast experience in retail
banking. Mr Moreira is a
graduate in Economics
and has an MBA in
Financial Services from
the University of Porto.

Jorge Humberto
Correia Tomé
Non-Executive Board
Member
Appointed to the Board
of Directors in November
2012. He has a Master in
Applied Economics, studied
Advanced Management
at the Chicago Business
School and holds a degree
in Business Organisation
and Administration. Mr
Tomé has over thirty years
of experience in banking.
Since March 2012 he is
the Vice Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of
Banif - Banco Internacional
do Funchal S.A.. He is
also the Chairman within
several subsidiaries of
Banif - Banco Internacional
do Funchal S.A. v. g. Banif
– Banco de Investimento,
S.A., Banco Banif Mais, S.A.,
Banif - Banco Internacional
do Funchal (Brasil), S.A.
and Banif - Banco de
Investimento (Brasil),
S.A.. Before joining the
Banif Group, Mr Tomé held
key management roles
including between January
2008 and February 2012
at Caixa Geral de Depósitos
as member of the Board
of Directors and CEO and
Chairman of its investment
arm Caixa-Banco de
Investimento, Banco
Nacional de Investimentos,
Gerbanca, Cimpor, Parcaixa,
Portugal Telecom, and
Credip-Instituição
Financeira de Crédito. Mr.
Jorge Tomé was also a
member of the Board of
Directors of Companhia
de Seguros Açoreana
S.A. (1996-2001), Partner
at Coopers & Lybrand,
Portugal (1995-1996) and
Director of Banco Pinto &
Sotto Mayor (1994-1995).
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CHAIRMAN & CEO’S STATEMENT

Kenneth Mizzi,
Non-Executive Board
Member
Edward Cachia Caruana,
Non-Executive Board
Member
Director on the Board
since March 2008. Mr
Cachia Caruana is a
fellow of the Association
of Chartered Certified
Accountants, UK and
a member of the Malta
Institute of Accountants.
In 1976 he was appointed
partner at Joseph
Tabone & Co, certified
public accountants and
auditors, and in 1988
became Managing Partner
retiring from the firm and
from the accountancy
profession in 1997. He
took an active role in
business organisations
including that of serving
on the councils of the
Federation of Industries
and the Malta Institute of
Accountants. He was also
a member of a number of
boards including the Malta
Stock Exchange.

Director on the Board
since April 2008. A
qualified chartered
accountant, after working
with Touche Ross in
London he returned to
Malta to join the family
business in 1971. He
has served as Director
on the Board of the
Malta Development
Corporation (1978-1980)
and a number of other
parastatal companies. He
also served as Director
on the Board of Mid-Med
Bank Limited and of
HSBC Fund Management
(Malta) Limited. He is also
Managing Director of SAK
Limited, franchisee of
The Body Shop in Malta,
Managing Director of
Muscat’s Motors Limited
and United Acceptances
Finance Limited and a
Director of a number of
other Mizzi Organisation
companies.

Maurice Mizzi,
Non-Executive Board
Member

Mark Portelli,
Non-Executive Board
Member
Director on the Board
since April 2008. A
member of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales
and a graduate from the
University of Manchester,
he has served as a
member of the Board of a
number of companies and
public entities.

Director on the Board
since April 2008. He read
law at the University of
Malta where he obtained
a Diploma of Legal
Procurator. He joined the
family business in 1957
and was appointed on
the Board of a number
of Mizzi Organisation
companies. He is currently
Managing Director of
Continental Cars Limited,
Mizzi Limited and Titan
International Limited.
He has held a number of
chairmanships for the
government including
Mediterranean Film
Studios (1984-1990) and
the Malta Development
Corporation (1997-1998).
He has been Honorary
Consul of Iceland since
1978. He also served as a
Director on the Board of
Plaza Centres plc, Allcom
Limited, Technical and
Management Services
Limited, Datatrak Holdings
plc, Datatrak Systems
Limited, Datastream
Limited, and Maltacom
plc. He is currently also
inter alia Director of Mizzi
Associated Enterprises
and President of Mizzi
Organisation and of the
Maltese Chinese Chamber
of Commerce.

Paulo E. Machado
Fernandes,
Executive Board Member
Maria Teresa Henriques
Silva Moura Roque,
Non-Executive Board
Member
Teresa Roque is
Chairperson of the
Board of Directors of
Savoy Group, Soil – SGPS,
SA, Rentipar Seguros,
SGPS, SA and Rentipar
Financeira, SGPS, SA. She
is also Vice Chairperson of
the Board of Directors of
Fundação Horácio Roque
– Instituição Particular de
Solidariedade, SA, Banif
– Banco Internacional
do Funchal, SA, and
Açoreana Seguros, SA.
Ms Roque is a member
of the Board of Directors
of a number of other
commercial companies
as well as a member of
the Advisory Board of
Nova School of Business
and Economics. She was
appointed to the Board of
Directors in March 2013.

Nuno Pedro Martins,
Executive Board Member

The
following
changes
took
place
during
the year:

Appointed Director on
the Board in March 2007,
Mr Martins graduated in
Chemical Engineering in
1992. He formed part of
the Portuguese Embassy
in Moscow as well as
the Ministry for Foreign
Affairs in Lisbon. He was
also Consultant with
Andersen Consulting and
PricewaterhouseCoopers,
giving specialised advice
to major Portuguese
banks on process
reengineering and IT. In
2003 Mr Martins joined
Banif Group and in 2004
was appointed Head of
Banif, SA’s Organisation
and Quality Division,
before accepting the
appointment of Chief
Operating Officer and
Director of Banif Bank
(Malta) plc. Mr Martins
resigned on 14 March
2014.

Director of the Board
since February 2014.
Mr Machado Fernandes
began his professional
activity in the banking
sector in 1985, working in
the areas of finance and
international financial
markets at Bank of
Lisbon & South Africa, in
Johannesburg. Later on
he moved to Banif – Banco
Internacional do Funchal,
SA in Portugal, and was
instrumental in the
integration of the Treasury
and Financial Markets
Departments. In 1997 Mr
Machado Fernandes joined
the Santander Group, to
perform similar functions
in the Financial Markets
and Asset Management,
within the retail banking
and investment banking
fields. After ten years,
Mr Machado Fernandes
was invited by Banif
Financial Group, to be part
of the team responsible
in setting up the Banif
Bank project in Malta. He
was appointed as Head
of Treasury with the
responsibility of setting up
the Bank’s Treasury and
trading room capitalising
on the extensive
knowledge and expertise
acquired in his career.
Today he occupies the post
of Chief Financial Markets
and Investments Officer
with responsibilities for
Financial and Management
Accounting, Regulatory
Reporting as well as
Treasury.
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GENERAL
INFORMATION
Directors
Adrian Cutajar,
Company Secretary

Adrian Coppini,
Executive Board Member
Mr Coppini was
appointed Director of
the Board in July 2014.
Mr Coppini joined Banif
at its inception and
was instrumental in
the setting up of the
Bank’s operations in
Malta where he led the
Bank’s HR and Corporate
Services Departments.
Today he occupies the
post of Chief Officer
Corporate Services with
responsibilities for people
management, properties,
administration, marketing
and communications.
He serves on the Bank’s
Executive Committee.
Mr Coppini held senior
management positions
in the airline, electronics
and investment promotion
sectors as Chief
Officer HR & Corporate
Services at Air Malta
plc, Managing Director
at Ero Electronic (Malta)
Limited and Executive
Company Secretary at
Malta Enterprise Limited
amongst others. He
served as Director on the
board of Air Malta plc and
Société Internationale
de Télécommunications
Aéronautiques (SITA) and
was elected SITA Council
Deputy President. Mr
Coppini holds a degree in
Business Management
from the University of
Malta.

Appointed as the Bank’s
Company Secretary in
June 2012. Dr Cutajar
graduated Doctor of
Laws from the University
of Malta in 2003 and
holds an MA in Financial
Services from the
University of Malta.
Between 2004 and 2008
he held the position
of Head of Legal and
Compliance and Company
Secretary with a financial
services group listed on
the Malta Stock Exchange.
He is a member of the
Chamber of Advocates,
Malta and the Institute
of Financial Services
Practitioners. Dr Cutajar
is currently Director of
Artio Corporate Services
Limited, focusing on the
provision of compliance,
governance and company
secretarial services
to licence holders
authorised by the Malta
Financial Services
Authority.

The Directors who served throughout the year were as follows:
Michael Frendo
Joaquim Francisco Da Silva Pinto
Luis Carlos Ferreira Avides Moreira
Jorge Humberto Correia Tomé
Edward Cachia Caruana
Kenneth Mizzi
Mark Portelli
Maurice Mizzi
Maria Teresa Henriques Silva
Moura Roque Dal Fabbro

Chairman
Chief Executive Officer
Executive Board Member
Non-Executive Board Member
Non-Executive Board Member
Non-Executive Board Member
Non-Executive Board Member
Non-Executive Board Member
Non-Executive Board Member

The following changes took place during the year:
Paulo Eduardo Machado Fernandes
Nuno Pedro Martins
Adrian Coppini

appointed as Executive Board Member on 20 February 2014
resigned on 14 March 2014
appointed as Executive Board Member on 7 July 2014

Company secretary
Adrian Cutajar

Registered office
Level 2, 203
Rue D’Argens
Gzira GZR 1368
Malta

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers
78 Mill Street
Qormi QRM 3101
Malta
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DIRECTORS REPORT

The Directors present their annual report together with
the audited financial statements of the Bank for the
year ended 31 December 2014.
The Board of Directors who served during the year are
as listed under the General Information section.
Principal activities

DIRECTORS’
REPORT

Banif Bank (Malta) plc (the “Bank”) was incorporated
and granted a licence to operate as a credit institution
in terms of the Banking Act, Cap. 371 of the Laws of
Malta on the 27 March 2007. The Bank is a fully-owned
subsidiary of Banif S.A. with an authorised and issued
share capital of ¤50 million and ¤32.5 million, respectively.
The Bank provides a full range of commercial banking
services to both residents and non-residents through a
network of twelve branches, a corporate and business
banking unit as well as an executive banking unit.
In 2014, Banif Bank (Malta) plc concluded its seventh
year of business activity in Malta. Within the context
of a subdued macroeconomic environment across the
Eurozone and more favourable economic conditions
locally, the Bank has consolidated its position in the local
market as a reliable financial services provider.

of 2014, the Maltese economy recorded an estimated
net International Investment Position of ¤2.44 billion.
To strengthen this, further growth in the first half of
2014 was higher than anticipated; the annual real GDP
reached 3.2%. The unemployment rate fell to 5.8% from
6.5% in 2013 whilst the deficit fell by ¤118.4 million
between January and November 2014.
In parallel with its client portfolio, the Bank’s workforce
continued to grow. Several new faces joined the core
of seasoned bankers to form a team that marries
enthusiasm and innovation with experience and
expertise. The Banif team was in focus during 2014 as
a slew of staff initiatives were introduced to foster
a culture of personal development and workplace
enrichment, in line with the Bank’s core value - a further
acknowledgement of the fact that a great team is key to
the Organisation’s success.
The Bank’s management structure was streamlined
to
increase
empowerment
whilst
optimising
communication lines. Improved coordination between
units and increased competency and skill levels have
resulted from more individuals and teams having their
share of responsibilities and opportunities.

Review of business development and financial position
Business development
The year 2014 was expected to be the year of the dollar,
as analysts were expecting the world’s largest economy
to strengthen after years of the Central Bank flushing
the markets with cheap funding. The results achieved,
however, were not reflected fully in the exchange rate
for the dollar when compared to major currencies.
The Federal Reserve Bank tapered its quantitative easing
programme, leaving the market speculating on when
the Fed may start increasing rates. On the other side of
the Atlantic, the Eurozone was increasingly concerned
with weak inflation, falling heavily below target, with
the ECB debating quantitative easing, raising stress
with Germany, who was opposing the programme for
legal, political and economic reasons. The UK recovered
well from the crisis, but may be playing for time, not to
raise rates so soon.
Geo-political turmoil also played its part during the
year, with unrest in Ukraine. OPEC continued pumping
oil despite falling prices whilst being cautious on
US production of shale oil, potentially impacting its
competition for market share. The price of oil fell by 50%
during 2014, impacting also on inflation data of large
economic blocs, leaving blocs like the Eurozone and the
UK puzzled whether the tools available, like quantitative
easing will have the desired effect.
The local economy experienced very positive results,
which in return encouraged foreign investors to locate
their funds in Malta. As at the end of the second quarter

New branches were opened in the centre of two of
Malta’s most bustling towns, Paola and Mosta, increasing
visibility and accessibility for an ever growing client
base whilst reaching out to potential new traffic.
A Corporate Banking office was also opened within the
Paola Branch, with two dedicated teams now operating
in the commercial hub of the Island’s southern region,
ideally situated to meet the needs of business based in
and around the area.
The Bank’s e-channels platforms were further enhanced,
with an overhaul being implemented on the Banif@ast
internet banking portals for both personal and business
clients, safeguarded by new one-time-password
protection. Three new ATMs were added to the network,
providing additional touch points for clients.
Improvements were also made to the Bank’s digital
infrastructure. The core data storage device was
upgraded with the installation of four fibre optic
channels boasting 4Gbps of transfer speed. The
utlilisation of cutting edge techonlogy optimises
efficiency and timeliness in all of the Bank’s operational
processes, which in turn translates to improved service
levels passed on to our clients.
The Bank’s dedicated compliance unit was stepped
up in the context of new and increased regulatory
requirements. Banif is fully compliant with applicable
regulations and exercises prudence in ensuring it is
2014 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
well in line with the requisite provisions and reserves.
Procedures were heavily reviewed and apropos
software was developed internally to better manage
customer data and risk reporting, as part of a mutlifaceted approach towards internal control and due
dilligence.
Financial performance
During 2014, the Bank registered a profit after tax of
¤0.9 million (2013: ¤0.1 million). In total, operating income
covered 111.2% of the operating expenses including
net impairment provision (2013: 102.13%). Although
there was an increase in the impairment provision
and operating expenses, the ratio increased from the
2013 level, mainly due to a larger increase in operating
income, which was the result of both higher net interest
income and higher net fees and commission income.
The Bank continued to register growth in its lending and
deposit portfolio and main income streams. Total assets
increased by ¤22.8 million reaching ¤619.1 million by end
of 2014. The increase is mainly attributable to the fact
that the Bank again registered growth in customer
deposits. The Bank placed excess liquidity which
was not transformed into loans in Sovereign Debt or
entered into repurchase agreements with other credit
institutions holding Sovereign Debt as security. It also
held funds with other related credit institutions and
the Central Bank of Malta.
Gross loans and advances to customers have increased
by ¤41.0 million, reaching ¤384.0 million by end of
2014, whilst deposits have increased by ¤25.2 million,
reaching ¤579.2 million by end of 2014. The deposit
transformation ratio as at end of 2014 stood at 65.3%,
which is a marginal change from the level of 61.8% as
at end of 2013. An increase was registered in corporate
deposits while deposits held by individuals decreased.
The Bank generated a total operating income of ¤13.9
million, representing a 15.0% (2013: 12.7%) increase
when compared with the figure reported last year of
¤12.1 million. Net interest income from business carried
out with banks and non-banks amounted to ¤8.7 million
(2013: ¤8.1 million). The increase is mainly the result of
lower interest rates paid on deposits and through the
generation of more interest income from loans.
Net fee and commission income amounted to ¤2.1
million (2013: ¤1.7 million). The increase in net fee and
commission income was mainly driven by higher fees
generated from credit processing and related legal
services, payments, cards and other banking services.
All this translated into a higher ratio of net fee income
and commissions as a percentage of net interest income.

As at end of 2014, net fees and commissions stood at
24.2% of net interest income (2013: 20.8%). This was
mainly attributable to the fact that the Bank increased
new revenue streams as a result of an increase in the
retail banking services offered.
Trading income amounted to ¤3.1 million (2013: ¤2.1
million). Foreign exchange income represented 17.9% of
total trading income (2013: 42.2%). This decrease was
offset by a higher income generated from trading in local
and foreign-quoted sovereign and corporate bonds. The
Bank increased the levels of dealing activity in the bond
market which was very volatile. This provided a number
of trading opportunities to the Bank, which translated
into a higher income both in terms of realised gains on
sale and by the mark-to-market valuation of the bond
portfolio.
Total operating expenses excluding impairment
increased by 1.6%, from ¤10.5 million in 2013 to ¤10.7
million in the year under review. Expenses relating
to employee compensation and benefits including
Directors represent 49.4% (2013: 49.0%) of the total
operating costs. General administrative expenses
decreased from ¤4.7 million in 2013 to ¤4.5 million in
the year under review. The overall increase in operating
expenses is mainly attributable to the opening of three
more retail branches translating into higher staff and
operating costs.
Impairment
Since the start of its operations, the Bank was using
market probability of defaults in view of the fact that
history of credit losses was practically inexistent.
During 2014, the Bank continued to converge its
methodology to the use of own data of losses for the
purposes of carrying out its collective impairment
assessment, using own probability of defaults and loss
given defaults analysed by the different segments of
loan products offered.
During 2014, the effect of this exercise together with
the impairment resulting from the specific assessment
in line with the Bank’s provisioning policy, resulted in
an increase in provisioning for impairment by a net
amount of ¤1.8 million (2013: ¤1.3 million).
The gross increase in provision amounted to ¤4.2
million (2013: ¤2.3 million) whilst reversals of writedowns amounted to ¤2.4 million (2013: ¤1.0 million).
Total provision for impairment as a percentage of
gross loans and advances to customers stood at 1.5%
as at end of December 2014 (2013: 1.2%).
Credit facilities that were assessed individually for
impairment increased by ¤6.2 million, from ¤20.8 million

Review of business development and financial position
(continued)
as at 31 December 2013 to ¤27.0 million at 31 December
2014. The amount of specific provisions as a percentage
of the non-performing loans stood at 14.3% as at end
of 2014 (2013: 10.8%). Non-performing business credit
facilities represented 78.2% of the total non-performing
credit facilities (2013: 69.5%).
Tax
The Bank registered a profit before tax of ¤1.4 million
(2013: ¤0.3 million). This attracted a tax charge of ¤0.5
million (2013: ¤0.1 million). As a result of the profit
registered, the deferred tax asset reduced by ¤0.7
million and amounted to ¤4.6 million by end of December
2014 (2013: ¤5.2 million), mainly as a consequence of
utilisation of tax losses carried forward. The Directors
believe that the Bank will be registering further profits
in the forthcoming years against which the unused tax
losses can be utilised.
Financial and regulatory position
The Bank closed the year under review with a total asset
base of ¤619.1 million (2013: ¤596.3 million). The Bank
managed to improve significantly its deposit into loan
transformation ratio, with loans standing at 65.3% of
customer deposits as at end of December 2014 (2013:
61.8%). The largest component of assets was still
represented by loans and advances to customers, which
amounted to ¤384.0 million (2013: ¤346.4 million) gross of
impairment allowances.
During the year under review, the Bank increased its
investment portfolio designated at inception as ‘heldfor-trading’. This stood at ¤21.5 million as at end of
December 2014 (2013: ¤16.3 million). The investment
portfolio designated at inception as ‘available-for-sale’
increased slightly from ¤1.9 million as at end of 2013 to
¤2.3 million as at the end of the year under review. The
latter portfolio is entirely made up of investments which
are pledged in favour of the Depositor Compensation
Scheme in terms of Legal Notices 109 of 2010, 159 and
340 of 2012 amending the Depositor Compensation
Scheme Regulations of 2003.
In line with its strategies and plans, the Bank increased
further its investment in property for the Bank’s use and
equipment and intangible assets by ¤0.6 million. As at end
of December 2014, the carrying amount of property and
equipment amounted to ¤8.1 million (2013: ¤7.6 million),
whilst that of intangible assets amounted to ¤1.1 million
(2013: ¤0.9 million).
On 26 June 2013, the European Union published Regulation
(EU) 575/2013 and Directive 2013/36/EU, referred to as
the Capital Requirements Regulation (‘CRR’) and Capital
Requirements Directive (‘CRD’) respectively, collectively
known as the ‘CRD IV package’. Regulations emanating

from the CRR came into force as from 1 January 2014,
whilst the Directive will be transposed into national
legislation between 1 January 2014 and 31 December
2019.
The Bank has carried out various assessments over
the past two years to ensure that it is in a position
to meet the requirements emanating from this
legislation. The Bank continues to exercise sound
asset and liability management with a view to ensure
sustainable regulatory ratios in terms of liquidity and
capital adequacy. The Bank is fully focused to raise and
employ funds in the local retail and corporate business
segments. At the same time, the Bank continues to
invest in strengthening the operational capability and
consolidating the investments made in previous years.
The Bank continued to reorganise the asset composition
such that the total asset base increased by ¤22.789
million during 2014 and the risk-weighted assets
decreased by ¤13.254 million, from ¤285.423 million as
at end of 2013 to ¤272.169 million by end of 2014. This
had an impact on profitability, as placing funds in lower
risk-weighted assets also entailed lower returns. The
total Capital Adequacy Ratio stood at 8.36% as at end of
December 2014, whilst Core Equity Tier 1 Capital ratio
stood at 6.69%.
During the year under review, in view of unexpected
growth in loans and advances during the month of
June, as at 30 June 2014 the Bank’s Core Equity Tier
1 capital ratio was 7.93% i.e. below the 8% mark for
the first time since commencement of operations. The
Bank’s management took immediate corrective action
and the Core Equity Tier 1 capital ratio was 8.12% as
at 31 July 2014. The Bank continued to manage its
business diligently keeping in view the regulatory
capital constraints and placed itself in a position to
withstand regulatory constraints by a constant margin.
The Bank’s regulatory liquidity ratio stood at 72.42% as
at end of December 2014. This represents an increase
when compared to the ratio reported as at end
December 2013 of 39.33% and well above the required
minimum of 30%.
Outlook moving forward
The Bank is confident that 2015 will render just the
same success and will keep up the practices and
processes which have proved so effective in its growth
spurt. There will be continued investment in the team
and infrastructure, maximisation of the potential of its
resources in order to deliver the high level of service
which differentiates the Bank from its competitors. The
main focus will be on the parties who have a stake in
the Bank’s performance – the customer, the team, the
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shareholders and the regulators – to ensure that the
demands of each are fully satisfied. The Bank owes its
positive results to the customers and to the public for
reiterating their trust in Banif Bank, and to the team for
a fantastic outcome and is looking forward to another
successful year in its history.
Disclosure in terms of the Sixth Schedule to the
Companies Act, Cap. 386 of the Laws of Malta
During the year ended 31 December 2014, no shares in
the Bank were:

•
•

•

purchased by it or acquired by it by forfeiture or
surrender or otherwise;
acquired by another person in circumstances
where the acquisition was by the Bank’s nominee,
or by another with the Bank’s financial assistance,
the Bank itself having a beneficial interest;
made subject to pledge or other privileges, to a
hypothec or to any other charge in favour of the
Bank.

Preparation of financial statements and Directors’
responsibilities
The Companies Act, Cap. 386 of the Laws of Malta (the
“Act”) requires the Directors of Banif Bank (Malta) plc
to prepare financial statements for each financial year
which give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Bank as at the end of the financial year and of the
profit or loss of the Bank for that year in accordance
with the requirements of International Financial
Reporting Standards, as adopted by the European Union.
In preparing such financial statements, the Directors
are required to:

•
•
•
•

adopt the going concern basis unless it is
inappropriate to presume that the Bank will
continue in business;
select suitable accounting policies and apply them
consistently from one accounting year to another;
make judgements and estimates that are
reasonable and prudent; and
account for income and charges relating to the
accounting year on the accruals basis.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper
accounting records which disclose with reasonable
accuracy, at any time, the financial position of the
Bank and to enable them to ensure that the financial
statements have been properly prepared in accordance
with the provisions of the Companies Act, Cap. 386 of
the Laws of Malta and the Banking Act, Cap. 371 of the
Laws of Malta.

The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the
assets of the Bank and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities.
The Directors, through management oversight, are
responsible to ensure that the Bank establishes and
maintains internal control to provide reasonable
assurance with regards to the reliability of financial
reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations
and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
Management is responsible, with oversight from
the Directors, to establish a control environment
and maintain policies and procedures to assist in
achieving the objective of ensuring, as far as possible,
the orderly and efficient conduct of the Bank’s
business. This responsibility includes establishing and
maintaining controls pertaining to the Bank’s objective
of preparing financial statements as required by the
Act and managing risks that may give rise to material
misstatements in those financial statements.
In
determining which controls to implement, to prevent
and detect fraud, management considers the risks that
the financial statements may be materially misstated
as a result of fraud.
Auditors
Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers were appointed
as the Bank’s auditors for the first time during the
financial year under review and have signified their
willingness to continue in office as auditors of the Bank
and a resolution proposing their reappointment will be
put to the Annual General Meeting.
Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its
behalf on 31 May 2015 by:

MICHAEL FRENDO
Chairman

JOAQUIM F. DA SILVA PINTO
Chief Executive Officer
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‘Strength and
growth come only
through continuous
effort and struggle’.
Napoleon Hill

Stephanie Smith
Senior Analyst, Business Analysis Unit
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE PRINCIPLES
OF GOOD CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Banif Bank (Malta) plc (the ‘Bank’) believes that good corporate governance should be the basis of every decision and
action taken by the Bank. Despite the fact that The Code of Principles of Good Corporate Governance (the ‘Code’) contained
in Appendix 5.1 to Chapter 5 of the Listing Rules, as issued by the Malta Financial Services Authority is not mandatory
upon the Bank given that the Bank is not yet listed on the Malta Stock Exchange, the Bank has endorsed the Code and
is committed to implement high standards of corporate governance, except where the business circumstances merit a
different treatment.
This statement is divided into three sections with the first section indicating the extent to which the Bank has adopted
the Code, and the second section providing reasons why the Bank is non-compliant with the same Code. The third section
provides details of the Bank’s internal control system.
SECTION 1 – COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE
PRINCIPLE 1 – THE BOARD

Every listed Company should be headed by an effective board, which should lead and control the company.
Main Principle – The Code

The shareholders appoint or remove Directors on the Board using a transparent approach after each Annual General
Meeting. Prior to being appointed, each Director undergoes the due diligence process by the Malta Financial Services
Authority in order to establish that such Director is a fit and proper person pursuant to the Banking Act.
The Directors who served on the Board during the period under review were the following:
Dr Michael Frendo – Chairman
Mr Joaquim Da Silva Pinto
Mr Edward Cachia Caruana
Mr Jorge Humberto Correia Tomé
Mr Luis Carlos Ferreira Avides Moreira
Mr Nuno Pedro Martins1
Mr Paulo Eduardo Machado Fernandes2
Mr Adrian Coppini3
Ms Maria Teresa Henriques Silva Moura Roque Dal Fabbro
Mr Kenneth Mizzi
Chev. Maurice Mizzi
Mr Mark Portelli
1

The affairs of the Bank are managed by the Board of Directors.
The Bank’s Directors includes a mix of individuals with a solid academic and professional background who have
distinguished themselves in diverse business sectors. All Directors hold or previously held key management positions in
various local and international organisations.
The Board delegates certain responsibilities to the Executive Committee, the Audit Committee and the Properties
Committee. Further detail in relation to the mentioned Committees can be found under Principle 4 below.
PRINCIPLE 2 – CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the head of the Company between the running of the board and the
executive responsibility for the running of the company`s business. No one individual or small group of individuals should
have unfettered powers of decision.
Main Principle – The Code
The roles of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chairman of the Board are separate and distinct and are held by different
individuals.
The Chairman leads and sets the agenda of each of the Board of Directors’ meetings. In addition, the Chairman is
responsible for ensuring that all the Directors of the Board engage in effective discussions and ultimately take informed
decisions. The Chairman also ensures that there is effective communication between the executive and non-executive
Directors of the Bank, as well as with the shareholders.
The Chairman meets the independence criteria set out in the Code.
On the other hand, the Chief Executive Officer, who is also a member of the Board of Directors, heads the Executive
Committee. He has been entrusted with the execution of the Bank’s strategy agreed by the Board and also acts as the
link between the Board of Directors, whereby the strategy is set, and the Executive Committee, which is delegated with
implementing such strategy.
PRINCIPLE 3 – COMPOSTION OF THE BOARD

The board should not be so large as to be unwieldy. The Board should be of sufficient size that the balance of skills and
experience is appropriate for the requirements of the business and that changes to the board’s composition can be
managed without undue disruption. The Board should be composed of executive and non-executive Directors, including
independent non-executives.
Main Principle – The Code
The Board is composed of a non-executive Chairman, four executive Directors (including the Chief Executive Officer) and
six non-executive Directors.

Resigned with effect from 14th March 2014
Appointed with effect from 20th February 2014
3
Appointed with effect from 7th July 2014

2

In line with Principle 3 of the Code, the Bank considers that during the period under review the Board had two independent
non-executive Directors, Dr Michael Frendo (the Chairman) and Mr Edward Cachia Caruana.
The remuneration paid to the Directors is decided by the Parent Company in line with Group policy.
PRINCIPLE 4 – THE RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board has the first level responsibility of executing the four basic roles of corporate governance namely; accountability,
monitoring, strategy formulation and policy development.
Main Principle – The Code
The Board of Directors determines the strategic goals and formulates the policies of the Bank. It also sets the Bank’s
values and standards. The Board understands that high ethical standards should be applied in its decision making
process. Decisions and strategies formulated by the Board seek to encompass the interests of all stakeholders including
the Bank’s shareholders and employees.
The Board also regularly reviews the Bank’s performance against approved budgets and set targets. In addition, the
Board considers and determines credit proposals falling within the same Board’s credit sanctioning limits, as well as any
credit decisions where the Directors have a direct or indirect interest. In such instances, such Directors shall inform the
same Board, the nature of their interest at the meeting and shall not participate and vote in respect of that decision.
As detailed below, the Board of Directors have delegated certain responsibilities to various committees, with specific
responsibilities, as follows:-

The Executive Committee
The Executive Committee meets on a weekly basis to oversee the overall management of the Bank. The Executive Committee
is composed of four members, the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Commercial Officer, the Chief Financial Markets and
Investments Officer and the Chief Officer Corporate Services. Formulation of risk strategies and risk profiles, including
policies conducive to the achievement of organisational goals are the responsibility of the Executive Committee, however
implementation is delegated to the Departmental Heads through a formally documented organisational structure
with clear and transparent demarcation of functional responsibilities. The Executive Committee is also responsible for
assessing credit facilities and taking credit decisions as prescribed in the Bank’s credit policy.
The Executive Committee also appointed the following committees within the Bank, namely, the Assets and Liabilities
Committee (ALCO), the Budget and Planning Committee, the Credit Committee, the Global Risk Committee and the Products
Committee.
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The Audit Committee
The Audit Committee monitors and reviews the effectiveness of the Bank’s control functions, including internal audit,
the compliance and risk functions, and also monitors the financial reporting process and review the Bank’s internal
financial controls.
The Audit Committee makes recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding the appointment of the Bank’s
external auditors, their remuneration and terms of engagement.

The Properties Committee
This Committee meets in order to discuss and advise the Executive Committee on any proposals for the acquisition or
the rental of properties to be utilised for the Bank’s activities. At present, the members of this Committee are the Chief
Officer Corporate Services and two non-executive Directors.
Consequently, the Executive Committee, appointed the following management committees:

The Assets and Liabilities Committee
The Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO) meets on a quarterly basis to analyse financial information and to assess
the impact that the various types of risks arising from changes in interest rates, exchange rates and the market,
have on the profitability of the Bank and the various other components of the financial statements. This Committee
also drives the commercial activity of the Bank and reviews liquidity risk, and capital adequacy risk. It also sets the
framework for the design of policies to address and manage all these types of risks with a view to ensure that adequate
mitigating actions are taken to reduce the negative impacts of adverse movements on the operations of the Bank and
on the financial statements.
The ALCO is made up of the Members of the Executive Committee, the Head Internal Control Department, the Head
Financial Management Department and the Head Commercial Department.

The Budget and Planning Committee
The purpose of the Budget and Planning Committee is to liaise closely with the members of the Executive Committee
of the Bank in transposing the vision and strategic objectives adopted by the Board of Directors into detailed plans.
The Committee is responsible for coordinating and assisting in the preparation of the budgets of all the commercial
departments and all supporting back-office units. Furthermore, the Committee takes care of communicating the
budgets, once these are approved by the Board of Directors, and also oversees the actual implementation of the Bank’s
financial plans.
This Committee meets regularly and is made up of the Members of the Executive Committee, and the Heads of the
Commercial Department, Financial Management Department, Corporate Services Department, Operations & Systems
Department and Internal Control Department.

The Credit Committee
This Committee is responsible for assessing credit facilities and taking credit decisions within certain monetary and risk
bands. Additionally, it makes recommendations to the Executive Committee on credit facilities which exceed its upper
discretionary threshold.

Once a product concept is defined, the Products Committee moves to the Implementation Stage, during which the
objective is to implement the proposed product in an efficient manner. During this stage the Committee is made up
of representatives from the following units, namely the Marketing & Communications Unit, the Legal and Compliance
Unit, the Financial and Management Accounting Unit, the Risk Management Unit, the Information Technology Unit, the
Business Analysis Unit, the Business Development Unit, the General Operations Unit and the Treasury Unit.

The Global Risk Committee
The Committee deals with and advises the EC on the Bank’s overall risk appetite, risk tolerance and risk management
framework, taking account of the current and prospective macroeconomic and financial environment and drawing
on financial stability assessments which may be relevant for the Bank’s risk policies; oversees and advises the Bank
on the current risk exposures; keeps under review the Bank’s overall risk assessment processes, ensuring that both
qualitative and quantitative metrics are used; discusses all risk strategies on both an aggregated basis and by type of
risk; and keeps under review the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal controls and risk management systems.
The Committee is composed of the EC members and the Heads of the Commercial Department, Financial Management
Department, Corporate Services Department, Operations & Systems Department, Internal Control Department, and Risk
Management Unit. The Committee meets on a quarterly basis.
PRINCIPLE 5 – BOARD MEETINGS

The Board should meet regularly to discharge its duties effectively. Board members should be given ample opportunity
during meetings to discuss issues set on the board agenda and convey their opinions.
Main Principle – The Code
The Board meets as regularly as deemed possible, at least quarterly, in order to discharge its duties effectively. The
Chairman sets and circulates the agenda to all Directors. The Chairman, in collaboration with the Company Secretary,
also ensures that all supporting material is circulated to all Directors well in advance, so that they have ample time to
consider the information prior to the next scheduled meeting. The Chairman also ensures that the Directors participate
actively in all Board meetings.
During 2014 the Board of Directors met 6 times. Director’s Attendance at Board Meetings during 2014 was as follows:
Members
Dr Michael Frendo – Chairman
Mr Joaquim Da Silva Pinto
Mr Edward Cachia Caruana
Mr Jorge Humberto Correia Tomé
Mr Luis Carlos Ferreira Avides Moreira
Mr Nuno Pedro Martins
Mr Paulo Eduardo Machado Fernandes
Mr Adrian Coppini
Ms Maria Teresa Henriques Silva Moura Roque Dal Fabbro
Mr Kenneth Mizzi
Chev. Maurice Mizzi
Mr Mark Portelli

Attended
6 out of 6
6 out of 6
6 out of 6
5 out of 6
5 out of 6
1 out of 1
6 out of 6
3 out of 3
3 out of 6
6 out of 6
5 out of 6
6 out of 6

PRINCIPLE 6 – INFORMATION AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
The Committee is also coordinated at its different levels according to the same Credit Policy. It meets regularly and is
chaired by the responsible person as indicated in the Bank’s Credit Policy.

The Products Committee
The purpose of the Products Committee is to maintain a structured approach towards assessing and developing new
products. New product development is divided into two phases, the Conception Phase and the Implementation Phase.
During the Conception Phase the Products Committee focuses on the concepts and ideas that address the business
needs. During such Phase, the Committee is made up of the Chief Financial Markets and Investments Officer, the Chief
Commercial Officer, the Head of Commercial Management Department and the Head of Business Development Unit.

The Board should:
• appoint the Chief Executive Officer;
• actively participate in the appointment of senior management;
• ensure that there is adequate training in the Company for Directors, management and employees;
• establish a succession plan for senior management; and
• ensure that all Directors are supplied with precise, timely and clear information so that they can effectively
contribute to board decisions.
Main Principle – The Code
The Board of Directors appoints the Chief Executive Officer as well as the members of senior management.
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The Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary who is responsible for ensuring that the
Board procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are followed. Furthermore, the Company Secretary ensures
that the minutes faithfully record attendance, matters discussed, and decisions taken. Such minutes are circulated to
all Directors in advance of meetings.

SECTION 2 – NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE
Principle 4 (Code provision 4.2.7)
Code provision 4.2.7 recommends that the Board, “develop a succession policy for the future composition of the Board
of Directors and particularly the executive component thereof, for which the Chairman should hold key responsibility”.

The Board and the Executive Committee ensure that the Bank applies schemes in order to recruit, retain, motivate and
promote senior management. The Bank also encourages its management to move upwards in their career streams as
well as to maintain high levels of morale amongst the Bank staff members.

Given the fact that the Directors are appointed directly and exclusively by the Bank’s shareholders, the Bank does not
consider the necessity to develop a succession policy for the Directors.

PRINCIPLE 9 & 10 – RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS, THE MARKET AND INSTITUTIONAL SHARHOLDERS

Principle 7

The Board shall serve the legitimate interests of the company, account to shareholders fully and ensure that the
Company communicates with the market effectively. The Board should as far as possible be prepared to enter into a
satisfactory dialogue with institutional shareholders and market intermediaries based on the mutual understanding of
objectives. The Board shall use the general meeting to communicate with shareholders.
Main Principle 9 – The Code

Principle 7 recommends that, “The Board should undertake an annual evaluation of its own performance and that of its
committees”.

The term ‘institutional shareholders’ should be interpreted widely and includes any person who by profession, whether
directly or indirectly, takes a position in investments as principal, or Manager or holds funds for or on behalf of others
and includes custodians, banks, financial institutions, fund managers, stockbrokers, investment managers and others.
Main Principle 10 – The Code

Principle 8

The Bank provides regular and timely information to its shareholders in order for such shareholders to make informed
decisions. Despite the fact that the Bank is not listed on any recognised investment exchange, the Bank communicates
its long term strategic decisions to the market through press releases, interviews and the Bank’s Annual Report. It is
believed that such communication enhances trust and confidence in the Bank and its management.
The Board ensures that the interests of the Bank’s shareholders are protected at all times. In addition, the Chairman
ensures that the views of all shareholders are communicated to the Board.
PRINCIPLE 11 – CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Directors` primary responsibility is always to act in the interest of the Company and its shareholders as a whole
irrespective of who appointed them to the board.
Main Principle – The Code
The Directors are strongly aware of their responsibility to act in the best interest of the Bank and their obligation to
avoid conflicts of interest. Given that certain conflicts of interests arise naturally, the Bank has established a policy
whereby any Director experiencing such conflict of interest is to make a frank declaration to the Board of Directors. In
such instances, the relative Director does not participate in the discussion and does not vote on the matter. The minutes
of the Board reflect the manner in which such situations were handled.
PRINCIPLE 12 – COPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Directors should seek to adhere to accepted principles of corporate social responsibility in their day-to-day management
practices of their company.
Main Principle – The Code
Banif’s brand values pervade all the Bank’s areas of operations. They are shared by the Members of the Board and
passed down, as well as laterally, to the whole team. Ethical business practices are a backbone of the Bank, setting an
example to be emulated by employees, in all their day-to-day dealings, be they finance related or otherwise.
The strength of the Banif brand lies in its people. The Bank recognises this and invests heavily in development, training,
career paths and opportunity. Efforts are in place to keep fostering a culture of open communication and empowerment,
supported by equal opportunities and excellent working conditions.
Always attentive to its carbon footprint, the Bank regularly reviews its purchasing policies, its physical infrastructures
and its impact on the environment.
Banif Bank strongly believes in its responsibility to share in the community’s development and values. Leading by
example, it undertakes initiatives to contribute towards sections of society that are lacking in education, opportunity
and inclusion. The Bank’s Corporate Social Responsibility Policy apportions a fund that is utilised to support projects of
different natures including philanthropy, culture, art, heritage, youth, sports and education.

So far the Bank has not undertaken such independent evaluation of the Board and its committees, however any actions
undertaken by the Board and its committees are indirectly evaluated through the results obtained by the Bank.

Code provision 8A recommends that, “the Board should establish a remuneration policy for Directors and senior
executives. It should also set up formal and transparent procedures for developing such a policy and for establishing
the remuneration packages of individual Directors”. In addition Code provision 8B recommends that, “there should be a
formal and transparent procedure for the appointment of new directors to the board. The procedure shall ensure inter
alia, adequate information on the personal and professional qualifications of the candidates”.
Given the fact that the Directors are directly appointed by the Bank’s shareholders, the Bank does not consider the
need to develop a Remuneration Committee and a Nomination Committee. Notwithstanding this, the Bank is currently
reviewing the matter in line with recently published regulations and the Board has already approved the setting up of a
Remuneration Committee.
Banif Bank (Malta) plc. has a Remuneration Policy in place which is approved by the Board of Directors and is subject to
annual review. No significant changes were made in 2014, however, the policy is currently under review and the setting
up of a Remuneration Committee has been approved by the Bank’s Board of Directors. During 2014, recommendations
in respect of remuneration were made by the Bank’s Executive Committee for the approval of the Board. The Bank’s
reward policy has been drawn up in line with The Supervisory Review Process of Credit Institutions Authorised under the
Banking Act, Banking Rule 12 and the Remuneration Policy of Banif Group.
The policy is intended to create guidelines for the Bank when offering remuneration and benefits to all the employees
of the Bank and at the same time to ensure transparency in remuneration matters. It primarily aims to help the Bank
attract, retain and motivate high calibre employees within the context of the market in which it operates, keeping in
mind the interest of the Bank, the shareholders and all other stakeholders. The Bank also carries a set of rules and
procedures for the appraisal of performance. Such rules and procedures have been significantly changed during 2014
but have not materially changed the level of compensation associated with specific levels of results.
Banif Bank (Malta) plc. remunerates employees through a system of:

•

Fixed Pay for full and part-time salaried employees, within a published pay structure and dependant on
employee’s skills, experience and level of responsibility;

•

Fees are payable to non-executive directors in line with the time and effort committed to the institution and
industry practice;

•

Benefits in kind are offered to the employees in the form of reduced fees, interest rates and other benefits in
line with industry practice; and

•

Annual Bonuses as further detailed below.

The Bank’s performance related reward system does not guarantee levels of variable performance pay-outs to employees.
On a yearly basis, the Bank’s Board of Directors will approve a fund for bonuses and salary increases which reflects
the efforts and the results achieved by the Bank on its short and longer term goals. This is then distributed among
employees in accordance with the Performance Appraisal Rules and Procedures and the Bank’s Remuneration Policy.
The strategy of the Bank is to offer low levels of variable compensation in comparison to the employee’s fixed pay.
This, together with the absence of prior direct correlation between bonuses and achievement of individual targets, is
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intended to ensure that risks taken are within acceptable parameters and that employees follow the Bank’s values and
vision. Individual targets are set out in a way that encourages employees to achieve individual and group targets whilst
improving personal skills and competencies.
In view of the low proportion of performance related reward to fixed pay, it has hitherto not been the practice to apply
deferred payment of such reward. Malus and clawback have not, to date therefore been considered applicable.
Non-Executive Directors
Non-executive Directors are not full time employees of the Bank and do not receive a regular salary, allowances, pension
rights or other benefits. The compensation for Non-Executive Directors is based solely on a fee for their services together
with reimbursement of any expenses made in the course of Bank’s business.

The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for internal control within the Bank. The Board is also responsible
for ensuring that the basic roles of corporate responsibility, namely accountability, strategy formulation and policy
development are implemented throughout the Bank. The Board of Directors delegates to the Executive Committee the
authority to operate the Bank within the limits set by the Executive Committee’s Terms of Reference.
On a regular basis, the Bank issues procedures to control and/or mitigate material operational risks. Such policies are
subject to a periodic review so as to adjust the process in accordance with the current operational risk profile. These
Rules and Procedures are circulated and adhered to by staff at all times. In addition such Rules and Procedures are kept
permanently on the Bank’s intranet so that staff has access to such documents at all times. Any deviance from policy
parameters must be sanctioned outside such policy by the applicable sanctioning level.
The institution prides itself on practising high ethical and professional standards and a very serious view of any deviance
is taken. A robust internal control mechanism premised on separate Compliance, Audit and Risk functions is followed. The
central plank of the organisation’s risk activity remains the full independence of the risk function and its segregation
into risk management and risk control/oversight activities. Such compartmentalisation had already been implemented
as from 2012 and was further practised in 2013 and 2014 thereby reinforcing the robust risk governance infrastructure:

The Bank paid Non-Executive Directors compensation for the year 2014 as follows:
Michael Frendo (Chairman)
Edward Cachia Caruana
Kenneth Mizzi
Maurice Mizzi
Mark Portelli

SECTION 3 – INTERNAL CONTROL

¤41,300
¤12,728
¤7,500
¤9,228
¤9,228

•

Risk control and oversight activities are performed by Risk Management Unit, which is entrusted with setting
the risk-related policies, risk metrics and other risk mitigation procedures. Risk Management Unit identifies,
quantifies and reports to top management the degree to which the Bank is exposed to different risks. These
include solvency, credit (on a portfolio basis), concentration, market, liquidity, interest rate, operational,
reputational and all other “residual” risks.

•

On the other hand, the Bank’s Credit Analysis Unit performs a risk management role at the micro level. That
is to say, as a fully distinct internal entity (independent from the Risk Management Unit and other internal
Bank entities), Credit Analysis Unit officials are involved in the credit sanctioning and renewal process. They
analyse credit requests and make recommendations which seek to implement the risk policies, procedures and
metrics formulated by the Risk Management Unit. Credit Committee sittings at different authorisation levels
only approve granting and/or renewal of credit by consensus; each Credit Committee must include one official
emanating from Credit Analysis Office. The Credit Analysis Office official is enabled to withhold consensus by
giving risk-based considerations effectively sending the credit decision to a higher sanctioning level than would
otherwise be the case.

Executive Directors
The Bank’s Executive Committee is made up of four Executive Directors. Remuneration payable to these members for
the year was:
Fixed Remuneration
Variable Remuneration

¤284,653
¤59,040

The variable remuneration consisted in a performance bonus approved by the Board of Directors in 2014 but covering
the period 2011 to 2013.
Material Risk Takers (MRTs) Remuneration
Fixed and variable remuneration paid to MRTs is detailed in the table below and is aggregated by distinction between
senior and non-senior management. The identification of MRTs is based on the framework for prudential supervision
established by Directive 2013/36/EU.
Senior Management

MRTs

Number of employees

4

23

Fixed

¤ 284,653.00

¤ 1,055,265.00

Variable

¤ 59,040.00

¤ 32,720.00

All variable remuneration was paid in cash and no shares, share linked instruments or similar instruments were used.
The four members of senior management constituting the Bank’s Executive Committee, together with five Heads of
Department enjoy non-cash benefits which include the service of a company vehicle. All Bank employees benefit from
life cover, health insurance and personal accident cover.
No sign-on or severance payments were made to MRTs during 2014.
None of the members of senior management or MRTs received remuneration in excess of ¤1 million.

Risk officials are precluded from interacting directly with customers thereby safeguarding full objectivity and avoiding
the incidence of customer-induced bias. Such insularity coupled with functional independence and segregation of risk
activity into distinct functions as outlined above, ensure that the risks to which the Bank is exposed are tackled in a
holistic manner designed to make the entire organisation aware of the nature, scale and degree of intensity of the risks
involved in conducting the Bank’s operations. Segregation of risk control/oversight from risk management ensures that
those who set risk policy, procedures and metrics (i.e. officials from the Risk Management Unit) do not “go native” by
becoming deal makers rather than deal questioners (though being involved in the individual credit decisions).
In addition, the Bank believes in and practices an internal control mechanism founded on the four eyes principle,
functional segregation and audit procedures. The Legal & Compliance Unit advises and keeps senior management
informed on the implication of compliance laws and regulations that have a bearing on the Bank’s operations. The Unit
also identifies, documents and assesses the compliance risks associated with the Bank’s operational activities, including
the development of new products and business practices.
The Internal Audit Unit, on the other hand, monitors the conformity of the Bank’s operations with the set policies and
standards and reviews key business processes and controls. The work of the Internal Audit Unit focuses on areas of
greatest risk as determined by a risk management approach.
The responsibility for the development of financial forecasts of the Bank in line with the strategic plans devised
by the Board is delegated to the Budget and Planning Committee. These financial forecasts provide the basis for
continuous monitoring and control at various levels within the Bank. The relevant functions are then responsible
to report on financial performance against plans to the Board on a monthly basis, identifying reasons for variances
and, if necessary, corrective actions that need to be taken to ensure that objectives and targets set by the Board are
achieved.

2014 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32

33

‘A man’s worth is
no greater than his
ambitions.’
Marcus Aurelius

Kenneth Bezzina
Technical Support Officer, IT Unit
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Banif’s first seeds
were planted just
a few years ago. In
the meantime the
Bank has grown
into a young strong
sapling. For this to
have happened, a
number of important
factors played a
crucial role. The soil
was fertile and the
climate conducive
to growth, as the
Maltese population
responded positively
to an alternative
way of doing things.
A dynamic and
dedicated workforce
contributed towards
building the Bank
into what it is today.
The land was well
tended, as a robust
regulatory framework
maintained the
platform within
which the Bank could
operate efficiently and
responsibly.

As a child grows to understand the importance of giving something back to
the guardians who have brought him up, so too does the Bank acknowledge
its responsibility to the community that it operates in. As a Maltese bank,
being able to contribute to meeting some of the needs of society is of great
significance.
Corporate Social Responsibility is a mantle than can take several forms,
but it is most potent when forming part of a wider sustainable culture. It
is relatively easy for an organisation to donate funds to several causes. But
a more effective and far-reaching strategy is to embrace the concept as a
unifying mentality, shared by all of the organisation’s team members, and
manifested in their everyday activities.
Banif Bank’s efforts this year were coordinated with this objective in mind.
With an increased focus on fostering a positive, sustainable organisational
culture, several projects were undertaken, often spurred on by employee
suggestions, to reap positive results for all involved.

Overcoming challenges is a cornerstone of the Bank’s culture. It is only by
pushing through barriers that the Bank has established itself in the Maltese
market and has continued to grow at a constant rate. The Bank seeks to
support individuals and events which embody this ethos.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The President’s Solidarity Fun Run – One nation, one heartbeat
For the sixth year running, Banif Bank has extended its
collaboration with the Malta Community Chest Fund to be the
main sponsor of the President’s Solidarity Fun Run. A record
16,000 walkers and runners flooded the streets, with additional
routes all converging and making the way to the Grandmaster’s
Palace in Valletta.
This event has become a mainstay of the Islands’ calendar of
events and was once again a moving demonstration of the
solidarity of the Maltese populace, as hundreds of thousands of
euros were donated for a variety of causes chosen by the Malta
Community Chest Fund. Banif is extremely proud to be a part of
this monumental occasion, and to have been a main stakeholder
in its birth.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
Everest14
In 2014, four intrepid climbers
undertook the ultimate challenge by
scaling Mount Everest’s North East
Ridge. Drawing numerous parallels
with the Bank’s values - those of
passion, resilience, determination
and teamwork - it seemed only
logical that Banif would join other
corporate sponsors in supporting
their endeavour.
The climbers shared their experiences
with the Banif team, describing their
trials and fears, their joys, as well as
the exhilaration of success. Banif’s
collaboration with Everest14 was
then extended to include motivational
and team building activities, with the
aim of enhancing soft skills among
employees.

Art, culture, heritage... Malta’s
riches outdo its size by far! Their
requisite care and protection
are crucial to ensuring that
these riches are conserved and
can continue to be appreciated
and inspire future generations.
Restoration of Renaissance paintings
With the Bank’s support, two
important
panels
from
the
Renaissance have been restored to
as close to their original state as
possible. The refined paintings are two
of eleven or more, from a polyptych
or altarpiece by Antonio de Saliba
(c.1466-c.1535), commissioned for the
late medieval Rabat Franciscan Minor
Observants’ Church of Santa Maria di
Gesù (Ta’ Ġieżu).

LifeCycle Challenge
In today’s increasingly digital world,
it is becoming easier to slip into a
sedentary lifestyle. The Bank seeks to
encourage healthier and more active
ways of living by supporting athletes
in reaching their goals.
In 2014, Banif sponsored an athlete
taking part in the LifeCycle Challenge.
Enduring eight days of arduous
physical and mental exertion, the
cyclists covered over 1,900km
across the Japanese mainland in a
culmination of several months of
intense training and preparation. The
event is organised every year, to raise
funds for the Renal Patients and
Transplant Support Group.

The Research Programme within
the Department of History of Art,
University of Malta, directed by
Professor Mario Buhagiar and assisted
by Charlene Vella commissioned
ReCoop Laboratories to undertake
diagnostic tests on the paintings,
and to restore them to their former
glory. In the course of the restoration,
several previously unknown features
of the works were unearthed.
This sponsorship underlines Banif's
commitment towards projects that
preserve and safeguard Malta›s
artistic heritage, building upon the
positive results achieved in the
restoration of another painting by the
same artist - the Enthroned Virgin and
Child at St. Catherine Parish Church in
Żejtun.

Art travels the Bank’s branches
Acknowledging the importance of fostering the talents and abilities of the
younger generations, the Bank has exploited its branch network to offer
invaluable exposure for paintings produced by second year students of MCAST’s
Institute of Art & Design preparing for the National Higher Diploma of Fine
Art. The students’ works travelled across all twelve of the Bank’s branches in
groups of three, accompanied by an information panel explaining the project
and describing the underlying theme and materials used for the paintings.
The Travelling Exhibition was an added realisation of the ‘Life Case’ project,
wherein students were commissioned by the Bank to produce works of art
based on selected Maltese literary passages. The works were also featured
in the Bank’s perpetual agenda. This project is aimed at bridging education
and industry by providing opportunities for students to work in a simulated
environment wherein the Bank acts as a ‘client’. The project has been renewed
for a further year, with Banif paving the way for a new generation of artists
and designers to develop their skills and talents through vocational exercises.
Art exhibition in aid of Din l-Art Ħelwa
The towers that adorn the Islands’ coasts are an enduring symbol of Malta’s
history as a strategic stronghold in the heart of the Mediterranean. Artist Jane
Grech’s ‘Bulwarks of Fortitude’ collection was inspired by the towers and the
importance of preserving them. The exhibition was held at the 17th Century
Wignacourt Tower in St. Paul’s Bay in collaboration with Banif. A percentage of
the artist’s earnings were donated to Din l-Art Ħelwa.
Just as the artist’s brushstrokes give life to a canvas, so too do such collections
that further embroider the rich tapestry of Malta’s heritage. Banif believes in
supporting projects that further the appreciation of this heritage.

Banif’s CSR efforts start at home, keeping the team at the core of
its operations and seeking to do right by it through a workplace
which is satisfying, rewarding and encourages personal and
professional development.
Staff in focus
This year saw an increased focus given to promoting a positive organisational
culture, with a host of staff initiatives being introduced. The Staff Suggestion
Scheme was launched under the fitting moniker All Ideas Matter. As a result,
numerous employees put forward their suggestions on how the Bank can
streamline processes, reduce costs and improve its services. The Employee of
the Year Award was a great hit, with several employees being nominated by their
peers for their embodiment of the Bank’s values. Wellness workshops were also
organised, during which several experts shared their knowledge on nutrition,
fitness and maintaining a healthy work-life balance.
Perhaps the main contributor to Banif staff’s calendar of events is the Sports
and Social Committee. A team of five is elected each year to organise several
events and activities outside work hours to encourage employees to get
together and interact in a more informal environment.
With events ranging from an exclusive movie-themed performance by the
Malta Philharmonic Orchestra to a Treasure Hunt on Wheels around the Three
Cities, as well as the traditional summer and Christmas parties, this year’s
events were as varied as they were enjoyable. A few of them also took on a
philanthropic angle. A large amount of packed lunches from a postponed event
were donated to Dar tal-Providenza. Over ¤3,000 were donated to Inspire as
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
Banif team members got silly and soapy at the annual “It’s a
Knockout” fundraiser.
Casual Fridays
On the last Friday of every month, Banif goes casual and
each team member is encouraged to donate ¤1 or more for
a different cause. In the first two months, two employees
who were on their way to Naples and Kenya to carry out
missionary work were the beneficiaries of the donations.
The next month’s collections went towards a ‘pay-back’
fundraiser for Puttinu Cares organised by an employee’s
nephew.
In the following months, Banif reached out to several small
NGOs, spurred on by suggestions from staff. St. Angela’s
Home got a new laptop for the children to play and study
on. The Crèche in Sliema was equipped with four new water
heaters ahead of the cold winter months. Christmas time saw
the Bank team up with childrensdreams.org to make several
wishes come true, ranging from singing lessons to bicycle
helmets for children from difficult social backgrounds. In
December, the Millennium Chapel just up the road from the
Bank’s branch in St. Julian’s was the target of a robbery. So
rounding off the year, the sum gathered that month went
towards repairing the windows damaged during the break
in.
Since this initiative’s launch date, employee donations have
amounted to a few thousand euros. Though a very simple
initiative on the face of it, Banif’s Casual Fridays have
allowed the team to choose beneficiaries and make a small
but very tangible difference to various causes.

INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT
Earth Hour
From a single city event in 2007, this initiative has grown
into a worldwide project with involvement from over
7,000 cities in 7 continents. Millions of people across
the globe collaborate in one joint action to promote
awareness for climate change. As in previous years,
Banif Bank (Malta) plc joined Banif Financial Group and
switched off all auxiliary lights in its branch network
for the duration of Earth Hour.
Hospice Malta
A euro a month may not seem like much on the face
of it, but it really does add up! Keeping up what has
now become a company tradition, a growing number of
Banif employees are voluntarily contributing one euro
out of their monthly salary in aid of the Malta Hospice
Movement. The not-for-profit organisation extends its
care and services, free of charge, to over 1,000 patients
and their families.

GOING CONCERN
Having taken into consideration the Bank’s performance and its future strategic goals, the Directors declare that the
Bank is able to continue operating as a going concern for the foreseeable future.
Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf on 31 May 2015 by:

MICHAEL FRENDO

JOAQUIM F. DA SILVA PINTO

Chairman

Chief Executive Officer
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of Banif Bank (Malta) p.l.c.

To the Members of Banif Bank (Malta) p.l.c.

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

We have audited the financial statements of Banif Bank (Malta) p.l.c. on pages XX to XX which comprise the statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2014, and the statement of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity
and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Banking Act, 1994

Directors’ responsibility for the Financial Statements
As explained more comprehensively in the Statement of directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements on
page 49, the directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and the requirements of
the Maltese Banking Act, 1994 and the Maltese Companies Act, 1995, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers the internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

In our opinion:
i)
we have obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were
necessary for the purpose of our audit;
ii) proper books of account have been kept by the Bank, so far as appears from our examination of those books;
iii) the Bank’s financial statements are in agreement with the books of account; and
iv) to the best of our knowledge and according to the explanations given to us, the financial statements give the
information required by any law in force in the manner so required.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We also read other information contained in the Annual Report and considered whether it is consistent with the audited
financial statements. The other information comprises the Chairman’s and the Chief Executive Officer’s Statement,
the Directors’ Report, other Company Information and the Additional Regulatory Disclosures. Our responsibilities do
not extend to any other information.
We also have responsibilities under the Companies Act, 1995 to report to you if, in our opinion:
• the information given in the Directors’ Report is not consistent with the financial statements;
• proper returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; and
• if certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made in the financial statements, giving
the required particulars in our report.
We have nothing to report to you in respect of these responsibilities.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2014, and of their financial
performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU; and
• have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Maltese Banking Act, 1994 and the
Maltese Companies Act, 1995.

Fabio Axisa
Partner
31st May 2015

PricewaterhouseCoopers
78 Mill Street
Qormi
Malta
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‘Purpose is the
reason we journey.
Passion is the fire
that lights our way.’
Anonymous

Christine Harmer
Manager, Legal and Compliance Unit
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STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2014

Notes

2014
¤000

2013
¤000

29,008
2,097
21,464
2,254
166,745
378,154
8,062
1,071
4,561
899
2,091
2,663

93,898
1,642
16,254
1,900
121,645
342,341
7,587
899
5,230
625
1,954
2,305

619,069

596,280

32,500
(10,457)
317
446

32,500
(11,059)
87
190

22,806

21,718

214
579,203
840
5,000
4,722
6,284

5,999
554,007
192
5,000
2,686
6,678

TOTAL LIABILITIES

596,263

574,562

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

619,069

596,280

ASSETS
Balances with Central Bank of Malta and cash
Cheques in course of collection
Financial investments held-for-trading
Financial investments available-for-sale
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Deferred tax asset
Derivative financial instruments
Prepayments and accrued income
Other assets

6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16

TOTAL ASSETS
EQUITY
Share capital
Retained earnings
Revaluation reserve
Reserve for General Banking Risks

17
18
18
18

TOTAL EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Amounts owed to banks
Amounts owed to customers
Derivative financial instruments
Debt securities in issue
Other liabilities
Accruals and deferred income

19
20
14
21
22
23

Memorandum items
Contingent liabilities

24

11,536

8,101

Commitments

24

62,279

72,958

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 58 to 144 form an integral part of the financial statements.
The financial statements on pages 47 to 144 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors and
signed on its behalf on 31 May 2015 by:

MICHAEL FRENDO

JOAQUIM F. DA SILVA PINTO

Chairman

Chief Executive Officer

INCOME STATEMENT

Income Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2014
Notes

2014

2013

¤000

¤000

22,899

20,291

Interest receivable and similar income
• on loans and advances and balances with the
Central Bank of Malta

25

• on debt securities classified as loans and
receivables

25

• on debt and other fixed income instruments

25

Interest payable and similar expense

26

Net interest income

Fees and commission income

27

Fees and commission expense

27

Net fees and commission income

Net trading income

28

Net gain on sale of investment securities

29

Other operating income
Net operating income

102

256
3,060

(14,260)

(15,480)

8,741

8,127

2,704

2,204

(588)

(510)

2,116

1,694

3,071

2,102
-

161

-

29

13,928

12,113

Employee compensation and benefits

30

(5,287)

(5,162)

Other administrative expenses

31

(4,538)

(4,650)

Depreciation of property and equipment

11

(540)

(471)

Amortisation of intangible assets

12

(341)

(258)

Net impairment losses

32

(1,820)

(1,319)

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

33

1,402
(544)

253
(129)

858

124

2c6

0c4

Profit for the year
Earnings per share

34

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 58 to 144 form an integral part of the financial statements.

STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2014

Note

2014

2013

¤000

¤000

858

124

354

75

• Income tax relating to fair valuation of financial
investments available-for-sale

(124)

(26)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

230

49

1,088

173

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit and loss
• Fair valuation of financial investments available-forsale, gross of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

8

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 58 to 144 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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‘Unity is strength...
when there is
teamwork and
collaboration,
wonderful things
can be achieved.’
Mattie Stepanek

Back, from left:

Emmanuel D’Amato
Relationship Officer, Retail Banking Unit

Peter Sammut
Administrative Officer, Banking Operations Office

Samuel Cassar
Supervisor, Retail Banking Unit
Front, from left:

Jurgen Farrugia
Administrative Officer, Banking Operations Office

Marco Zammit
Private Account Manager, Retail Banking Unit

Anthony Farrugia
Senior Executive, Credit Operations Unit

Jurgen Agius
Relationship Officer, Retail Banking Unit

Kurt Polidano
Senior Executive, Credit Operations Unit
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STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2014

Note

At 1 January 2013

Share
capital

Retained
earnings

¤000

¤000

32,500

Revaluation
reserve
¤000

(10,993)

Reserve for
General
Banking
Risks
¤000

38

-

Total
¤000
21,545

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year

-

124

-

-

124

-

49

Other comprehensive
income
Fair valuation of financial
investments availablefor-sale, net of tax

8

-

-

Transfers and other
movements

-

(190)

Total other comprehensive
income for the year

-

(190)

Total comprehensive
income for the year

-

At 31 December 2013

At 1 January 2014

49
-

190

-

49

190

49

(66)

49

190

173

32,500

(11,059)

87

190

21,718

32,500

(11,059)

87

190

21,718

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive
income
Fair valuation of financial
investments availablefor-sale, net of tax

-

-

-

-

Transfers and other
movements

-

(256)

Total other comprehensive
income for the year

-

(256)

Total comprehensive
income for the year

-

602

At 31 December 2014

8

858

32,500

(10,457)

230
-

-

858

-

230

256

-

230

256

230

230

256

1,088

317

446

22,806

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 58 to 144 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2014
Note

2014

2013

¤000

¤000

25,548

22,586

(15,494)

(14,277)

Cash flows from operating activities
Interest, fees and commission received
Interest, fees and commission paid
Proceeds/cash losses from trading activities
Payments to employees and suppliers
Cash flows from operating profit before changes in
operating assets and liabilities

1,824

1,776

(9,836)

(9,812)

2,042

273

(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
(356)

Reserve deposit with Central Bank of Malta
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers

(836)

80,000

(80,000)

(40,965)

(26,584)

-

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

500

3,333

3,123

(1,145)

1,069

Amounts owed to banks

(5,000)

(7,800)

Amounts owed to customers

25,196

123,011

2,210

366

65,315

13,122

(1,447)

(2,122)

-

(119,492)

-

118,964

Other loans and receivables
Other assets

(Decrease)/increase in operating liabilities:

Other liabilities
Net cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets
Purchase of available-for-sale investments
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale investments

(14,732)

(12,331)

Proceeds from sale of held-for-trading investments

11,093

18,392

Interest received on available-for-sale investments

104

3,067

Purchase of held-for-trading investments

Net cash flows used in investing activities

(4,982)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

60,333

19,600

129,889

110,289

190,222

129,889

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

35

6,478

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 58 to 144 form an integral part of the financial statement.

2014 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

59

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
1.

Statutory information
Banif Bank (Malta) plc (‘the Bank’) is a public limited liability company domiciled and
incorporated in Malta. The Bank was incorporated on 27 March 2007 and started operating as a
fully-fledged retail bank during January 2008.
The Bank’s financial statements are included in the consolidated financial statements of its parent company,
Banif S.A., a company registered in Portugal, with its registered address at 30, Rua de Joao Tavira, 9004-509,
Funchal, Madeira, Portugal.

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1.

Basis of Preparation

2.1.1 Assessment of going concern assumption
During the financial year ended 31 December 2014, the Bank continued to manage its business diligently taking
cognisance of the regulatory capital constraints. The Bank placed itself in a position to withstand regulatory
constraints by a constant narrow margin, with the key objective of ensuring that the Bank’s Total Capital Ratio
constantly exceeds the 8% mark. Based on the amounts presented within these financial statements, the
Bank’s Total Capital ratio was 8.4% as at 31 December 2014, whilst the Core Equity Tier 1 ratio stood at 6.6%
at the same date. These ratios reflect the profits registered by the Bank during the current financial year
amounting to ¤858,000.
Throughout 2014, the Bank’s Total Capital Ratio exceeded the 8% mark with the exception of the ratio as at
30 June 2014. In view of unexpected growth in loans and advances to customers during the month of June,
as at 30 June 2014 the Bank’s Total Capital Ratio was 7.93% i.e. below the 8% mark for the first time since
commencement of operations. The Bank’s management took immediate corrective action throughout July and
the Total Capital Ratio was 8.12% as at 31 July 2014.
Until the date of authorisation for issuance of these financial statements, post 31 December 2014 the Bank
has continued to register positive results and it is expecting to continue to trade profitably throughout for
the financial year ending 31 December 2015. The level of the Bank’s capital remains low; with this level being
sufficient to permit the Bank to operate with a Total Capital Ratio just above the 8% mark. Accordingly, the
Bank is working on its strategy to move away from achieving regulatory ratios with tight margins, in order to
achieve comfortable capital adequacy ratios which would enable the Bank to move to a financial position which
is beyond minimum set regulatory requirements and to enhance its financial profitability thus consolidating its
position in the market. In this respect, the primary focus of the Bank is increasing its Core Equity Tier 1 capital
through the identification of a new controlling shareholder that stands ready to inject capital into the Bank to
achieve the objectives referred to above.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.1 Assessment of going concern assumption (continued)

2.1.1 Assessment of going concern assumption (continued)

For this reason, Banif S.A., the major shareholder, with the assistance of its investment banking arm in Portugal
has embarked on a competitive bidding process to invite all prospective investors that have expressed interest
in investing in the Bank to put forward their formal offers. This restructuring process would lead to a preferred
bidder being selected as the new controlling shareholder. The mechanism in place to locate a new controlling
shareholder has given rise to strong tangible interest from a number of parties. The process has led to the
tentative identification of a preferred bidder; but this option has not been pursued further in view of factors
beyond the control of the Bank or its existing parent. Accordingly the process has been re-initiated generating
renewed considerable interest from high calibre players. By the date of authorisation for issue of these financial
statements, a number of non-binding offers from such third parties have already been secured. There appear
to be no substantive reasons to doubt whether the transactions proposed by these high calibre third parties
would meet all conditions necessary for obtaining the necessary regulatory approvals. This process, including
regulatory approval of the new controlling shareholder and actual capitalisation of the Bank, is expected to be
finally concluded during 2015 in view of the significance of the highlighted developments in the context of the
milestones expected towards the finalisation of this process.

The ability of the Bank to continue operating as a going concern, utilising the current business model to
move away from achieving required regulatory ratios within tight margins, is dependent on the successful
implementation of the plan to locate a new controlling shareholder and the subsequent capitalisation of
the Bank, on a timely basis. The Bank’s Board of Directors is fully confident that this plan will be fully
implemented during 2015 on the basis of information available on the status of implementation to date and
taking cognisance of the developments mentioned above. Notwithstanding, the Bank has also projected
an alternative scenario for the bank wherein the bank’s scale of operations and its balance sheet size,
in the form of aggregate financial assets and risk weighted assets, are modified rendering the current
unadjusted level of equity commensurate with the level of risks undertaken. Under the alternative
scenario, the Bank would secure a stronger Total Capital Ratio and would maintain a healthy liquidity
position, securing satisfactory financial results in the process. The Bank’s Management and Board of
Directors consider the implementation of this alternative scenario plausible from market, operational and
regulatory perspectives. Accordingly the Board of Directors firmly believes that these matters indicate
that no material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt about the Bank’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

In the meantime, the Bank´s Management will continue to undertake initiatives and actions to ensure that
the Bank’s ability to realise its assets and to discharge its liabilities is not put in doubt until the capitalisation
process is concluded. Management will continue to monitor closely the liquidity management process taking
into account the level and nature of the Bank’s liquid assets, the terms of its time deposit liabilities and the
extent of the maturity mismatches for the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities reflected within the maturity
ladder.
Until the capitalisation process is finalised, the Bank is focusing on implementing a plan to achieve financial
projections for the year ending 31 December 2015 which reflects defined actions to manage the key components
in the Bank’s balance sheet. The main objective is to utilise the existing amount of capital in the most efficient
manner without compromising the intended risk return relationship that the Bank has set. The Bank is following
plans to manage the aggregate level, composition and credit quality of its financial assets, impacting on the
level of risk weighted assets utilised for regulatory purposes. These plans also contemplate reducing the
cost of the Bank’s funding and strengthening the monitoring of risks; with all measures intended to ensure
sustainable improvement in the Bank’s operating income. As far as operating costs are concerned, the Bank
continues to exercise control on costs, and a number of initiatives are being undertaken to generate synergies
and optimise the use of resources without compromising the quality level of service offered to clients. The
Bank’s Management and Directors are confident that throughout the year ending 31 December 2015 these
planned measures should ensure that the Bank continues operating within the regulatory parameters, by
narrow margins with respect to capital adequacy ratios, until the capitalisation process is finalised.

The Bank’s Management continues to be strongly committed to the implementation of actions and plans
referred to above, and believes the implementation will enable the Bank to meet all regulatory requirements
throughout the year ending 31 December 2015 and enhance the Bank’s profitability. In assessing the
appropriateness of the going concern assumption in the preparation of the Bank’s financial statements,
the Board of Directors has taken into account the nature of planned actions, the plans actually realised
to date and the likelihood of occurrence of those not yet realised. The Board has taken cognisance of the
high probability that the plan to locate a new controlling shareholder and the subsequent capitalisation of
the Bank will be successfully implemented on a timely basis. In the unlikely event that the capitalisation
plan is not completed, the Bank’s management is very confident that the alternative scenario for the bank
is feasible and tenable. On the basis of these considerations, it is the view of the Board of directors that
there is a reasonable expectation that the Bank is able to continue in business for a period of at least
12 months from the end of the reporting period. Accordingly, the directors continue to adopt the going
concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

2.2

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2014
In 2014, the Bank adopted new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that
are mandatory for the Bank’s accounting period beginning on 1 January 2014. The adoption of these
revisions to the requirements of IFRSs as adopted by the EU did not result in significant changes to the
Bank’s accounting policies impacting the Bank’s financial performance and position.
Amendment to IAS 32, ‘Financial instruments: Presentation’ on offsetting financial assets and financial
liabilities. This amendment clarifies that the right of set-off must not be contingent on a future event. It
must also be legally enforceable for all counterparties in the normal course of business, as well as in the
event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy. The amendment also considers settlement mechanisms. The
amendment did not have a significant effect on the Bank’s financial statements.
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2.3

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet adopted

2.6

Financial assets

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published by the
date of authorisation for issue of these financial statements but are mandatory for the Bank’s accounting
periods beginning after 1 January 2014. The Bank has not early adopted these revisions to the requirements
of IFRSs as adopted by the EU, except as disclosed above, and the Bank’s directors are of the opinion that, with
the exception of IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, there are no requirements that will have a possible significant
impact on the Bank’s financial statements in the period of initial application.
IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, addresses the classification and measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities. The complete version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014. It replaces the guidance in IAS 39 that
relates to the classification and measurement of financial instruments. IFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed
measurement model and establishes three primary measurement categories for financial assets: amortised
cost, fair value through Other Comprehensive Income (‘OCI’) and fair value through profit or loss. The basis of
classification depends on the entity’s business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial asset. Investments in equity instruments are required to be measured at fair value through profit
or loss with the irrevocable option at inception to present changes in fair value in OCI without recycling. There
is now a new expected credit losses model that replaces the incurred loss impairment model used in IAS 39.
For financial liabilities there were no changes to classification and measurement except for the recognition
of changes in own credit risk in other comprehensive income, for liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss. Subject to the endorsement process by the EU, the standard is effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, although early adoption is permitted. The Group is yet to assess IFRS 9’s
full impact.

2.4

Segment Reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Board of
Directors which is the Bank’s chief operating decision-maker.
An operating segment’s operating results are reviewed regularly by the Board of Directors to make decisions
about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance executing the function of the
chief operating decision-maker.

2.5

Foreign currency translation

2.5.1 Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the ‘functional currency’). The financial statements are presented in
euro (¤), which is the Bank’s functional and presentation currency.
2.5.2 Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.

The Bank classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and receivables, and available-for-sale investments. The classification depends on the purpose for which the
financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial
recognition.
2.6.1 Initial recognition and derecognition
The Bank recognises a financial asset in its statement of financial position when it becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, which is the date on which the Bank commits to purchase or sell the asset. Accordingly, the
Bank uses trade date accounting for regular way contracts when recording financial asset transactions.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired
or have been transferred and the Bank has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership or the
Bank has not retained control of the asset.
2.6.2 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
This category comprises two sub-categories: financial assets classified as held for trading, and financial assets
designated by the Bank as at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition.
A financial instrument is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of
selling or repurchasing it in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that
are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking.
Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated and effective as hedging
instruments.
Financial instruments included in this category are recognised initially at fair value; transaction costs are taken
directly to profit or loss. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are included directly in profit or loss
and are reported as part of ‘net trading income’. Interest income and dividend income on financial assets held
for trading are also included in ‘net trading income’.
The Bank may designate certain financial assets upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss
(fair value option). This designation cannot subsequently be changed. According to IAS 39, the fair value option
is only applied when the following conditions are met:
• the application of the fair value option reduces or eliminates an accounting mismatch that would
otherwise arise; or
• the financial assets are part of a portfolio of financial instruments which is risk managed and reported
to senior management on a fair value basis; or
• the financial assets consist of debt hosts and embedded derivatives that must be separated.
The Bank’s held for trading financial instruments consist of derivative contracts and investments in government
debt securities.
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2.6

Financial assets (continued)

2.6

Financial assets (continued)

2.6.3 Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market, other than:
• those that the Bank intends to sell immediately or in the short term, which are classified as held for
trading, and those that the entity upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or
loss;
• those that the Bank upon initial recognition designates as available-for-sale; or
• those for which the holder may not recover substantially all of their initial investment, other than
because of credit deterioration.

2.6.4 Available-for-sale investments (continued)
The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active
(and for unlisted securities), the Bank establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use of
recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash
flow analyses, and option pricing models making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on
entity-specific inputs.

2.7

As from 1 July 2008, the Bank was permitted to reclassify, in certain circumstances, nonderivative financial assets
out of the ‘Held for trading’ category and into the ‘Available-for-sale’, ‘Loans and receivables’, or ‘Held-to-maturity’
categories. From this date it was also permitted to reclassify, in certain circumstances, financial instruments
out of the ‘Available-for-sale’ category and into the ‘Loans and receivables’ category. Reclassifications are recorded
at fair value at the date of reclassification, which becomes the new amortised cost.

Loans and receivables arise when the Bank provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no
intention of trading the asset. Loans and receivables mainly consist of balances with Central Bank of Malta,
loans and advances to banks and customers, other debt securities classified as loans and receivables together
with other assets.
Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value – which is the cash consideration to originate or
purchase the loan including any transaction costs – and measured subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method. Amortised cost is the initial measurement amount adjusted for the amortisation
of any difference between the initial and maturity amounts using the effective interest method. Interest on
loans and receivables is included in profit or loss and is reported as ‘Interest receivable and similar income’. In
the case of an impairment, the impairment loss is reported as a deduction from the carrying value of the loan
and receivable and recognised in profit or loss as ‘net impairment losses’.

For a financial asset reclassified out of the ‘Available-for-sale’ category, any previous gain or loss on that asset
that has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of the investment using
the effective interest rate. Any difference between the new amortised cost and the expected cash flows is also
amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently
determined to be impaired then the amount recorded in equity is recycled to the income statement.
The Bank may reclassify a non-derivative trading asset out of the ‘Held for trading’ category and into the
‘Loans and receivables’ category if it meets the definition of loans and receivables and the Bank has the
intention and ability to hold the financial asset for the foreseeable future or until maturity. If a financial asset
is reclassified, and if the Bank subsequently increases its estimates of future cash receipts as a result of
increased recoverability of those cash receipts, the effect of that increase is recognised as an adjustment to
the effective interest rate from the date of the change in estimate.

2.6.4 Available-for-sale investments
Available-for-sale investments are financial assets that are intended to be held for an indefinite
period of time, which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest
rates, exchange rates or equity prices, or that are not classified as loans and receivables,
held-to-maturity investments or financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, which is the cash consideration including
any transaction costs, and measured subsequently at fair value with gains and losses being recognised in
other comprehensive income, except for impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses (in case of
monetary assets), until the financial asset is derecognised. If an available-for-sale financial asset is determined
to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss.
Interest income is calculated using the effective interest method, and is recognised in profit or loss as are
foreign currency gains and losses on monetary assets classified as available-for-sale. Changes in the fair value
of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified as available-for-sale are analysed between
translation differences resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the security and other changes in the
carrying amount of the security.

Reclassification of financial assets

Reclassification is at the election of management, and is determined on an instrument by instrument basis.
The Bank does not reclassify any financial instrument into the fair value through profit or loss category after
initial recognition.

2.8

Impairment of financial assets

2.8.1 Assets carried at amortised cost
The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses
are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Translation differences related to changes in amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss, and other changes
in carrying amount are recognised in other comprehensive income. Dividends on available-for-sale equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss in ‘dividend income’ when the Bank’s right to receive payment is
established.
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2.8.1 Assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The criteria that the Bank uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:
•
significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;
•
a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
•
the lender, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, granting to the
borrower a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;
•
it becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
•
the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or
•
observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from
a portfolio of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot
yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the portfolio, including:
o adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the portfolio; and
o national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the portfolio.

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar
credit risk characteristics (i.e., on the basis of the Bank’s grading process that considers asset type, collateral
type, past-due status and other relevant factors). Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future
cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according
to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.

The estimated period between a loss occurring and its identification is determined by management for each
identified portfolio. In general, the periods used vary between three months and twelve months; in exceptional
cases, longer periods are warranted.

Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets should reflect and be directionally consistent
with changes in related observable data from period to period (for example, changes in unemployment rates,
property prices, payment status, or other factors indicative of changes in the probability of losses in the group
and their magnitude). The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed
regularly by the Bank to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets
that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Bank determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be
recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through
the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss. If a loan or held-tomaturity investment has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the
current effective interest rate determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Bank may measure
impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.
The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial asset
reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral,
whether or not foreclosure is probable.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated
on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in the group and historical loss experience for assets
with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the Bank. Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis
of current observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on which
the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do
not currently exist.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s
credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The
amount of the reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

2.8.1.1 Forborne loans
Granting a concession to a customer that the Bank would not otherwise consider, as a result of their financial
difficulty, is objective evidence of impairment and impairment losses are measured accordingly.
A forborne loan is categorised as impaired when:
• there has been a change in contractual cash flows as a result of a concession which the Bank would
otherwise not consider; and
• it is probable that without the concession, the borrower would be unable to meet contractual payment
obligations in full.
Forbearance activity is undertaken selectively where it has been identified that repayment difficulties
against the original terms already have, or are very likely to materialise. Accordingly, taking cognisance of the
principles highlighted above, forborne loans are treated as impaired and where the customer is experiencing,
or is very likely to experience, difficulty in meeting a payment obligation to the Bank (i.e. due to current
credit distress); and the Bank is offering to the customer revised payment arrangements which constitute a
concession (i.e. it is offering terms it would not normally be prepared to offer).
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Forborne loans are typically assessed for impairment individually. The individual impairment assessment takes
into account the higher risk of the non-payment of future cash flows inherent in forborne loans. Loans subject
to individual impairment assessment, which have been subject to a forbearance measure, are subject to
ongoing review to determine whether they remain impaired.
Loans subject to collective impairment assessment which have been subject to a forbearance measure are
segregated from other parts of the loan portfolio for the purposes of collective impairment assessment, to
reflect their risk profile and the higher rates of losses often encountered in these cases. Evidence indicates an
increased propensity to default and higher losses on such accounts; these factors are taken into account when
calculating impairment allowances. A basic formulaic approach based on historical loss rate experience is used
by the Bank. When the Bank considers that there are additional risk factors inherent in the portfolio that may
not be fully reflected in the historical experience, these risk factors are taken into account by adjusting the
impairment allowances derived solely from historical experience.

A loan that is subject to forbearance measures is derecognised if the existing agreement is cancelled and a
new agreement made on substantially different terms, or if the terms of an existing agreement are modified,
such that the renegotiated loan is substantially a different financial instrument. When determining whether
a loan that is restructured should be derecognised and a new loan recognised, the Bank considers the extent
to which the changes to the original contractual terms result in the renegotiated loan, considered as a whole,
being a substantially different financial instrument. Circumstances that are likely to result in this test being
met and derecognition accounting being applied comprise modified terms under the new or modified contract
that are substantially different from those under the original contract.
When a loan is restructured as part of a forbearance strategy and the restructuring results in derecognition
of the existing loan, the new loan is disclosed as forborne.

2.8.2 Assets classified as available-for-sale
The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group
of financial assets is impaired taking cognisance of the criteria referred to in 2.8.1.

The forborne loan will continue to be disclosed as impaired until there is sufficient evidence to demonstrate
a significant reduction in the risk of non-payment of future cash flows, and there are no other indicators of
impairment. For loans that are assessed for impairment on a collective basis, the evidence typically comprises
a history of payment performance against the original or revised terms, as appropriate to the circumstances.
For loans that are assessed for impairment on an individual basis, all available evidence is assessed on a caseby-case basis. The minimum period of payment performance required depends on the nature of the loan in the
portfolio, but is not less than twelve months. The period of performance will vary depending on the frequency of
payments to be made by the customer under the amended agreement and the extent to which the customer’s
financial position is considered to have improved. Forborne loans cannot be returned to a non-impaired grade
when a specific impairment allowance remains against any of the customer’s credit facilities.

In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of the security below its cost is objective evidence of impairment resulting in the recognition of
an impairment loss. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss –
measured as the difference between the acquisition cost (or amortised cost as applicable) and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss – is removed from
equity and recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss on equity instruments
are not reversed through profit or loss. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified
as available-for-sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

Forborne loans are not classified as impaired where the forbearance has resulted from significant concern
about a borrower’s ability to meet their contractual payment terms but the modified terms are based on current
market rates and contractual cash flows are expected to be collected in full following the renegotiation. Nonimpaired forborne loans also include previously impaired forborne loans that have demonstrated satisfactory
performance over a period of time or have been assessed based on all available evidence as having no remaining
indicators of impairment.

In devising its accounting policy in relation to the impairment of available-for-sale financial assets, more
specifically the significant or prolonged decline in fair value below cost, the Bank has considered the fact that
its available-for-sale equity instruments comprise a limited number of investments.

2.9
Loans that have been identified as forborne retain this designation until payment performance has been
observed for an extended period of time.
When principal payments are modified resulting in permanent forgiveness, or when it is otherwise considered
that there is no longer a realistic prospect of recovery of outstanding principal, the affected balances are
written off.

Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments, including currency forwards, are initially recognised at fair value on the
date on which a derivative contract is entered into, and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value. Fair
values are obtained from valuation techniques for over-the-counter derivatives, including discounted cash flow
models. All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is
negative. Fair values for currency forwards are determined using forward exchange market rates at the end of
the reporting period. Discounting techniques, reflecting the fact that the respective exchange or settlement
will not occur until a future date, are used when the time value of money has a significant effect on the fair
valuation of these instruments.
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2.12 Intangible assets

Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
The Bank uses derivatives such as cross currency swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts.

2.10 Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.11 Property and equipment
All property and equipment used by the Bank is initially recorded at historical cost, including transaction costs
and borrowing costs. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Bank and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.
Land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an indefinite life. Depreciation on other assets is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
as follows:
Land and buildings:
Freehold
Leasehold
Computer equipment
Other equipment

20 years
10 years
4 years
6 - 10 years

The asset’s residual value, useful life and method is reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial
period end. Changes in the expected useful life are accounted for by changing the depreciation period or method,
as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (see note 2.13).
Property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from
its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit and loss in the period the
asset is derecognised.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Intangible assets consist of computer software and other intangibles which include licenses. Intangible assets
acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets
are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. The useful lives
of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least at each financial period
end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits
embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and
treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives
is recognised in the income statement in the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible
asset.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the cost of intangible assets to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives. Computer software is amortised over 4 years.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually
either individually or at the cash generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually
to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from
indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis. Other intangibles are assessed as having an indefinite useful
life.

2.13 Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example goodwill or certain intangible assets, are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value
in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows (cash-generating units).The impairment test also can be performed on a
single asset when the fair value less costs to sell or the value in use can be determined reliably. Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
each reporting date.

2.14 Property acquired through judicial
In certain circumstances, property is acquired by the Bank in satisfaction of debt following judicial action. Such
properties are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
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2.15 Current and deferred income tax
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period.
Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill; deferred
income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled
by the Bank and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

2.16

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
ordinary shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.17 Financial liabilities
The Bank recognises a financial liability on its statement of financial position when it becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The Bank’s financial liabilities are classified as financial
liabilities which are not at fair value through profit or loss (classified as ‘Other liabilities’) under IAS
39. Financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss are recognised initially at fair value, being
the fair value of consideration received, net of transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or the issue of the financial liability. These liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost. The Bank derecognises a financial liability from its statement of financial position when the
obligation specified in the contract or arrangement is discharged, is cancelled or expires.

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.18 Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase at a specified future date are not derecognised from the
statement of financial position as the Bank retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership. The
corresponding cash received is recognised in the statement of financial position as an asset with a corresponding
obligation to return it, including accrued interest as a liability, reflecting the transaction’s economic substance
as a loan to the Bank. The difference between the sale and repurchase prices is treated as interest expense and
is accrued over the life of agreement using the effective interest rate. When the counterparty has the right to
sell or repledge the securities, the Bank reclassifies those securities in its statement of financial position to
financial assets held for trading pledged as collateral or to financial investments available-for-sale pledged as
collateral, as appropriate.
Conversely, securities purchased under agreements to resell at a specified future date are not recognised
in the statement of financial position. The consideration paid, including accrued interest, is recorded in the
statement of financial position, reflecting the transaction’s economic substance as a loan by the Bank. The
difference between the purchase and resale prices is recorded in Net interest income and is accrued over the
life of the agreement using the effective interest rate.
If securities purchased under agreement to resell are subsequently sold to third parties, the obligation to
return the securities is recorded as a short sale within Financial liabilities held for trading and measured at fair
value with any gains or losses included in Net trading income.

2.19 Trade and other payables
Trade payables comprise obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.20 Provisions
Provisions for legal and other claims are recognised when: the Bank has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.

2.20.1 Provision for pension obligations
The Bank contributes towards the government pension defined contribution plan in accordance with local
legislation and to which it has no commitment beyond the payment of fixed contributions. These obligations
are recognised as an expense in the income statement as they accrue. The Bank does not contribute towards
any other retirement benefit plans.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise principally amounts owed to banks, amounts
owed to customers, debt securities in issue together with other liabilities.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.

2.21

Interest income and expense

2.25 Leases

Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognised within ‘interest
income’ and ‘interest expense’ in the profit or loss using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial
liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of
the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset
or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates cash flows considering all
contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not consider future
credit losses. The calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.
Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an impairment
loss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the
purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

2.22

Fees and commissions
Fee and commission income and expense that are an integral part of the effective interest rate on a financial
asset or liability are included in the calculation of the effective interest rate and treated as part of effective
interest. Other fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been
provided.
Fee and commission income, comprising account servicing fees, investment management fees, placement fees
and other similar fees, are recognised as the related services are performed.
Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down are deferred (together with related direct
costs) and recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan. When a loan commitment
is not expected to result in the drawdown of a loan, the related loan commitment fees are recognised on a
straight-line basis over the commitment period. Fee and commission expense, relating mainly to transaction
and service fees, are expensed as the services are received.

2.23 Dividend income
Dividends are recognised in profit or loss in ‘dividend income’ when the entity’s right to receive payment is
established.

2.24

Net trading income
Results arising from trading activities include all gains and losses from changes in fair value and related
interest income or expense and dividends for financial assets and financial liabilities ‘held for trading’.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

The determination of whether an arrangement is a lease, or it contains a lease, is based on the substance of the
arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the
use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

2.25.1 Bank is the lessee
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

2.26 Financial guarantee contracts
Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due, in accordance with
the terms of a debt instrument. Such financial guarantees are given to banks, financial institutions and other
bodies on behalf of customers.
In the ordinary course of business, the Bank gives financial guarantees, consisting of letters of credit,
guarantees and acceptances.
Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements at fair value on the date the guarantee
was given. The fair value of a financial guarantee at the time of signature is zero because all guarantees are
agreed on arm’s length terms and the value of the premium agreed corresponds to the value of the guarantee
obligation. No receivable for the future premiums is recognised. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Bank’s
liabilities under such guarantees are measured at the higher of the initial amount, less amortisation of fees
recognised in accordance with IAS 18, and the best estimate of the amount required to settle the guarantee.
These estimates are determined based on experience of similar transactions and history of past losses,
supplemented by the judgement of management. The premium received is recognised in the income statement
in ‘Fees and commission income’ on a straight line basis over the life of the guarantee. Any increase in the
liability relating to guarantees is recognised in profit or loss.

2.27 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at face value. Cash and cash
equivalents comprise balances with less than three months’ maturity from the date of acquisition, including
cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less.

2.28 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Bank’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Bank’s financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Bank’s shareholders.
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3.

Financial risk management

3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.1

Introduction

3.1

Introduction (continued)

3.1.1

Preamble (continued)

3.1.1 Preamble
The Bank’s business involves taking on risks in a targeted manner and managing them professionally. The
Bank is exposed to a number of risks, which it manages at different organisational levels. The main categories
of risk are:
•

Credit risk: Credit risk stems from the possible non-prompt repayment or non-payment of existing and
contingent obligations by the Bank’s counterparties, resulting in the loss of equity and profit. It is the
risk that deterioration in the financial condition of a borrower will cause the asset value to decrease
or be extinguished. Country risk and settlement risk are included in this category. Country risk refers
to the risk of losses arising from economic or political changes that affect the country from which
the asset originates. Settlement risk refers to the risk of losses through failure of the counterparty
to settle outstanding dues on the settlement date owing to bankruptcy or other causes.

•

Market risk: The risk of losses arising from unfavourable changes in the level and volatility of interest
rates, foreign exchange rates or investment prices (to which the Bank is not exposed).

•

Liquidity risk: Liquidity risk arises from:
•
Market (product) liquidity risk: risk of losses arising from the inability to easily offset or
eliminate a position without significantly affecting the market price because of inadequate
market depth or market disruption; and
•
Funding liquidity risk: risk of losses arising from a timing mismatch between investing,
placements and fund raising activities resulting in obligations missing the settlement date
or satisfied at higher than normal rates.

•

Operational risk: Risk of damage resulting from the lack of skilful management or good governance
within the Group and the inadequacy of proper control, which might involve internal operations,
personnel, systems or external occurrences that in turn affect the income and capital funds of
financial institutions. The Bank has adopted an operational risk management framework and
procedures, which provide for the identification, assessment, management, monitoring and reporting
of the Bank’s operational risks.

The core functions of the Bank’s risk management are to identify all key risks for the Bank, measure these
risks, manage the risk positions and determine capital allocations. The Bank regularly reviews its risk
management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and best risk practices. The Bank’s
aim is to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimise potential adverse effects on
the Bank’s financial performance. The Bank defines risk as the possibility of losses or profits foregone, which
may be caused by internal or external factors.
The Bank considers risk management a core competency that helps produce high returns for its various
stakeholders. It aims to manage all major types of risk by applying methods that meet best practice, and
considers it important to have a clear distribution of responsibilities within the area of risk management. One
of the main tasks of the Bank’s Board is to set the framework for this area. An understanding of risk-taking
and transparency in risk-taking are key elements in the Bank’s business strategy and thus in its ambition to
be a strong financial entity. The Bank’s internal risk management processes support this objective.

Risk management within the Bank is mainly carried out on a unified basis, using an integrated and entitywide framework. This framework is based on local and international guidelines, such as the Basel III Accord,
corresponding Directives and Regulations of the European Union, including technical standards, as well as
contemporary international banking practices.

3.1.2

Organisation
The Bank has an appropriate organisational structure for planning, executing, controlling and monitoring
business operations in order to achieve Bank objectives. The Board of Directors assumes responsibility for
ensuring that significant business risks are identified and appropriately managed.
The Board is responsible for setting out the overall risk policies and limits for all material risk types of the
Bank. It provides written principles for overall risk management, approves policies covering specific areas,
such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and credit risk.
Accordingly, the Board is responsible for calibrating the Bank’s risk appetite. The risk appetite represents the
level of risk that the Bank is prepared to accept while pursuing its business strategy, recognising a range of
possible outcomes as business plans are implemented. Thus, risk appetite sets the ‘tone from the top’ and
provides a basis for ongoing dialogue between the Bank’s management and Board with respect to the Bank’s
current and evolving risk profile, allowing strategic and financial decisions to be made on an informed basis.
In deciding the level of risk the Bank is willing to accept, the Bank takes into consideration the following:
Risk Culture: risk management principles which should be followed in line with internal governance
•
responsibilities and processes;
•
Risk Appetite and Tolerance: the risk profile and the risk level the Bank will be considering as
acceptable;
Risk Methodology: risk taxonomy for the Bank, as well as quantitative and qualitative approaches
•
used for each risk; and
•
Capital Planning: capital requirements with respect to the level of risk the Bank has considered as
acceptable.
The Bank allocates considerable resources to ensure the ongoing compliance with approved limits and to
monitor its asset portfolio. In particular, the Bank has a fixed reporting cycle to ensure that the relevant
management bodies, including the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee, are kept informed on
an ongoing basis of developments in the asset portfolio, such matters as non-performing loans and other
relevant information.
The Bank’s Board of Directors is also responsible for ensuring that adequate processes and procedures exist
to ensure effective internal control systems. These internal control systems ensure that decision-making
capability and the accuracy of the reporting and financial results are maintained at a high level at all times.
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‘Those who succeed
owe their success
to perseverance.’
Ramana Maharshi

Lorraine Agius
Administrative Officer, eBusiness Office
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3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.1

Introduction (continued)

3.2

Credit risk

3.1.2

Organisation (continued)

3.2.1

Introduction to Credit risk

In deciding how best to discharge its responsibilities, the Board upholds a policy of clear demarcation between
its role and responsibilities and those of Management. It has defined the level of authority that it retains
over strategy formulation and policy determination, and delegated authority and vested accountability for
the Bank’s day-to-day business and operations in the Executive Committee, which is made up of the Chief
Executive Officer and the other executive Directors. The Board has also delegated its responsibilities of
reviewing processes and procedures on the effectiveness of the Bank’s system of internal control to the
Audit Committee. The latter also ensures the implementation of the Board’s risk strategy by management. The
Audit Committee is supported by the Internal Audit and the Bank’s risk management functions.
The Board is ultimately responsible for the Bank’s system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness.
Such a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The Board also established a Global Risk Committee, whose role is to advise the Executive Committee on the
Bank’s overall risk appetite, risk tolerance and risk management framework, taking into consideration current
and prospective macroeconomic and financial environment and drawing on financial stability assessments
such as those published by local regulatory authorities or other authoritative sources that may be relevant
for the Bank’s risk policies. This Committee is composed of the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial
Markets and Investments Officer, the Head of the Internal Control Department, the Head of the Financial
Managament Department, the Head of the Commercial Department and the Head of the Risk Management Unit.
The Global Risk Committee is supported by the Risk Management Unit, which forms part of the Internal Control
Department, which serves as a risk control and oversight function, with its main objective is to identify,
quantify and report the various risks to which the Bank is exposed to, and putting forward appropriate risk
mitigation options for top management consideration.

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to fulfil the terms of his/her obligations when due.
In view of the nature of its business, the Bank’s financial assets are inherently and predominantly subject
to credit risk. Thus, management has put in place internal control systems to evaluate, approve and monitor
credit risks relating to both investment and loan portfolios.
The Bank’s credit risk arises from various components of the statement of financial position, namely amounts
due from banks, loans and advances to customers, investments in debt securities, accrued income and
commitments. However, the largest credit risk arises from the Bank’s lending and investment operations,
which arises from the risk of default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure being equal to the
carrying amount of the instrument.

3.2.2 Credit risk management
Lending decisions should achieve a reasonable balance between risks and returns of extending credit to a
customer. A credit authorisation structure, made up of four physical credit committee levels; ranging from
Level 1, which includes authorisation by a Branch Manager, an Area Manager and an officer from the Credit
Analysis Unit to the highest level, being Level 4, at which the Executive Committee is in place. Each credit
committee level is assigned a sanctioning limit, under which it can operate within specific guidelines. Within
its discretionary limit, a credit committee can approve new credit, increase, reduce or otherwise amend the
terms and conditions of existing facilities and simply renew existing facilities without altering the terms
and conditions of sanction. A credit committee has the onus to make sure that the facility carries acceptable
credit risk and meets credit rating requirements. Lending is not based on the existence of collateral but on the
customer’s perceived ability to repay the exposure from the primary repayment source. At the same time, the
existence of security acts as a fall back option available in case of need. The Bank makes sure that the security
held is perfected. Facilities are generally adequately secured either by cash, financial assets, property and/or
guarantees and generally reviewed periodically. In a facility review, the Bank makes an analysis of a number
of factors such as: the customer profile, the credit quality, non-financial considerations, adherence to internal
policies and procedures and the present and future profitability of the relationship.
The Bank manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it is willing to accept for
individual counterparties and for industry concentrations, and by monitoring exposures in relation to such
limits.
During January 2014, the Bank implemented its three new credit policies relating to personal credit, business
credit and credit risk mitigation, which were extensively reviewed in 2013 in order to enhance the Bank’s
sound internal control mechanism.
The Bank rigorously applies a credit quality review process to provide early identification of possible changes
in the creditworthiness of counterparties, including regular revisions to collateral.
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3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.2

Credit risk (continued)

3.2

Credit risk (continued)

3.2.1 Maximum exposure to credit risk

3.2.4 Credit concentration risk

An ‘exposure’ is defined as the amount at risk arising from the Bank’s assets and off-balance sheet items.
The Bank’s maximum credit risk with respect to on- and off-balance sheet items can be classified into the
following categories:
•
Financial assets recognised on-balance sheet comprising principally balances with Central Bank of
Malta, derivative financial instruments, financial investments and loans and advances to banks and
customers. The maximum exposure to credit risk of these financial assets equals their carrying
amounts.
•
Documentary credits and guarantee obligations incurred on behalf of third parties. The latter carry the
same credit risk as loans, whilst documentary credits are collateralised by the underlying shipments
of goods to which they relate, and therefore carry less risk than a loan to a customer. The maximum
exposure to credit risk is the full amount that the Bank would have to pay as disclosed in note 24 if
the guarantees are called upon or if documentary credits are exercised.
•
Loan commitments and other credit related commitments that are irrevocable over the life of the
respective facilities. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the full amount of the committed facilities
as disclosed in note 24. However, the likely amount of loss is less than the total unused commitments
as most commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit
standards. These exposures are monitored in the same manner in respect of loans and advances.
The following table analyses the Bank’s credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets by IAS 39
categorisation and off-balance sheet instruments, reflecting the maximum exposure to credit risk before
collateral held or other credit enhancements.
2014

2013

¤000

¤000

Credit risk exposures relating to

Within the Bank, concentration risk of losses results from inadequate diversification of the credit exposures.
This risk is managed by setting risk concentration limits for industry sectors, counterparties and geographical
regions.

Credit concentration risk by industry sector
The Bank’s financial investments, both available-for-sale and held for trading, are composed of government
debt securities. The financial investments for the year ended 31 December 2014 amounted to ¤23,718,000
(2013: ¤18,154,000).
An industry sector analysis of the Bank’s loans and advances to customers before deducting impairment
allowances (Gross loans and advances to customers) is shown in the following table:
2014

2013

¤000

¤000

14,815

13,200

8,783

8,107

247,171

224,776

Construction

26,871

23,277

Wholesale and retail

29,943

25,474

Other sectors

56,458

51,574

384,041

346,408

Manufacturing
Financial services
Households and individuals

Gross loans and advances to customers

on-balance sheet assets:

Loans and receivables
26,087

91,169

2,097

1,642

Loans and advances to banks

166,745

121,645

Loans and advances to customers

378,154

342,341

1,514

1,407

21,464

16,254

2,254

1,900

899

625

599,214

576,983

Contingent liabilities

11,536

8,101

Undrawn commitments to lend

59,594

69,816

Balances with Central Bank of Malta
Cheques in course of collection

Accrued income

Financial investments held for trading
Financial investments available-for-sale
Derivative financial instruments

Credit concentration risk for counterparties
In terms of Part Four of the CRR ‘Large Exposures’, the total amount of exposures which exceeded 10% of
eligible capital represented 18.1% of the total loan portfolio as at end of 2014 (2013: 12.6%). These exposures
are strictly monitored by management and every reasonable step is taken to reduce this concentration and
spread risk over a wider customer base with further growth in the loan portfolio.
The maximum on-balance sheet credit exposure to any client, group of connected clients or counterparty as
at 31 December 2014 amounted to ¤5,655,000 (2013: ¤5,907,000) before taking account of collateral or other
credit enhancements.
Within its daily operations, the Bank transacts with counterparty banks and other financial institutions. By
conducting these transactions, the Bank is running the risk of losing funds due to the possible delays in the
repayment of existing and future obligations by counterparty banks. To mitigate this risk, the Bank places
short-term funds solely with pre-approved counterparties subject to pre-established limits determined on
the basis of the respective institution’s credit rating as well as with its parent. The positions are checked
against the limits on a daily basis and in real time.

Credit risk exposures relating to
off-balance sheet instruments:

The exposures set out above are based on carrying amounts as reported in the statement of financial position.
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3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.2

Credit risk (continued)

3.2

Credit risk (continued)

3.2.4

Credit concentration risk (continued)

3.2.5 Information on credit quality of balances with banks and debt securities (continued)

Credit concentration risk by geographical region

AAA to A-

The Bank also monitors credit concentration risk by geographical region. This concentration is not considered
material given that the majority of the Bank’s exposures are in Malta in view of the Bank’s operations being
conducted in Malta. Moreover, the Bank also holds balances with its parent company, Banif S.A., in Portugal.

3.2.5 Information on credit quality of balances with banks and debt securities

Through its daily operations, the Bank also transacts with various counterparty banks, with which the Bank
places short-term funds and enters into foreign exchange derivative transactions subject to limits in place
and subject to the respective institution’s credit rating being within controlled parameters. In this light, the
Bank runs the risk of losing funds due to possible delays in the repayment to the Bank of the existing and
future obligations of the counterparty banks. Management monitors its exposures with counterparty banks
on a daily basis and intervenes, if deemed necessary, to adjust exposures within the controlled parameters.
At 31 December 2014, loans and advances to banks mainly consisted of money market placements maturing
within one month.
The counterparty banks with which funds are held are credit rated BB or above based on S&P ratings.
At the end of the reporting period, none of the financial assets mentioned above were past due or impaired.
The following tables analyse the credit quality of the financial assets mentioned above as determined by
credit ratings applicable to issuers or counterparties based on S&P’s ratings:

¤000

BBB+ to BB
¤000

Unrated
¤000

Total
¤000

At 31 December 2014

Balances with the Central Bank of Malta

Available-for-sale financial assets
Held for trading financial assets

91,169

Loans and advances to banks

347

Available-for-sale financial assets
Held for trading financial assets

¤000

¤000

1,900

-

-

91,169

121,295

3

121,645

-

-

1,900

11,692

4,562

-

16,254

105,108

125,857

3

230,968

After the end of the reporting period there were no significant changes in credit ratings reflected in the
tables above which have a material impact on the credit quality of the financial assets.
3.2.6 Information on credit quality of loans and advances to customers
The credit quality of loans and advances is managed by the Bank using internal credit ratings. The Bank
applies a 12-step internal rating system (‘IRS’) which encapsulates the risk profile associated with each and
every lending relationship on its banking book.
The IRS comprises 12 credit rating levels which constitute a continuum of progressively increasing risk
profiles ranging from A1 (best rating, least risky) to E (loss, worst case representing full risk materialisation).
The rating of every lending relationship (including groups of connected customers), is an important tool
that helps management to identify both non-performing exposures and the better-performing borrowing
customers.
The Bank’s IRS is split as follows:

Loans and receivables

Loans and advances to banks

Total

At 31 December 2013

•
Balances with the Central Bank of Malta

¤000

Unrated

Loans and receivables

The Bank holds debt securities that are issued by local government and by the Portuguese government,
having a BBB+ and BB rating respectively, based on S&P’s ratings. The debt securities held by the Bank are
listed on the Malta Stock Exchange and Lisbon Stock Exchange, both of which are recognised investment
exchanges in their respective countries.

AAA to A-

¤000

BBB+ to BB

26,087
553
2,254

166,187
-

-

26,087

5

166,745

-

2,254

12,125

9,339

-

21,464

41,019

175,526

5

216,550

•

Performing
•
High Grade (Internal rating of A1 to A3)
•
Standard (Internal rating of B)
•
Substandard (Internal rating of C)
Non-performing
•
Doubtful (Internal rating of D1 to D6 and E)

High Grade
A customer having an internal risk rating between A1 to A3 generally would not have any interest and/or
capital payments overdue by more than 30 days. Also, no recent history of default would exist. Moreover, the
Bank does not foresee any losses or non-performance of these customers.

Standard
Loans and advances classified within this category, and thus having an internal risk rating of B, relate to
those customers for which the Bank starts to pay more attention to, generally having interest and/or capital
payments past due by more than 30 days but less than 60 days.
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3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.2

Credit risk (continued)

3.2

Credit risk (continued)

3.2.6

Information on credit quality of loans and advances to customers (continued)

3.2.6

Information on credit quality of loans and advances to customers (continued)

Substandard
Customers having an internal risk rating of C, thus classified within the ‘Substandard’ category, generally
have interest and/or capital payments overdue by more than 60 days but not overdue by more than 90 days.
In this light, such loans and advances would have inherent weaknesses that could risk the repayment of the
debt, and thus a greater probability of losses for the Bank.

Doubtful

The Bank assumes that all its exposures are individually significant. Accordingly, allowances are assessed
collectively for individually significant loans and advances where there is not yet objective evidence of
individual impairment.
Financial guarantees and letters of credit are assessed and provision is made in a similar manner as for
loans.
The following table analyses the impaired loans and advances, gross of specific impairment allowances, by
industry sector.

Loans and advances with this category relate to those facilities which the Bank considers the repayment of
the principal as improbable as a result of deteriorating conditions. These loans and advances are generally
past due by more than 90 days and those customers which are deemed by the Bank as specifically impaired,
in accordance with the requirements of IFRSs as adopted by the EU.

Impaired loans and advances
The Bank reviews all credit exposures on a case by case basis and also on a collective basis, if the exposure is
not deemed individually impaired, in order to consider the likelihood that the Bank may be exposed to losses
on loans and advances and with a view to taking early recovery action.
Impaired loans and advances are advances which the Bank has determined as probable that it will be
unable to collect all principal and interest due according to the contractual terms of the loans and advances
agreement(s).
The individually impaired loans and advances mainly relate to a number of independent customers which are
not meeting repayment obligations or deemed by the Bank as unlikely to pay their obligations to the Bank
without recources by the Bank to realising the collateral.
Each year, the Bank estimates an impairment allowance for any possible incurred losses within its lending
portfolio.
The Bank performs an assessment for the calculation of specific provisions when a review of credit facilities
reveals that the creditworthiness of a borrower has undergone a significant deterioration and that, as a
result, recovery of a credit facility is in serious doubt. The Bank makes an assessment for specific impairment
for those credit facilities being overdue by 90 days and provides if there is a shortfall. The shortfall or surplus
is calculated as the difference between the individual loans’ carrying amounts and the present value of future
cashflows, discounted at the loans’ original effective interest rate. The calculation of the present value of
estimated future cashflows takes into account the estimated time value to liquidation of the collateral, the
costs involved in obtaining and selling the collateral, as well as an appropriate haircut on the market value of
the collateral.

2014

2013

¤000

¤000

1,294
Manufacturing

210
4,891

3,281

39

429

Wholesale and retail

2,037

468

Other

3,126

3,914

11,387

8,302

Households and individuals
Construction

Past due but not impaired
Past due but not impaired loans include loans and advances where contractual interest or principal payments
are past due, but the Bank believes that impairment is not appropriate based on the level of collateral available
and/or the stage of collection of amounts owed to the Bank. Related credit losses, which may arise, are partly
covered through collective impairment allowances.

Forbearance measures and forborne loans
The contractual terms of a loan may be revised for a number of reasons, including changes in market conditions,
customer retention and other factors that are not related to the credit quality of a customer. Forbearance
measures comprise concessions made on the contractual terms of a loan in response to a customer’s
financial difficulties. The Bank categorises loans on which concessions have been granted under conditions
of financial difficulties as ‘forborne loans’ when their contractual payment terms have been revised, because
of significant concerns about the customer’s ability to meet contractual payments when due.
When considering whether there is significant concern regarding a customer’s ability to meet contractual
loan repayments when due, the Bank assesses the customer’s delinquency status, account behaviour,
repayment history, current financial situation and continued ability to repay.
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3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.2

Credit risk (continued)

3.2

Credit risk (continued)

3.2.6

Information on credit quality of loans and advances to customers (continued)

3.2.6 Information on credit quality of loans and advances to customers (continued)
If the customer is not meeting contractual repayments or it is evident that the client will be unable to do
so without the renegotiation, there will be a significant concern regarding the ability to meet contractual
payments. Indicators of significant concerns regarding a borrower’s ability to pay include:
• the customer is currently in default on any of its debt;
• the customer has declared or is in the process of declaring bankruptcy or entering into a similar process;
• there is significant doubt as to whether the customer will continue to be a going concern; and
• the Bank forecasts that the customer’s entity-specific cash flows will be insufficient to service the
debt (both interest and principal) in accordance with the contractual terms of the existing agreement
through maturity.

The movement in the carrying amount of forborne loans and advances, before specific impairment allowances,
is analysed below:

A range of forbearance measures are employed by the Bank in order to improve the management of customer
relationships, maximise collection opportunities and, if possible, avoid default or call-in of facilities. They
include extended payment terms, a reduction in principal repayments, the deferral of call-in of facilities and
other forms of loan modifications. The Bank’s policies and practices in this area allow the Bank to provide a
customer with terms and conditions that are more favourable than those provided initially. Loan forbearance
is only granted in situations where the customer has showed a willingness to repay the loan and is expected
to be able to meet the revised obligations. The Bank’s credit risk management policies set out restrictions on
the number and frequency of forbearance measures and the minimum period an account must have been
opened before any forbearance measure can be considered.

At 1 January

For the purposes of determining whether changes to a customer’s agreement should be treated as forbearance
the following types of modification are regarded as concessionary:
• reduction of the stated interest rate for the remaining original life of the debt;
• extension of the maturity date or dates at a stated interest rate lower than the current market rate for
new debt with similar risk;
• reduction of the face amount or maturity amount of the debt; and
• reduction of accrued interest.
Term extension is the most common type of modification granted by the Bank. Other types of concession,
namely transfer to an interest-only arrangement or interest rate changes, occur less often.

Loans to which forbearance measures have been extended
during the year
Repayments
Retired from forborne
At 31 December

Forborne
exposures

2014

2013

¤000

¤000

12,532

5,823

6,810

7,996

(2,371)

(1,286)

(17)

(2)

16,954

12,532

Forborne loans, before specific impairment allowances, are analysed by industry sector as follows:
2014

2013

¤000

¤000

1,540

1,735

794

794

5,354

2,584

521

752

Wholesale and retail

3,289

295

Other sectors

5,456

6,372

16,954

12,532

Manufacturing
Financial services

In assessing whether forbearance is a sustainable strategy, the customer’s entire exposures are reviewed
and the customer’s ability to meet the terms in relation to the revised obligations and other unchanged credit
facilities is considered. In all cases, forbearance is only granted when the customer is expected to be able
to meet the revised terms. When considering acceptable modified terms the Bank considers the ability of
the customer to be able to service the revised interest payments as a necessity. When principal payment
modifications are utilised, the Bank requires the customer to be able to comply with the revised terms as a
necessary pre-condition for the restructuring to proceed.

Forborne
exposures

Household and individuals
Construction

There were no material changes to the Bank’s policies and procedures regarding forbearance or forborne
loans in 2014.

As at the end of 31 December 2014 and 2013, forborne loans mainly comprise exposures to customers based
in Malta.

Write-off policy
The Bank writes off loan or advance balances (and any related allowances for impairment losses) when it
determines that these are uncollectible. This decision is reached after considering information such as the
occurrence of significant changes in the borrower’s financial position such that the borrower can no longer
pay the obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure.
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3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.2

Credit risk (continued)

3.2

Credit risk (continued)

3.2.6

Information on credit quality of loans and advances to customers (continued)

3.2.6 Information on credit quality of loans and advances to customers (continued)
The following table provides a detailed analysis of the credit quality of the Bank’s lending portfolio:
Nonforborne
exposures

Forborne
exposures

2014
¤000

The following tables represent a reconciliation of changes in the specific and collective impairment allowances
of the Bank.

Total

Nonforborne
exposures

Forborne
exposures

Total

2014

2014

2013

2013

2013

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

Specific impairment allowance

Performing
Neither past due nor impaired
High Grade
Standard
Substandard

327,504

4,816 332,320

301,421

5,388

306,809

11,593

1,909

13,502

6,784

132

6,916

1,660

9

1,669

368

18

386

6,734 347,491

308,573

5,539

314,112

340,757

Past due loans by less than
90 days but not impaired
Past due by less than 30 days

7,809

246

8,055

9, 671

346

10,017

Past due by less than 60 days

1,212

13

1,225

1,628

1

1,619

Past due by less than 90 days

139

38

177

606

-

606

9,160

297

9,457

11,905

347

12,252

¤000

At 1 January 2013

1,014

311

1,325

Additions

1,239

124

1,363

Reversals

Past due by more 90 days but
not specifically impaired

3,671

8,025

11,696

2,446

2,159

4,605

13,160

9,923

23,083

9,060

3,847

12,907

4,010

-

4,010

4,338

2,799

7,137

16,954 384,041

333,876

12,532

346,408

Other non-performing loans,
but not specifically impaired
Gross loans and advances
Specific impairment
allowances applied to
specifically impaired
exposures reflected above
Collective impairment allowances
Net loans and advances

367,087

11,387

6,614

1,688

8,302

(2,943)

(640)

(3,583)

(1,838)

(395)

(2,233)

(2,133)

(171)

(2,304)

(1,784)

(50)

(1,834)

16,143 378,154

330,254

12,087

342,341

362,011

(415)

(40)

(455)

At 31 December 2013

1,838

395

2,233

At 1 January 2014

1,838

395

2,233

Additions

1,581

384

1,965

Reversals

Collective impairment allowance

(476)

2,943
Non-forborne

(139)

640
Forborne

(615)

3,583
Total

¤000

¤000

¤000

1,484

93

1,577

Additions

712

5

717

Reversals

(412)

(48)

(460)

At 1 January 2013
1,898

Total

¤000

Non-performing
Past due loans by more than
90 days

9,489

Forborne

¤000

At 31 December 2014

Specifically impaired, gross of
specific
impairment allowances

Non-forborne

At 31 December 2013

1,784

50

1,834

At 1 January 2014

1,784

50

1,834

Additions

804

181

985

Reversals

(455)

(60)

(515)

At 31 December 2014

2,133

171

2,304

There were no write-offs during the period under review (2013: ¤152,000).

Interest income recognised during the financial year ended 31 December 2014 in respect of forborne exposures
amounted to ¤905,785 (2013: ¤727,532).
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3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.2

Credit risk (continued)

3.2

Credit risk (continued)

3.2.7

Collateral (continued)

3.2.7

Collateral (continued)

The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty.
The Bank’s Board establishes a policy regarding the acceptability of types of collateral and valuation
parameters.
The main types of collateral obtained are as follows:
•
For corporate lending, charges over real estate properties, cash or securities;
•
For retail lending (including home loans and consumer credit), mortgages over residential properties,
cash or securities; and
•
For exposures arising from reverse repurchase transactions, a pledge on liquid sovereign debt
securities.
Management monitors the market value of collateral, obtained during its review of the adequacy of the
allowance for impairment losses, and requests additional collateral in accordance with the underlying
agreement, and monitors the market value of collateral when necessary.
It is the Bank’s policy to dispose of properties acquired through judicial action in an orderly fashion. The
proceeds are used to reduce or repay the outstanding claim. In general, the Bank does not occupy properties
acquired through judicial action for business use.
With respect to reverse repurchase transactions with counterparty banks amounting to ¤165,000,000, the
Bank held a pledge on sovereign debt securities with a market value of ¤180,081,000 at 31 December 2014.
The extendible value of the collateral is the net fair value of a pledged asset for lending purposes, after
applying a precautionary margin to its market value.

The following is an analysis of the value of the extendible collateral and other credit enhancements held
by the Bank against exposures of loans and advances to customers. The amounts disclosed in the table
represent the lower of the value of the extendible collateral and the carrying amount of the respective
secured loans.
Nonforborne
exposures

Forborne
exposures

Nonforborne
exposures

Forborne
exposures

2014

2014

2013

2013

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

340,757

6,734

308,573

5,539

Performing

Neither past due nor impaired
Total maximum exposure
Extendible value of collateral:
(874)

(4)

(511)

-

Residential immovable property

(207,753)

(1,922)

(189,698)

(1,880)

Commercial immovable property

(72,595)

(2,492)

(59,008)

(1,946)

Other collateral

(11,620)

(1,333)

(11,424)

(1,433)

(292,842)

(5,751)

(260,641)

(5,259)

Secured by cash

Total extendible value of collateral
Residual exposure

47,915

983

47,932

280

9,160

297

11,905

347

Past due by less than 90 days but not impaired
Total maximum exposure
Extendible value of collateral:
Secured by cash

(88)

-

-

-

Residential immovable property

(5,744)

-

(4,947)

-

Commercial immovable property

(2,469)

(58)

(3,441)

-

(225)

(11)

(655)

(4)

(8,526)

(69)

(9,043)

(4)

Other collateral
Total extendible value of collateral
Residual exposure

634

228

2,862

343

17,170

9,923

13,398

6,646

Non-performing
Total maximum exposure
Extendible value of collateral:
(13)

(1)

(52)

(1)

Residential immovable property

(6,108)

(2,709)

(6,226)

(359)

Commercial immovable property

(3,001)

(6,187)

(5,523)

(5,929)

(45)

(5)

(66)

(1)

(9,167)

(8,902)

(11,867)

(6,290)

8,003

1,021

(1,531)

Secured by cash

Other collateral
Total extendible value of collateral
Residual exposure

356
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3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.3

Market risk (continued)

3.3

Market risk

3.3.2

Interest rate risk (continued)

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to
changes in market variables such as prices and interest rates, the correlations between them and their levels
of volatility.
Market risk for the Bank comprises two types of risks, namely:
• Interest rate risk, which results from fluctuations in the future cash flows of financial assets and liabilities
and fair value of financial instruments due to interest rate repricing gaps, changes in the yield curves and
volatilities in the market interest rates; and
• Foreign exchange risk, which results from exposure to changes in prices, spot or forwards, and volatility
of currency rates.

3.3.1

Management of market risk
The primary objective of market risk management is to ensure that the risk-reward relationship entrenched
in managing the Bank’s resources is optimised in a manner that it does not expose the Bank to losses over and
above its risk appetite. To achieve this objective, the Bank establishes limits and controls positions rigorously.
The Bank carries out accurate and regular assessments of how the outcome of multiple risk metrics impacts
results.
The Bank´s market risk appetite is defined by the Board of Directors and implemented by the Treasury
Department, which coordinates the setup of risk limits and controls the Bank´s market exposures in the
financial markets. The exposures and limits are reviewed on a regular basis by senior management in the
Executive Committee and in the ALCO (Asset & Liability Committee).

3.3.2

The following tables summarise the Bank’s exposures to interest rate risks. These analyse the Bank’s financial instruments,
which were interest-bearing at their carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity
dates.

As at 31 December 2014

Carrying
amount
¤000

Effective
Between
interest Less than 3 months
Rate 3 months and 1 year
%
¤000
¤ 000

Between
1 year
and 5 years
¤000

More
than
5 years
¤000

Noninterest
bearing
¤000

Financial assets
Balances with Central Bank of Malta
and cash

29,008

(0.03)%

26,087

-

-

-

2,921

Financial investments held for trading

21,464

4.82%

-

-

1,093

20,371

-

Financial investments available-forsale

2,254

5.32%

-

-

-

2,254

-

Loans and advances to banks

166,745

2.90%

166,740

-

-

-

5

Loans and advances to customers

378,154

4.90%

371,513

3,470

2,722

12

437

Total financial assets

597,625

564,340

3,470

3,815

22,637

3,363

Interest rate risk

Financial liabilities

Interest rate risk arises in the Bank’s operations due to interest rate fluctuations resulting from interestearning assets and interest-bearing liabilities, which mature or are repriced at different times or in different
amounts. Floating rate assets and liabilities are also exposed to basis risk, which is the difference in repricing
characteristics of the various floating rate indices. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest
rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates.

Amounts owed to banks

The Bank’s operations are subject to the risk of interest rate fluctuations to the extent that interest-earning
asset and interest-bearing liabilities mature or reprice within different time periods or on different terms.
The Bank adopts a policy to match the currency and maturity of individual transactions through treasury
operations to minimise the risk of adverse fluctuations in interest rates affecting financial assets and
financial liabilities. The Bank accepts deposits from customers at both fixed and floating rates and for varying
terms. This poses a risk to the Bank, which risk is managed by monitoring on a continuous basis the level of
mismatch of interest rate repricing taking cognisance of the terms of the Bank’s principal assets, loans and
advances to customers, that are repriceable at the Bank’s discretion. The Bank, through its Treasury function,
also invests in highly liquid quality assets, namely government debt securities, for the purposes of mitigating
exposures to fluctuations in interest rates. The Bank is accordingly in a position to manage the interest rate
terms of its financial assets and simultaneously to effect changes to interest terms of liabilities reflecting
the Bank’s strategy together with market developments. The Bank’s Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO)
is primarily responsible for oversight over the Bank’s interest rate risk management process and monitors
actively the interest rate risk measures utilised by the Bank. Credit facilities and commitments to lend funds
to customers are granted at prevailing market interest rates at drawdown date.

214

0.75%

214

-

-

-

-

579,203

2.36%

293,117

151,744

134,342

-

-

Debt securities in issue

5,000

10.25%

-

-

5,000

-

-

Total financial liabilities

584,417

293,331

151,744

139,342

-

-

Interest repricing gap

271,009

(148,274)

(135,527)

22,637

3,363

Cumulative gap

271,009

122,735

(12,792)

9,845

Amounts owed to customers
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3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.3

Market risk (continued)

3.3

Market risk (continued)

3.3.2

Interest rate risk (continued)

3.3.2

Interest rate risk (continued)
Interest rate profile

Effective
Carrying interest
amount
Rate
As at 31 December 2013

¤000

%

Less than
3 months

Between
3 months
and 1 year

Between
1 year
and 5 years

More
than
5 years

Noninterest
bearing

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

The table below analyses interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities between those that have a
fixed rate and a variable rate.
2014

Financial assets
Balances with Central Bank of
Malta and cash

93,898

0.02%

91,169

-

-

-

2,729

Financial investments held for
trading

16,254

4.80%

-

1,166

4,451

10,637

-

1,900

5.32%

-

-

-

1,900

-

Financial investments available-for-sale

Loans and advances to banks

121,645

3.17%

121,642

-

-

-

3

Reserve deposit with Central Bank of Malta

Loans and advances to customers

342,341

4.80%

332,407

3,105

2,435

12

4,382

Total financial assets

576,038

545,218

4,271

6,886

12,549

7,114

Financial investments availablefor-sale

Financial investments held for trading

Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers

5,999

2.51%

5,999

-

-

-

-

Interest-bearing liabilities

554,007

2.68%

251,319

150,092

150,429

2,167

-

Amounts owed to banks

Debt securities in issue

5,000

10.25%

-

-

5,000

-

-

Amounts owed to customers

Total financial liabilities

565,006

257,318

150,092

155,429

2,167

-

Interest repricing gap

287,900

(145,821)

(148,543)

10,382

7,114

Cumulative gap

287,900

142,079

(6,464)

3,918

Amounts owed to customers

Fixed

Variable

Fixed

Variable

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

21,464

-

16,254

-

2,254

-

1,900

-

-

26,087

-

91,169

165,000

1,745

120,177

1,468

6,219

371,498

9,522

328,437

194,937

399,330

147,853

421,074

149

65

5,800

199

391,086

188,117

419,693

134,314

5,000

-

5,000

-

396,235

188,182

430,493

134,513

Interest-earning assets

Financial liabilities
Amounts owed to banks

2013

Debt securities in issue

Fair value sensitivity for fixed rate instruments
Financial instruments issued at fixed rates potentially expose the Bank to fair value interest rate risk. Loans
and advances to customers and to banks, amounts owed to customers and to banks and debt securities in
issue are measured at amortised cost and are not expected to be disposed of, and are therefore not subject
to fair value interest rate risk.
The Bank’s instruments exposing the Bank to fair value interest rate risk consist of held for trading and
available-for-sale quoted debt securities (also refer to notes 7 and 8) since these are fair valued with fair
value changes recognised in other comprehensive income. Considering the nature and carrying amount of
the investments, a sensitivity analysis disclosing how equity would have been affected by changes in interest
rates that were reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period is not deemed necessary.
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3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.3

Market risk (continued)

3.3

Market risk (continued)

3.3.2

Interest rate risk (continued)

3.3.3

Currency risk (continued)

Cash flow sensitivity for variable rate instruments
The Bank is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk principally in respect of the financial assets and liabilities
which are subject to floating interest rates. Financial assets and liabilities issued at variable rates expose
the Bank to cash flow interest rate risk.
Taking cognisance of the nature of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities as described above, under the
requirements of IFRS 7, a sensitivity analysis in respect of interest rate changes is required in relation to the
Bank’s net floating rate liabilities.
At the end of the reporting period, if interest rates had increased by 100 basis points (assuming a parallel
shift of 100 basis points in yields) with all other variables held constant, in particular foreign currency rates,
the post-tax result for the year would increase by ¤1,372,000 (2013: ¤1,863,000). Likewise, if interest rates
had decreased by 100 basis points (assuming a parallel shift of 100 basis points in yields) with all other
variables held constant, in particular foreign currency rates, the post-tax result for the year would decrease
by ¤1,372,000 (2013: ¤1,863,000).

3.3.3

Currency risk

The table below summaries the Bank’s exposures to foreign currency risk at 31 December. Included in the
tables are the Bank’s financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by currency.
Total

EUR

GBP

USD

Other

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

Balances with Central Bank of Malta and cash

29,008

28,761

150

57

40

Financial investments held for trading

21,464

21,464

-

-

-

2,254

2,254

-

-

-

Loans and advances to banks

166,745

165,380

665

98

602

Loans and advances to customers

378,154

376,310

-

1,844

-

6,274

6,217

24

31

2

603,899

600,386

839

2,030

644

214

65

-

-

149

579,203

510,638

8,774

57,804

1,987

5,000

5,000

-

-

-

11,006

10,448

78

454

26

526,151

8,852

58,258

2,162

(8,013)

(56,228)

(1,518)

8,323

56,887

1,618

310

659

100

As at 31 December 2014
Financial assets

Financial investments available-for-sale

Other assets
Currency risk is the risk of the exposure of the Bank’s financial position and cash flow to adverse movements
in foreign exchange rates.
Total financial assets
The Bank manages currency risk by ensuring that foreign currency liabilities are utilised to fund assets
denominated in the same foreign currency thereby matching asset and liability positions as is practicable.
This mechanism is reflected in the figures reported in the tables on the following page which present this
matching process.

Financial liabilities
Amounts owed to banks

The Directors have set limits on the level of exposure by currency and in total, which are monitored daily, and
hedging strategies are used to ensure that positions are maintained within established limits.

Amounts owed to customers
Subordinated debt

The Bank also enters into forward exchange contracts with customers in the normal course of its business.
It is the Bank’s policy to cover the exposure arising from forward contracts.

Other liabilities

Total financial liabilities

Net on balance sheet position

Off-balance sheet net notional position

Net currency exposure

595,423
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3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.3

Market risk (continued)

3.3

Market risk (continued)

3.3.3

Currency risk (continued)

3.3.3

Currency risk (continued)

Total

EUR

GBP

USD

Other

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

Balances with Central Bank of Malta and cash

93,898

93,367

150

319

62

Financial investments held for trading

16,254

16,254

-

-

-

1,900

1,900

-

-

-

Loans and advances to banks

121,645

120,571

529

177

368

Loans and advances to customers

342,341

339,354

-

2,987

-

5,354

5,317

4

14

19

581,392

576,763

683

3,497

449

Under the scenario that the euro appreciates by 20% against all currencies the effect would be a loss of
¤214,000 (2013: a gain of ¤41,000) in the carrying amount of financial instruments with the adverse impact
recognised in profit or loss. Should the euro depreciate against all currencies by 20%, the effect would be a
gain of ¤214,000 (2013: a loss of ¤41,000) in the carrying amount of financial instruments and the favourable
impact would be recognised in profit or loss.

As at 31 December 2013
Financial assets

Financial investments available-for-sale

Other assets

Total financial assets

Financial liabilities
Amounts owed to banks

5,999

5,999

-

-

-

554,007

475,296

6,332

58,358

14,021

Subordinated debt

5,000

5,000

-

-

-

Other liabilities

9,364

8,005

237

712

410

494,300

6,569

59,070

14,431

(5,886)

(55,573)

(13,982)

5,937

55,598

13,705

Amounts owed to customers

Total financial liabilities

Net on balance sheet position

Off-balance sheet net notional position

Net currency exposure

574,370

51

25

(277)

3.4

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is defined as the risk of losses due to:
• the Bank’s funding costs increasing disproportionately;
• lack of funding preventing the Bank from establishing new business; and
• lack of funding which will ultimately prevent the Bank from meeting its obligations.
Liquidity risk may result from the Bank’s inability to meet its obligations when they fall due as a result of
customer deposits being withdrawn, cash requirements from contractual commitments, or other cash
outflows, as well as the inability to sell a financial asset quickly at close to its fair value. The Bank is exposed
to daily calls on its available cash resources from overnight deposits, current and call deposits, maturing term
deposits, loan drawdowns and guarantees. Such risk is inherent in all banking operations, which is generally
affected by a range of institution-specific and market-wide events including, but not limited to, credit events,
systemic shocks and natural disasters.
The objective of the Bank’s liquidity and funding management is to ensure that all foreseeable funding
commitments and deposit withdrawals can be met when due. It is the Bank’s objective to maintain a
diversified and stable funding base with the objective of enabling the Bank to respond quickly and smoothly
to unforeseen liquidity requirements.
The Bank manages this risk by ensuring that its assets and liabilities are matched in terms of maturities as
much as is practicable. However, the Bank manages its net interest spread by advancing credit to customers
with longer terms to maturity than the liabilities funding such loans. To mitigate exposures arising in this
respect, the Bank holds significant liquid assets in the form of money market placements and other short
term instruments for managing liquidity risk to support payment obligations and contingent funding in a
stressed market environment.
The Bank’s advances-to-deposit ratio of 65.3% (2013: 61.8%) at the end of the period under review reflects the
Bank’s prudent position in the context of liquidity management. Also, the proportion of liquid-assets to shortterm liabilities at 31 December 2014 is 72.42% (2013: 39.33%), which is significantly higher than the prudential
parameters set by the MFSA.
The Bank’s ALCO focuses on the Bank’s management process with respect to market and funding liquidity
risks.

The notional amounts of the derivative contracts at the end of the reporting periods substantially match the
carrying amount of the net foreign currency exposure. Accordingly, a sensitivity analysis for foreign exchange
risk disclosing how profit or loss and equity would have been affected by changes in foreign exchange rates
were reasonably possible at the end of the reporting periods is not deemed necessary since the directors are
of the opinion that the net impact (after hedging transactions) would be insigificant.
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3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.4

Liquidity risk (continued)

3.4

Liquidity risk (continued)

The Bank’s liquidity management process includes:
• management of day-to-day funding, by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements can
be met. This includes replenishment of funds as they mature or are borrowed by customers. The starting
point for those projections is an analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and the
expected collection date of the financial assets;
• maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable assets that can easily be liquidated as protection against
any unforeseen interruption to cash flow;
• monitoring the liquidity ratios of the Bank against internal and regulatory requirements; and
• managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.
The Bank also monitors the level and type of undrawn lending commitments and the impact of contingent
liabilities such as guarantees as part of the liquidity management process previously referred to.
The following table discloses financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period by remaining
period to maturity.

At 31 December 2014

Total
¤000

Less than 1
year
¤000

Over 1 but
less than 5
years

Over 5 years

No maturity
date

¤000

¤000

¤000

Financial assets
29,008

-

-

-

Financial investments held for
trading

21,464

-

1,093

20,371

29,008
-

No maturity
date

¤000

¤000

¤000

93,898

93,898

-

-

-

Financial investments held for
trading

16,254

1,166

4,451

10,637

1,900

-

-

1,900

Loans and advances to banks

121,645

121,645

-

-

Loans and advances to
customers

342,341

57,970

43,962

240,409

5,354

2,945

-

-

2,409

581,392

183,726

48,413

252,946

96,307

5,999

5,999

-

-

-

554,007

401,411

150,429

2,167

-

Debt securities in issue

5,000

-

5,000

-

-

9,364

167

-

-

9,197

574,370

407,577

155,429

2,167

9,197

Maturity gap

(223,851)

(107,016)

250,779

Cumulative gap

(223,851)

(330,867)

(80,088)

Financial investments
available-for-sale

Other assets

-

Financial liabilities
Amounts owed to banks

-

-

2,254

Loans and advances to banks

166,745

166,745

-

-

-

Other liabilities

Loans and advances to customers

378,154

68,184

44,437

265,533

-

Total financial liabilities

6,274

3,433

-

-

2,841

603,899

238,362

45,530

288,158

31,849

214

214

-

-

-

579,203

444,897

134,306

-

-

5,000

-

5,000

-

-

11,006

169

-

-

10,837

595,423

445,280

139,306

-

10,837

Maturity gap

(206,918)

(93,776)

288,158

Cumulative gap

(206,918)

(300,694)

(12,536)

Total financial assets

Over 5
years

Balances with Central Bank of
Malta and cash

2,254

Other assets

¤000

Over 1 but
less than 5
years

Financial assets

Amounts owed to customers
-

Total
¤000

Total financial assets

Balances with Central Bank of
Malta and cash

Financial investments availablefor-sale

At 31 December 2013

Less than 1
year

Financial liabilities
Amounts owed to banks
Amounts owed to customers
Debt securities in issue
Other liabilities
Total financial liabilities

Included in Balances with Central Bank of Malta is an amount of ¤1,404,000 (2013: ¤1,097,000) which is pledged
in favour of the Depositor Compensation Scheme in compliance with the Depositor Scheme Regulations of
2003 as amended by Legal Notices, 109 2010, 159 and 340 of 2012. Moreover, the ¤2,254,000 (2013: ¤1,900,000)
Financial investments available-for-sale have been pledged in favour of the said Depositor Compensation
Scheme, and an amount of ¤10,733,000 included in Financial investments held for trading for the year ended
31 December 2013 were also pledged in favour of the Depositor Compensation Scheme Central Bank of Malta
against the provision od credit facilities, with no amount as part of Financial investments held for trading
being pledged as at 31 December 2014.

2014 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

104

105

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.4

Liquidity risk (continued)

3.5

Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human error, fraud or external events (including
legal risk). When controls fail to perform, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal or
regulatory implications, or lead to financial loss. The Bank cannot expect to eliminate all operational risks, but
through control framework and by monitoring and responding to potential risks, the Bank is able to manage and
mitigate the risks. Controls include effective segregation of duties, access, authorisation and reconciliation
procedures, staff education and assessment processes, including the use of internal audit.

The tables below analyse the Bank’s principal non-derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date.
The amounts disclosed in the tables are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Total
¤000

Less than 1
year
¤000

Over 1 but
less than 5
years

Over
5 years

¤000

¤000

The Bank adopts the Banif Group’s Operational Risk Management Framework (BORMF). Each department is
directly involved in the management of operational risk to the extent that an Operational Risk Manager must
be appointed by each department within the Bank. The Internal Control Department – Risk Management Unit
(ICD-RMU) is responsible for the coordination of all operational risk activities within the Bank as well as their
control and oversight.
In terms of BORMF, every effort is made to ensure that operational risks are curtailed, minimised and/
or mitigated to inhibit, or at least significantly reduce, the incidence of operational risks materialising into
operational losses. The Framework comprises:

At 31 December 2014
Financial liabilities
214

214

-

-

Amounts owed to customers

584,344

447,592

136,752

-

Total financial liabilities

584,558

447,806

136,752

-

5,999

5,999

-

-

Amounts owed to customers

559,607

404,928

152,486

2,193

Total financial liabilities

565,606

410,927

152,486

2,193

Amounts owed to banks

Risk identification. Relevant operational risks are identified through various execution tools. The latter
include detailed questionnaires, ongoing reporting of operational risk events, near misses and losses.
At internal-entity level, each entity’s operational risk manager must gather, filter and report the data to
ICD-RMU in a standardised format.
ii) Operational risk reporting threshold. All operational risks are reported i.e. the reporting threshold is
officially ¤0. Aggregation is carried out centrally by ICD-RMU to ensure that low-value, high frequency
operational risk events are identified and properly managed.
iii) Operational loss database. The aforementioned reporting provides the basis for the compilation of an
operational loss database. Regular updating of the database with newly emerging internal losses and/or
near-misses keeps it up-to-date and enriches it over time.
iv) Operational risk measurement. Operational risk events are quantified on two dimensions in terms of
monetary value, which denotes “severity”, and quantity, signifying “frequency of occurrence”, the
product of these two dimensions yields the risk level which is then reported to top management, with
mitigating action proposed and prioritised by risk level magnitude, Operational risk assessment. The
operational risk events are evaluated. Interactions with the internal stakeholders involved are held.
Proposals are formulated for action intended to eliminate, reduce, and/or mitigate the impact and
likelihood of recurrence. Decisions are then taken at the appropriate level.
v) Operational risk management tools. Operational risk events are batched and placed in a heat map. Any
operational risk event batches with medium to high frequency, severity or both are identified and focused
upon in order to practise active and ongoing risk mitigation. The toolkit includes use of Key Performance
Indicator (KPI) and Key Risk Indicator (KRI) metrics.
vi) Monitoring and controlling. This is an ongoing process involving, inter alia, the reviewing of KRIs, loss and
near-miss levels, and self-assessment procedures in place.
vii) Reporting. This involves the disclosure of losses and indicators of operational risks. A specific software
application is used to ensure a methodical approach which generates consistent and standardised
reporting.
i)

At 31 December 2013
Financial liabilities
Amounts owed to banks

The Bank’s currency derivatives are all settled on a gross basis. The following tables analyse the Bank’s
derivative financial instruments into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the end of
the reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the tables are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.
Contracted undiscounted cash flows

Total

Within one
month

Within three
months but
over one month

Over three
months

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

82,633

74,731

6,496

1,406

(82,574)

(73,947)

(7,112)

(1,515)

59

784

(616)

(109)

111,970

253

506

111,211

(111,537)

(245)

(490)

(110,802)

At 31 December 2014
Inflows
Outflows

At 31 December 2013
Inflows
Outflows

433

8

16

409
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3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.5

Operational risk (continued)
The Bank presently applies the Basic Indicator Approach (‘BIA’) under the CRR in order to arrive at the capital
charge. Accordingly, the Bank allocates 15% of the average of gross income over the last three years as
regulatory capital in respect of operational risk. The capital requirement for operational risk under this method
was calculated at ¤1,583,000 (2013: ¤1,583,000).
In the 2014 Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP), the actual level of operational risk
materialisation recorded on the Bank’s database was compared to the regulatory and economic capital
quantification under the abovementioned BIA. This included all of the following event types: Settled, NearMiss, Estimate and Potential. Only “Settled” events result in an income statement hit but nonetheless all were
considered. Their summation resulted in a lower level of operational risk than calculated under the BIA; however
the latter figure was retained by way of capital allocation taking a prudent and conservative approach and in
full compliance with applicable regulation.

3.6

3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.6

Capital risk management (continued)
The sum of the capital requirement calculated under Pillar I and the additional requirement identified under
Pillar II represents the total capital actually required under the CRR.
The following is an analysis of the Bank’s capital base in accordance with the CRR’s requirements applicable
until 31 December 2014:
2014

2013

¤000

¤000

32,500

32,500

(10,483)

(10,869)

Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital
Share capital
Retained earnings

A major plank in the Bank’s efforts to properly manage and control operational risk, remains the Business
Continuity Plan (BCP) which is formalised and in place and covers the whole organisation.

Reserve for general banking risks

471

Capital risk management

Revaluation reserve

319

It is the Bank’s policy to actively manage its capital base to cover risks inherent in the business and at the
same time to support the development of the business, to maximise shareholders’ value and to meet all the
regulatory requirements. Capital management policy is monitored by the Executive Committee, ALCO and the
Bank’s Global Risk Committee.
Accordingly, the purpose of the Bank’s capital management is essentially to ensure an efficient use of capital,
taking cognisance of the Bank’s risk appetite and profile as well as its objectives for business development.
The Bank is a licensed credit institution and must therefore comply with the capital requirements under the
relevant laws and regulations.
Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored regularly by the Bank’s management,
employing techniques from the Capital Requirements Directive (‘CRD’) and Capital Requirements Regulations
(‘CRR’), as implemented by the MFSA for supervisory purposes, as well as guidelines developed by the Basel
Committee.
The Bank manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of its activities.

87

Adjustments:
Depositor Compensation Scheme

(3,509)

(2,736)

Intangible assets

(1,071)

(899)

Deferred tax assets

(574)

-

17,653

18,083

Subordinated loan capital

2,667

3,667

Transitional adjustments

1,843

1,834

4,510

5,501

22,163

23,584

Tier 2 capital

Total own funds

The Bank is required to maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to risk-weighted assets (Total capital ratio)
above the prescribed minimum level of 8%.
The minimum capital requirements are calculated for credit, market and operational risks. During the year, the
Bank utilised the Standardised Approach for credit risk, the Basic Indicator Approach for operational risk and
the Basic Method for foreign exchange risk in order to calculate the Pillar 1 minimum capital requirements. For
credit risk, under the Standardised Approach, risk weights are determined according to credit ratings provided
by internationally recognised credit agencies such as Fitch or their equivalents and by using the applicable
regulatory risk weights for unrated exposures. The Basic Indicator Approach requires that the Bank allocates
capital for operational risk by taking 15% of the average gross income, while the Basic Method requires the
Bank to allocate 8% of its overall net foreign exchange position to calculate the capital requirement for foreign
exchange risk.
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3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.6

Capital risk management (continued)

3.6

Capital risk management (continued)

The tables below summarise the regulatory capital requirements and ratios of the Bank as at the end of the
reporting periods.
As at 31 December 2014

Carrying

Weighted

Capital

amount

amount

requirement

¤000

¤000

¤000

Cheques in course of collection
Financial investments held for trading
Financial investments available-for sale

29,008
2,097

502

40

On-balance sheet assets
Balances with Central Bank of Malta and cash

Financial investments held for trading
Financial investments available-for-sale

1,642

329

26

16,254

-

-

1,900

-

-

-

-

Loans and advances to customers

342,341

198,452

15,876

7,587

7,587

607

899

899

72

5,230

5,230

418

625

625

50

Prepayments and accrued income

1,954

1,954

156

Other assets

2,305

2,305

184

596,280

239,269

19,140

77,917

24,970

1,998

674,197

264,239

21,138

1,396

112

19,788

1,583

285,423

22,833

Property, plant and equipment

8,062

8,062

645

Intangible assets

1,071

Deferred tax asset

4,561

4,220

338

899

899

72

Prepayments and accrued income

2,091

2,091

167

Other assets

2,663

2,663

213

619,069

229,353

18,348

-

-

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Deferred tax asset
Derivative financial instruments

Off-balance sheet instruments
Contingent liabilities and commitments
Credit risk

Off-balance sheet instruments
71,130

14,733

1,179

690,199

244,086

19,527

305

24

19,788

1,583

264,179

21,134

Foreign exchange risk
Operational risk

Own funds
Original own funds
Additional own funds

Own funds
17,653

Total own funds

18,083
5,501
23,584

4,510
Capital adequacy ratio

Total capital ratio

93,898

2,254

16,735

Total own funds

¤000

1,751

209,186

Tier 2 Capital

¤000

21,888

378,154

Common Equity Tier 1 (‘CET1’) capital

requirement

121,645

Loans and advances to customers

Operational risk

amount

Loans and advances to banks

138

Foreign exchange risk

amount

-

1,730

Credit risk

Capital

-

166,745

Contingent liabilities and commitments

Weighted

21,464

Loans and advances to banks

Derivative financial instruments

Carrying

¤000

Cheques in course of collection

On-balance sheet assets
Balances with Central Bank of Malta and cash

As at 31 December 2013

8.3%

22,163
8.39%

During the period under review, the Bank continued to manage its business and capital base diligently,
withstanding the regulatory minimum requirement of 8% by a narrow margin, with the exception of the ratio as
at 30 June 2014. In view of unexpected growth in loans and advances during the month of June, as at 30 June
2014 the Bank’s total capital ratio was 7.93% i.e. below the 8% mark for the first time since commencement
of operations. The Bank’s management took immediate corrective action throughout July 2014 and the total
capital ratio was 8.12% as at 31 July 2014.
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3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.6

Capital risk management (continued)

3.7

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

The Bank is working on a strategy to move away from its regulatory marginality in order to achieve comfortable
capital adequacy ratios which would enable it to shift to higher profitability and a capital position which would
be well in excess of regulatory floors. The parent company with the assistance of its investment banking
arm in Portugal has embarked on a competitive bidding process to invite all prospective investors that have
expressed interest in investing in the Bank to put forward their formal offers. This process should lead to the
identification of a new controlling shareholder that stands ready to inject capital into the Bank to enable it to
exceed regulatory requirements comfortably.

3.7.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)
The following tables reflect an analysis of financial instruments recorded at fair value by level of the fair value
hierarchy:

At 31 December 2014
In the meantime, the Bank´s Management will continue to undertake initiatives and actions to ensure that
the Bank’s ability to realise its assets and to discharge its liabilities is not put in doubt until the capitalisation
process is concluded.

3.7

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

3.7.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value
The Bank’s financial instruments which are carried at fair value include the Bank’s financial investments held
for trading, financial investments available-for-sale and derivative financial instruments (notes 7, 8 and 14).
The Bank is required to disclose fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement
hierarchy for financial instruments that are measured in the statement of financial position at fair value:

•

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets (Level 1).
Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset either directly
i.e. as prices, or indirectly i.e. derived from prices (Level 2).
Inputs for the asset that are not based on observable market data i.e. unobservable inputs (Level 3).

The IFRS 13 hierarchy of valuation techniques is based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques
are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources;
unobservable inputs reflect the Bank’s market assumptions.

Level 2

Total

¤000

¤000

¤000

-

899

899

21,464

-

21,464

21,464

899

22,363

2,254

-

2,254

23,718

899

24,617

-

840

840

-

840

840

Level 1

Level 2

Total

¤000

¤000

¤000

-

625

625

16,254

-

16,254

16,254

625

16,879

1,900

-

1,900

18,154

625

18,779

-

192

192

-

192

192

Financial assets
Held for trading instruments
Derivative financial instruments
Government debt, fixed income instruments

Financial investments available-for-sale
Government debt, fixed income instruments

•
•

Level 1

Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Held for trading instruments
Derivative financial instruments
Total financial liabilities

At 31 December 2013

Financial assets
Held for trading instruments
Derivative financial instruments
Government debt, fixed income instruments

Financial investments available-for-sale
Government debt, fixed income instruments
Total financial assets

Financial liabilities
Held for trading instruments
Derivative financial instruments
Total financial liabilities
There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 during the year.
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3.

Financial risk management (continued)

4.

Accounting estimates and judgements

3.7

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

4.1

Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying the Bank’s accounting policies

3.7.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other factors
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Financial instruments in Level 1
The fair value of instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the end of the
reporting period. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent
actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used
for financial instruments held by the Bank is the current bid price at 31 December of the respective year.

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will,
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. These estimates and assumptions present a risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
The Bank’s management also makes judgements, apart from those involving estimations, in the process of
applying the entity’s accounting policies that may have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements.

4.2

Instruments included in Level 1 comprise both financial investments held for trading and financial investments
available-for-sale, composed of government debt issued by the Governments of Malta and Portugal, which are
listed on the Malta Stock Exchange and Lisbon Stock Exchange respectively.

Impairment losses on loans and advances
The Bank reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment on an ongoing basis as relevant generic data is
observed concerning risks associated with groups of loans with similar risk characteristics. In determining
whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the income statement, the Bank makes judgements as to
whether there is any observable data indicating an impairment trigger followed by a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified with that
portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the
payment status of borrowers in a group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults
on assets in the group. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit
risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling
its future cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of
future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss
experience.

Financial instruments in Level 2
Fair values for the Bank’s derivative contracts are determined utilising valuation techniques, involving
primarily the use of discounted cash flow techniques. The fair values referred to are determined by reference
to market prices or rates (forward foreign exchange rates) quoted at the end of the reporting period. The
valuation techniques used are supported by observable market prices or rates since their variables include
only data from observable markets. The Bank’s derivative financial instruments are accordingly categorised
as Level 2 instruments.

Financial instruments not measured at fair value
Loans and advances to banks and customers and amounts owed to banks and customers are carried at
amortised cost in the statement of financial position. The Board considers the carrying amounts of loans and
advances to banks and customers to be a reasonable estimate of their fair value principally in view of the
relatively short periods to repricing or maturity from the end of the reporting periods. The fair values of fixed
interest deposits and amounts owed to banks are not deemed to be significantly different from their carrying
amounts, based on discounted cash flows at current market interest rates, particularly due to the relatively
short periods to maturity.

4.3

Assessment of estimates and judgements
In the opinion of the Directors, the accounting estimates and judgements made in the course of preparing
these financial statements, which have been highlighted above, are not difficult, subjective or complex to a
degree which would warrant their description as critical in terms of the requirements of IAS 1.
However, the Directors would like to draw attention to these accounting judgements, that have a significant
risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year. In this respect, these primarily comprise assumptions and estimates relating to the calculation
of impairment allowances in respect of loans and advances to customers (see notes 2.8, 10 and 32).
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5.

Segmental information

5.

Segmental information (continued)

The segment reporting of the Bank is made in terms of the business segments which it conducts its business
in, as the risks and rates of return are affected predominantly by differences in the products and services
produced. The Bank is currently organised into three main business segments:
Retail banking
Corporate banking
Other

- Principally handling customers’ deposits, providing consumer loans, overdrafts and
funds transfer facilities.
- Principally handling loans and other credit facilities and deposit and current
accounts for corporate and institutional customers.
- Principally treasury and other central functions.

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on operating profit or loss. Income taxes are managed on a group basis and are not allocated to operating
segments.
Interest income is reported net as management primarily relies on net interest revenue as a performance
measure, not the gross income or expense.
Other than revenue generated from business carried out with the Banif S.A., no revenue from transactions with
a single external customer or counterparty amounted to 10% or more of the Bank’s total revenue in 2014 or
2013. This is included with the ‘Other’ business segment in the tables below and a detailed analysis of all the
balances held and income earned is included in note 36 dealing with related party disclosures.
No reconciliation is required since there are no differences between the measurements of the reportable
segments’ profits or losses, assets and liabilities and the entity’s profit or loss, assets and liabilities.
The following tables present income, profit and certain asset and liability information regarding the Bank’s
business segments for the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013:

2014
Retail
banking

Corporate
banking

Other

Total

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

Net operating income
Net interest income
Net fees and commission income

2,533

6,099

109

8,741

856

1,231

29

2,116

3,071

3,071

Net trading income

-

-

Other income

-

-

Total operating income
Net impairment losses
Net operating income
Employee compensation and benefits

3,389
(864)
2,525

7,330

3,209

(956)
6,374

3,209

13,928
(1,820)
12,108

(1,861)

(546)

(2,880)

(5,287)

Other administrative expenses

(471)

(57)

(4,010)

(4,538)

Depreciation of property and equipment and
amortisation of intangible assets

(341)

(46)

(494)

(881)

Profit before tax

(148)

5,725

(4,175)

Income tax expense

1,402
(544)

Profit for the year

858

Assets and liabilities
Segment assets

249,189

128,966

172,912

Unallocated assets

68,002

Total assets

Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities
Total liabilities

551,067

619,069

426,505

152,698

5,214

584,417
11,846
596,263
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5.

6.

Segmental information (continued)

Balances with Central Bank of Malta and cash

2013
Retail
banking

Corporate
banking

Other

Total

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

Balances with Central Bank of Malta
Cash

3,958

4,057

112

8,127

658

988

48

1,694

Net trading income

96

512

1,494

2,102

Other income

29

-

161

190

Total operating income

4,741

5,557

1,815

12,113

Net impairment losses

(535)

(784)

-

(1,319)

Net operating income

4,206

4,773

1,815

10,794

Employee compensation and benefits

(1,563)

(462)

(3,137)

(5,162)

Other administrative expenses

(1,923)

(280)

(2,447)

(4,650)

(454)

(51)

(224)

(729)

266

3,980

(3,993)

253

Net fees and commission income

Depreciation of property and equipment and
amortisation of intangible assets
Profit before tax
Income tax expense

26,087

91,169

2,921

2,729

29,008

93,898

The balances with Central Bank of Malta at 31 December 2014 also include an amount of ¤1,404,000 (2013:
¤1,097,000) which is pledged in favour of the Depositor Compensation Scheme in compliance with the Depositor
Compensation Scheme Regulations.

7.

Financial investments held-for-trading
Financial investments designated as ‘held-for-trading’ include the following:
2014

2013

¤000

¤000

21,464

16,254

Current:
Debt and other fixed income instruments

124

Debt and other fixed income instruments comprise the following:

232,212

117,049

133,988

483,249

Unallocated assets

113,031

Government debt securities

Total assets

596,280

Local and listed on the Malta Stock Exchange
Foreign and listed on other exchanges

Unallocated liabilities

¤000

The average balance of the reserve deposit required at year end in terms of Article 32 of the Central Bank of
Malta Act, Cap. 204 of the Laws of Malta held with the Central Bank of Malta was ¤3,914,000 (2013: ¤3,558,000).

Assets and liabilities

Segment liabilities

¤000

(129)

Profit for the year

Segment assets

2013

Current:

Net operating income
Net interest income

2014

350,247

88,242

126,709

565,198

2014

2013

¤000

¤000

12,125

11,692

9,339

4,562

21,464

16,254

9,364
The movement in debt and other fixed income investments is summarised as follows:

Total liabilities

574,562
2014

2013

¤000

¤000

At 1 January

16,254

19,053

Acquisitions

14,732

12,331

(10,943)

(10,747)

(150)

(4,559)

There was no other segmental information of relevance to report as at the reporting date. Geographical
segmentation information is not appropriate due to the limited size of the market.

Disposals
Redemptions
Fair value movements
At 31 December

1,571

176

21,464

16,254
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7.

8.

Financial investments held-for-trading (continued)

Financial investments available-for-sale (continued)
The movement in debt and other fixed income investments is summarised as follows:

The movement in other non-fixed income investments is summarised as follows:
2014

2013

¤000

¤000
At 1 January

At 1 January

-

Acquisitions

-

-

Disposals

-

-

Redemptions

-

(3,086)

Fair value movement

-

(266)

At 31 December

-

-

3,352

At 31 December 2014, financial assets with a carrying amount of ¤394,530 have been pledged in favour of the
Depositor Compensation Scheme in compliance with the Depositor Compensation Scheme regulations. At 31
December 2013, financial assets held-for-trading with a carrying ammount of ¤10,733,000 were pledged in
favour of the Central Bank of Malta against the provision of credit facilities (refer to Note 19).

8.

¤000

¤000

1,900

1,135

-

119,492

Redemptions

-

(118,802)

Fair value movements
At 31 December

354

75

2,254

1,900

These financial assets, with a carrying amount of ¤2,254,000 (2013: ¤1,900,000), have been pledged in
favour of the Depositors’ Compensation Scheme in compliance with the Depositor Compensation Scheme
Regulations.

9.

Loans and advances to banks
2014

2013

¤000

¤000

1,745

1,468

165,000

120,177

166,745

121,645

Current
2014

2013

Repayable on call and at short notice

¤000

¤000

Term placements

Non-current
Debt and other fixed income instruments

2013

Acquisitions

Financial investments available-for-sale
Financial investments classified as ‘available-for-sale’ include the following:

2014

2,254

1,900

Debt and other fixed income instruments comprise the following:
2014

2013

¤000

¤000

2,254

1,900

Term placements at 31 December 2014 are attributable to reverse repurchase agreements
with the Parent company which are secured by a pledge on sovereign debt securities.
These securities had a market value of ¤180,081,000 as at year end. The Bank may sell or
re-pledge such securities, but has an obligation to return the securities and the counterparty retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Government debt securities
Local and listed on the Malta Stock Exchange
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10.

11.

Loans and advances to customers
2014

2013

¤000

¤000

Property and equipment

74,248

64,372

Term loans and advances

309,793

278,703

At 1 January 2013

Gross loans and advances to customers

384,041

343,075

Cost

Repayable on call and at short notice

Other loans and receivables

384,041

Less allowances for impairment losses
Net loans and advances to customers

(5,887)
378,154

3,333
346,408

Accumulated depreciation

Computer
equipment

Other
equipment

Total

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

6,335

1,266

8,721

(906)

(540)

(2,352)

5,429

360

580

6,369

At 1 January 2013

5,429

360

580

6,369

Acquisitions

1,275

246

170

1,691

Net book amount

(906)

1,120

(4,067)
342,341

Impairment allowances
Specific impairment allowances

3,583

2,233

Collective impairment allowances

2,304

1,834

Year ended 31 December 2013

Disposals
Charge for the year

5,887

4,067

74,916

66,925

Non-current

309,125

279,483

Gross loans and advances to customers

384,041

346,408

Current

Land and
buildings

At 31 December 2013

-

(2)

(2)

(231)

(99)

(141)

(471)

6,473

507

607

7,587

7,610

1,512

1,288

10,410

(1,137)

(1,005)

At 31 December 2013
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

The aggregate gross amount of impaired loans and advances to customers at at 31 December 2014 amounted
to ¤11,387,000 (2013: ¤8,302,000). Speific impairment allowances at the end of the reporting period include
¤481,000 (2013: ¤199,000), reflected in the table above, in respect of interest in suspense.

-

(681)

(2,823)

6,473

507

607

7,587

6,473

507

607

7,587

842

104

71

1,017

Year ended 31 December 2014
At 1 January 2014
Acquisitions
Disposals
Charge for the year
At 31 December 2014

-

(2)

-

(2)

(269)

(137)

(134)

(540)

7,046

472

544

8,062

8,452

1,614

1,359

11,425

(1,406)

(1,142)

At 31 December 2014
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

7,046

472

(815)

(3,363)

544

8,062

Future capital expenditure which was authorised by the Board, but has to date not yet been contracted
for, amounted to ¤2,601,000 (2013: ¤3,055,000). Additionally an amount of ¤84,000 (2013: ¤87,000) has been
contracted for but not provided for in the financial statements (Note 37).
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12.

Intangible assets

13.

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Computer
software &
royalties

Other
intangibles

Total

2014

2014

2014

2013

2013

2013

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

(209)

(209)

(237)

(237)

Assets

At 1 January 2013
Cost

1,274

109

1,383

Accumulated amortisation

(719)

-

(719)

555

109

664

Net book amount
Year ended 31 December 2013

555

109

664

Acquisitions

493

-

493

(258)

-

(258)

790

109

899

At 31 December 2013

-

Loan impairment
allowances

2,060

Fair value movements
on investments

Cost

1,767

109

1,876

At 1
January
2013

Accumulated amortisation

(977)

-

(977)

¤000

790

109

899

Year ended 31 December 2014
At 1 January 2014

790

109

899

Acquisitions

476

37

513

(341)

-

(341)

925

146

1,071

Amortisation for the year
At 31 December 2014
At 31 December 2014

Differences
between
depreciation
and capital
allowances
Loan impairment
allowances
Fair value
movements on
investments
Unused tax losses

Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Net book amount

2,243

146

2,389

(1,318)

-

(1,318)

925

146

1,071

Computer software includes assets amounting to ¤131,458 (2013: ¤182,841) which are still not put to use
at year end. The remaining average amortisation period is of 3 years, in line with the Bank’s accounting
policy.

Assets

-

2,060

(166)

Liabilities

1,424

(166)

-

-

(42)

Net

1,424
(42)

2,876

-

2,876

4,085

-

4,085

4,936

(375)

4,561

5,509

(279)

5,230

Movement in temporary differences related to:

At 31 December 2013

Net book amount

Net

-

-

Unused tax losses

At 1 January 2013

Amortisation for the year

Differences between
depreciation and
capital allowances

Liabilities

(204)
1,015

(124)

Recognised
Recognised
Recognised
At 31 Recognised
At 31
in other
in other
in profit comprehensive December
in profit comprehensive December
or loss
2013
income
or loss
2014
income
¤000

¤000

¤000

(33)

-

409

-

-

4,485

(400)

5,172

(24)

82

1,424

¤000

¤000

28

-

636

-

(209)
2,060

-

(124)

4,085

(1,209)

-

2,876

5,230

(545)

(124)

4,561

(42)
-

82

(237)

¤000

(166)

The recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled principally after
more than twelve months from the end of the reporting period. The deferred tax liabilities reflected in other
comprehensive income relate to the fair valuation of financial investments classified as available-for-sale.
Unused tax losses do not expire. Based on the Bank’s operating trends and forecasts, this deferred tax asset
is expected to be utilised from available taxable profits in the foreseeable future.
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14.

16.

Derivative financial instruments

Other assets

During the year, the Bank entered into a number of forward foreign exchange contracts with clients and an
equivalent number of back-to-back arrangements with Banif S.A.
The forward contracts entered into are contractual agreements to buy or sell a currency at a specified rate
and date in the future. On the other hand, under the cross-currency swaps entered into, the Bank carries out
a spot transaction exchanging a specified amount in one currency with a specific amount in another currency
and agrees to re-exchange at a specified rate and date in the future.

Other financial assets

Liabilities

Assets

2014

2013

2013

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

Current
Derivatives held for trading
Forward foreign exchange
Cross-currency swaps

Current

Liabilities

2014

899
899

840

625
-

840

625

2,242

1,886

421

419

2,663

2,305

2,526

2,168

137

137

Share Capital
2014

192

No. of
shares

192

The derivative financial instruments at 31 December 2014 principally relate to the forward purchase of
US$80,128,000 (2013: US$102,600,000) against euro maturing within one year from the end of the reporting
period at an average contractual rate of 1.2224 (2013: 1.3766), and the forward purchase of £4,683,000
(2013: £3,500,000) against US$ maturing within one year from the end of the reporting period at the average
contractual rates of 0.7858 (2013: 0.8334).

2013
No. of
shares

000s

¤000

000s

¤000

50,000

50,000

50,000

50,000

32,500

32,500

32,500

32,500

Authorised
Ordinary shares of ¤1 each
Issued and fully paid up
Ordinary shares of ¤1 each

15.

¤000

‘Other financial assets’ relate to amounts pledged in favour of a card scheme.

-

¤000

Non-current

17.
-

2013

Other assets

The table below shows the fair values of derivative financial instruments.
Assets

2014

Prepayments and accrued income
2014

2013

¤000

¤000

The issued ordinary shares rank pari passu for all purposes and, in the event that a poll is demanded, each
share entitles the holder thereof to one vote.

18.
Prepayments
Accrued income

Current
Non-current

Reserves

577

547

1,514

1,407

2,091

1,954

Retained earnings represent accumulated losses registered since the incorporation of the Bank. The majority
of these losses are attributable to costs incurred in the setting up of the banking operations.

493

467

1,598

1,487

Retained earnings include an amount of ¤3,509,000 (2013: ¤2,736,000) allocated to the Depositor Compensation
Scheme Reserve. This Reserve is excluded for the purposes of the Own Funds calculation (refer to Note 3.6).

18.1 Retained earnings

18.2 Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve is used to record movements in the fair value of available-for-sale equity shares and
debt securities, net of deferred taxation thereon. The revaluation reserve is not available for distribution.

2014 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

128

129

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
18.

21.

Reserves (continued)

Debt securities in issue

18.3 Reserve for General Banking Risks
The Reserve for General Banking Risks refers to the amount allocated by the Bank from its retained earnings, to
a non-distributable reserve against potential risks linked to the Bank’s non-performing loans and advances. The
allocation to this reserve shall occur over a three year period, of which the Bank already allocated 40% during
the financial year ended 2013 and 30% during the period under review. The Bank will be allocating a further 30%
during the financial year ending 31 December 2015.

19.

10% subordinated unsecured debt

2014

2013

¤000

¤000

149

5,800

65

199

214

5,999

22.

Due to the Central Bank of Malta against security on financial investments
Other

149
65
214

5,000

5,000

2013

¤000

¤000

2,958

1,464

Accounts payable and sundry creditors

678

850

Obligations under financial guarantees

1,086

372

4,722

2,686

2014

2013

¤000

¤000

372

446

1,505

3,808

Bills payable

999

The movement in ‘Obligations under financial guarantees’ is as follows:

5,000
5,999
At 1 January
Arising during the year

Term loans and advances at 31 December 2013 include an amount of ¤5,000,000 owed to the Central Bank of
Malta, secured by a pledge on securities (Note 7).

20.

¤000

2014

Amounts include:
Due to banks within Banif Group

¤000

Other liabilities

Current

Repayable on demand

2013

In 2012, the Bank issued ¤5,000,000 subordinated unsecured debt which was fully subscribed by Banif S.A. The
debt is unlisted, bears interest at 10% per annum and is repayable on 30 August 2017.

Amounts owed to banks

Term loans and advances

2014

Utilised

(108)

(3,073)

Unused amounts reversed

(683)

(809)

Amounts owed to customers
2014

2013

¤000

¤000

23.

1,086

372

2014

2013

¤000

¤000

5,122

5,768

Accruals and deferred income

Term deposits

391,086

419,693

Repayable on demand

188,117

134,314

Accrued interest

579,203

554,007

Accrued operating expenditure

806

635

Accrued capital expenditure

356

275

Current

444,897

401,411

Non-current

134,306

152,596

6,284

6,678

Included in ‘Amounts owed to customers’ are deposits of ¤24,000,000 (2013: ¤12,700,000) held as collateral for
loan commitments and irrevocable commitments under guarantees and import letters of credit.

Accrued operating expenditure mainly relates to amounts
day-to-day services and specific non-recurring expenditure.

in

relation

to

the

provision

of
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‘To succeed in life
in today’s world,
you must have the
will and tenacity to
finish the job.’
Chin-Ning Chu

From left:

Martin Borg
Head, Legal and Compliance Unit

Darren Mascena
Branch Manager, Retail Banking Unit

Simon Grech
Head, Corporate Services Department
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24.

Contingent liabilities and commitments

24.

As part of its business activities, the Bank enters into various irrevocable commitments and contingent liabilities.
Letters of credit and guarantees (including standby letters of credit) commit the Bank to make payments on
behalf of customers in the event of a specific act, generally related to the import or export of goods.

24.1 Operating lease commitments – Bank as lessee

Commitments to extend credit represent contractual commitments to make loans and revolving credits.
Commitments generally have fixed expiry dates, or other termination clauses. Since commitments may expire
without being drawn upon, the total contract amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements.
However, the potential credit loss is less than the total unused commitments since most commitments to
extend credit are contingent upon customers meeting specific conditions. The Bank monitors the term to
maturity of credit commitments because longer-term commitments generally have a greater degree of credit
risk than shorter-term commitments.
Even though these obligations are not recognised on the statement of financial position, they do contain credit
risk and are therefore part of the overall risk of the Bank.
The total outstanding commitments and contingent liabilities are as follows:

Contingent liabilities and commitments (continued)

In 2014, the Bank did not enter into any new contracts of commercial lease for immovable property.
Details of all the other contracts entered into to date are as follows:
I.

10 year commercial lease for immovable property which is cancellable by giving one year’s notice (starting
2008);
II. 20-year term contract which is cancellable after the first 10 years of the contract by giving one year’s
notice (starting 2008);
III. 5-year term contract with the option to extend the term for further periods of 12 months each (starting
2008);
IV. 15-year term contract, with the right to terminate the lease after 5 years to be used for retail purposes
(starting 2010); and
V. 6-year term contract to be used as an extension to the current Head Office premises.
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December are as follows:

2014

2013

2014

2013

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

11,204

7,677

Within one year

308

290

332

424

After one year but not more than five years

434

704

11,536

8,101

742

994

59,594

69,816

Contingent liabilities
Guarantees
Documentary credits

Commitments
Undrawn commitments to lend

24.2 Legal claims

Capital commitments (note 11)
Authorised but not contracted for
Contracted for

Total commitments

2,601

3,055

84

87

2,685

3,142

62,279

72,958

Litigation is a common occurrence in the banking industry due to the nature of the business. The Bank has an
established protocol for dealing with such legal claims. Once professional advice has been obtained and the
amount of damages reasonably estimated, the Bank makes adjustments to account for any adverse effects
which the claims may have on its financial standing. At year end, there were no significant unresolved legal
claims.
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25.

28.

Interest and similar income

On loans and advances to banks
On loans and advances to customers
On balances with Central Bank of Malta

Net trading income

2014

2013

2014

2013

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

4,835

3,850

18,057

16,421

Net interest income

949

885

7

20

Realised gains on sale

567

369

-

On debt securities classified as loans and receivables

Debt securities

Unrealised fair value gains/(losses)

256

22,899

20,547

106

2,837

1,004

(90)

2,520

1,164

Equity securities
On debt and other fixed income instruments
Net amortisation of discounts and premiums
Total interest and similar income

26.

Dividend income

223

102

3,060

23,001

23,607

Foreign exchange activities

Interest income on loans and advances to customers includes income generated from impaired financial assets
which amounted to ¤1,658,000 (2013: ¤1,255,000).

From commercial business activities

From derivatives

Net trading income

Interest and similar expense

On amounts owed to customers
On debt securities in issue

-

25

-

26

-

51

(375)

481

926

406

551

887

3,071

2,102

Realised gains on sale

The income earned from loans and advances to banks is almost entirely made up of interest earned on balances
and placements held with banks forming part of Banif Group.

On amounts owed to banks

27.

(4)

2014

2013

¤000

¤000

68

151

2014

2013

13,681

14,828

¤000

¤000

511

501

14,260

15,480

2014

2013

¤000

¤000

866

803

1,838

1,401

2,704

2,204

29.

Net gain on sale of investment securities

Net gain on sale of available-for-sale financial investments

-

161

Net fees and commission income

Fees and commission income
Credit related fees and commissions
Other fees

Fees and commission expense
Other fees
Net fees and commission income

(588)
2,116

(510)
1,694
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31.
30.

Employee compensation and benefits
2014

2013

¤000

¤000

448

419

Executive officers and senior managerial

1,994

1,994

Other managerial, supervisory and clerical

2,502

2,411

33

42

Directors’ remuneration

In terms of Legal Notices 109 of 2010, 159 and 340 of 2012 amending the Depositor Compensation Scheme
Regulations of 2003, the Bank paid an additional cash contribution to the Depositor Compensation Scheme in
March 2014 of ¤160,000. This is included under Regulatory expenses.
In total, from incorporation up to 31 December 2014, the Bank has contributed ¤728,000 in variable contributions.
This represents 0.166% of eligible deposits as at end of December 2013. In terms of said Regulations, the Bank
is obliged to pay additional cash contributions to the Scheme in line with increases in eligible deposits as at
end of December of each year by 1st of March of the following year. The cash contribution to be paid in 2015
amounts to ¤218,000.

Wages and salaries

Others

Other administrative expenses (continued)

32.

Net impairment losses
2014

2013

¤000

¤000

- specific allowances

3,084

1,396

1,114

784

Social security costs
Executive officers and senior managerial
Other managerial, supervisory and clerical

97

91

210

201

3

4

4,839

4,743

- collective allowances

5,287

5,162

- bad debts written off

Others

Total employee compensation and benefits

Write-downs
Loans and advances to customers

4,198

The average number of persons employed by the Bank during the years 2014 and 2013 was as follows:
2014

2013

48

46

100

116

2

2

150

164

2014

2013

¤000

¤000

74

51

Information system and communications

984

Business development

Executive officers and senior managerial
Other managerial, supervisory and clerical

2,332

Reversals of write-downs
Loans and advances to customers
(1,734)

(487)

(644)

(526)

(2,378)

(1,013)

1,820

1,319

944

2014

2013

751

932

¤000

¤000

1,409

1,232

175

333

1,145

1,158

4,538

4,650

Others

31.

152

- specific allowances
- collective allowances

Net impairment losses

Other administrative expenses
33.

Income tax expense
The components of income tax for the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013 are:

Auditors’ remuneration

Corporate services
Regulatory expenses
Other

Income statement:
Current income tax
Deferred income tax

(1)

(1)

(543)

(128)

(544)

(129)

Auditors’ remuneration include assurance related services of ¤5,900 (2013: ¤17,300), payable to the Bank’s auditors.
Non-audit services provided during 2013 amounted to ¤1,000 (2013: ¤1,400).
Corporate services include operating lease payments amounting to ¤292,000 (2013: ¤271,000).
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‘Decisiveness is
a supreme law,
because it gives
power to achieve
your goals.’
Edward VIII

Bernard Cassar
Head, Treasury Unit
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33.

35.

Income tax expense (continued)

Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents as shown in the statement of cash flows:

The tax on profit and the result of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable tax rate in Malta of 35% are
reconciled as follows:

Profit before tax
Tax at the applicable rate of 35%

2014

2013

¤000

¤000

1,402
491

Cash (note 6)

253

Balances with Central Bank of Malta (excluding reserve deposit and
Depositor Compensation Scheme pledged deposits) (note 6)

89

Loans and advances to banks (note 9)
Amounts owed to banks (note 19)

Tax effect of:
Non-recoverable foreign withholding tax
Non-deductible expenses
Other differences

1

1

73

70

(21)

(31)

544

34.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
Adjustment to reflect balances with contractual maturity of more
than three months

129

Balances with Central Bank of Malta and cash
Loans and advances to banks

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing net profit attributable to the shareholders of the Bank as shown in
the income statement divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Amounts owed to banks

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
Earnings per share (¤ cents)

858

124

32,500,000

32,500,000

2c6

0c4

¤000

¤000

2,921

2,729

20,770

86,514

166,745

41,645

(214)

(999)

190,222

129,889

5,317

79,655

195,539

209,544

29,008

93,898

166,745

121,645

(214)
195,539

2013
Balances with contractual maturity of more than 3 months

Net profit attributable to shareholders (¤000)

2013

As per statement of financial position:

Earnings per share

2014

2014

Cash and cash equivalents

36.

(5,317)
190,222

(5,999)
209,544
(79,655)
129,889

Related parties

36.1 Identity of related parties
The Bank has a related party relationship with its immediate and ultimate controlling parent, Banif S.A., all
entities ultimately controlled by Banif S.A. (entities forming part of the Banif Group) the Bank’s directors
(’key management personnel’) and other related parties, primarily entities controlled by key management
personnel.
During the course of its business, the Bank conducted business on commercial terms with various related
parties. No material specific provisions for impairment were made in respect of amounts due by related
parties during the financial years ending 2014 and 2013 and no amounts were written off during both years.
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36.

Related parties (continued)

36.

Related parties (continued)

36.4.2 Entities ultimately controlled by the parent company

36.2 Transaction arrangements and agreements involving key management personnel
During the year under review, the following banking transactions were carried out with key management
personnel:

During the year, the following transactions were undertaken by the Bank with related banks and companies
forming part of the Banif Group:

2014

2013

2014

2013

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

491

Income statement

Income statement
Interest and similar income

33

31

Interest and similar income

116

Interest and similar expense

21

33

Interest and similar expense

31

Net fees and commissions
Statement of financial position

Net trading income

Loans and advances to customers

1,026

Prepayments and accrued income

1

Amounts owed to customers
Accruals and deferred income

-

1,355

1,544

23

8

Compensation to key management personnel
Directors’ remuneration and salaries to executive officers are separately disclosed in Note 30.

36.4

Transaction with other related parties

1,090

-

Year end balances arising principally from the transactions referred to previously, are disclosed below:
Statement of financial position
-

Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers

2,321

40,000
5,654

Derivative financial instruments - assets

899

Prepayments and accrued income

337

119

Amounts owed to customers

49

17

Derivative financial instruments – liabilities

72

-

-

During the year, the following transactions were undertaken by the Bank with entities controlled by nonexecutive directors:

During the year, the following transactions were undertaken by the Bank with its parent company:
2014

2013

2014

2013

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

Interest and similar income

27

101

Interest and similar expense

10

35

218

320

Income statement

Income statement

Interest and similar expense

113

36.4.3 Entities controlled by non-executive directors

36.4.1 Parent company

Interest and similar income

134

947

The above mentioned outstanding balances arose from the ordinary course of business on substantially the
same terms as for comparable transactions with persons of a similar standing, or where applicable, other
employees.

36.3

-

4,835

3,845

547

651

Year end balances with the parent company, arising principally from the transactions referred to previously,
are disclosed below:

Other administrative expenses

Year end balances arising principally from the transactions referred to previously, are disclosed below:
Statement of financial position
Loans and advances to banks

166,063

81,200

Prepayments and accrued income

-

9

Amounts owed to banks

-

999

Derivative financial instruments - liabilities

-

192

Debt securities in issue
Accruals and deferred income

5,000

5,000

169

167

Statement of financial position
Loans and advances to customers

690

1,171

Prepayments and accrued income

15

27

4,064

4,055

31

45

Amounts owed to customers
Accruals and deferred income

The Bank also issued demand and bank guarantees on behalf of entities controlled by non-executive Directors
amounting to ¤1,361,879 that were all fully secured (2013: ¤99,958).
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37.

Comparative information
Comparative figures disclosed in the main components of these financial statements have been reclassified to
conform with the current year’s presentation format for the purpose of fairer presentation.
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ADDITIONAL REGULATORY DISCLOSURES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
1.

Overview

(a) Share capital

These Additional Regulatory Disclosures (‘ARDs’) are aimed at providing the Bank’s stakeholders further insight
to the Bank’s capital structure and adequacy. The disclosures outlined below have been prepared by the Bank in
accordance with the Pillar III quantitative and qualitative disclosure requirements as governed by Banking Rule
BR/07: Publication of Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements of Credit Institutions authorised under
the Banking Act, 1994, issued by the Malta Financial Services Authority (‘MFSA’). Banking Rule BR/07 follows
the disclosure requirements of Directive 2013/36/EU (Capital Requirements Directive) and EU Regulation No
575/2013 (Capital Requirements Regulation) of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013.

The Bank’s share capital as at 31 December is analysed as follows:

In light of the fact that the Bank forms part of a banking group that is subject to consolidated supervision at
the level of its EU parent institution, the Bank is exempt from full disclosure requirements laid down in Part
Eight of the Capital Requirements Regulation (‘CRR’). As a significant subsidiary of an EU parent institution, it is
however subject to disclosure requirements in terms of article 13 of the CRR.
The Bank publishes these disclosures on an annual basis as part of the Annual Report. As outlined in the
requirements of banking regulations, these disclosures are not subject to an external audit, except to the
extent that any disclosures are equivalent to those made in the Financial Statements, which have been prepared
in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) as adopted by the EU. The Bank,
through its internal verification procedures, is satisfied that these ARDs are presented fairly.

2.

Capital management
Given that the Bank is licensed to undertake the business of banking, it is obliged to comply with the relevant
capital requirements emanating from the CRR and local regulations modelled on the requirements of the Capital
Requirements Directive (‘CRD’).
In conjunction with the Bank’s objectives, the Board maintains the efficient management of the Bank’s capital
as one of its top priorities, by striving to take on risk commensurate with its risk appetite which should be
sufficient to comply with regulatory capital requirements.

2.1.

Own funds
The Bank’s available capital and reserves for the purposes of capital adequacy is represented by the Bank’s
Own funds. In July 2013, the European Banking Authority (‘EBA’) issued its final draft Implementing Technical
Standards (‘ITS’) on own funds disclosures. The disclosure requirements of these technical standards have been
integrated within the Bank’s disclosures set out below.
For regulatory purposes, the Bank’s capital base is divided into Common Equity Tier 1 (‘CET1’) capital and Tier 2
capital.

2014
No. of
shares
000s

¤000

50,000

50,000

32,500

32,500

Authorised
Ordinary shares of ¤1.00 each

Issued
Ordinary shares of ¤1.00 each

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at meetings of the Bank. All shares rank equally with regard to the Bank’s residual assets.
(b) Retained earnings
The retained earnings represent earnings not paid out as dividends. Interim profits form part of Own funds
only if those profits have been verified by the Bank’s independent external auditor. The Bank may only make
distributions out of profits available for this purpose. Since the Bank has accumulated losses, any interim profits
recognised during the year are considered undistributable. Accordingly, while accumulated losses are deducted
in full from the Bank’s own funds, interim profits form part of Own funds only if those profits have been verified
by the Bank’s independent external auditor.
Retained earnings include an amount of ¤3,509,000 (2013: ¤2,736,000) pledged in favour of the Depositor
Compensation Scheme as at 31 December 2014, that are not available to the Bank for unrestricted and immediate
use to cover risk of losses as soon as they occur. The Depositor Compensation Scheme Reserve is excluded for
the purposes of the Own Funds calculation.
(c) Reserve for general banking risks
The Bank is required to allocate funds to this reserve in accordance with the revised Banking Rule BR/09:
‘Measures Addressing Credit Risks Arising from the Assessment of the Quality of Asset Portfolios of Credit
Institutions authorised under the Banking Act, 1994’.

The Bank’s CET1 capital includes the following items:
• ordinary share capital;
• retained earnings;
• reserve for general banking risks; and
• other regulatory adjustments relating to items that are included in equity but are treated differently for
capital adequacy purposes, including the treatment of deferred tax assets, deductions relating to amounts
pledged in favour of the Depositor Compensation Scheme and deductions relating to intangible assets.
The Bank’s Tier 2 capital consists of:
• subordinated loan capital;
• a revaluation reserve made up of gains on the fair valuation of available-for-sale financial assets, net of
deferred taxation; and
• other regulatory adjustments under Article 484 relating to grandfathered items.
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2.

Capital management (continued)

2.1

Own funds (continued)
The Reserve for general banking risks refers to the amount allocated by the Bank from its retained earnings, to
a non-distributable reserve against potential risks linked to the Bank’s non-performing loans and advances. The
allocation to this reserve shall occur over a three year period, of which the Bank already allocated 40% during
the financial year ended 2013 and 30% during the period under review. The Bank will be allocating a further 30%
during the financial year ending 31 December 2015. In terms of the revised Banking Rule BR/09 published by the
MFSA, during the year ended 31 December 2014 the Bank allocated an amount of ¤446,000 to the Reserve for
General Banking Risks as a Pillar 2 measure.

2.

Capital management (continued)

2.1

Own funds (continued)
As described in the new regulations published by the European Commission, banks are required to
complete a transitional disclosure template during the phasing in of regulatory adjustments from 1
January 2014 to 31 December 2017. The transitional disclosure template is set out below.
As at 31
December 2014
¤000

(d) Revaluation reserve
This represents the cumulative net change in fair values of available-for-sale financial assets held by the Bank,
net of related deferred tax effects. The revaluation reserve is not available for distribution.
(e) Subordinated loan capital
On 30 August 2012, the Bank had issued ¤5,000,000 10% unlisted subordinated unsecured bonds, which had been
fully subscribed by Banif S.A. They are included as part of Tier 2 capital as they fully qualify for the provisions
of Article 63 of the CRR. This loan capital is governed by Portuguese law, ranks after all other creditors and are
redeemable at par on 30 August 2017. Thus, the amortised amount is included as part of the Bank’s Own funds.

Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital
Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital: instruments and reserves
Capital instruments and the related share premium accounts
Retained earnings

32,500
(13,992)

Funds for general banking risk

471

Accumulated other comprehensive income (and other reserves)

319

CET1 capital before regulatory adjustments

19,298

Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital: regulatory adjustments
Intangible assets
Deferred tax assets that rely on future profitability excluding those arising from
temporary differences (net of related tax liability where the conditions in
Article 38 (3) are met)

(1,071)

(574)

Total regulatory adjustments to CET1

(1,646)

CET1 capital

17,653

Tier 2 capital
Capital instruments and subordinated loans

2,667

Transitional adjustments to tier 2 capital

1,843

Total Tier 2 capital

4,510

Total risk weighted assets

264,179

Capital ratios
CET1 capital

6.68%

Tier 1 capital

6.68%

Total capital

8.39%
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2.

Capital management (continued)

2.

Capital management (continued)

2.2

Capital requirements

2.2

Capital requirements (continued)

The Bank’s policy is to actively manage its capital base to cover risks inherent in the business and at the
same time to support the development of the business, to maximise shareholders’ value and to meet all the
regulatory requirements. Capital management is monitored by the Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO). The
Bank manages its capital structure and adjusts it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of its activities.

The Bank’s capital requirements and capital adequacy ratio computation is as follows:
Exposure
value
¤000

Risk weighted
assets
¤000

Capital
required
¤000

49,805

-

-

750

375

30

Institutions

166,741

1,730

138

Corporates

19,835

15,792

1,263

Retail

61,585

34,588

2,767

301,114

147,446

11,796

At 31 December 2014
The Bank is required to maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to risk-weighted assets (Total capital ratio)
above the prescribed minimum level of 8%.

Central governments or Central banks

Pillar 1 capital requirements are based on standard rules and set the minimum own funds requirements to cover
credit risk, market risk and operational risk of credit institutions. The Bank uses the Standardised Approach for
credit risk, the Basic Indicator Approach for operational risk and the Basic Method with respect to market risk,
in relation to the Bank’s foreign exchange risk. Under the Standardised Approach, the Bank utilises risk weights
determined by exposure class, credit risk mitigation and credit ratings as outlined in the CRR. Capital charge
for foreign exchange risk using the Basic Method is calculated at 8% of the higher of the sum of all the net
short positions and the sum of all the net long positions in each foreign currency. The Basic Indicator Approach
requires that the Bank allocates capital for operational risk by taking 15% of the average gross income.

Public sector entities

Items associated with particularly high risk

12,165

16,573

1,326

The Bank will be fully implementing the CRD IV capital requirements with effect from January 2019. In fact, the
new Banking Rule BR/15: ‘Capital Buffers of Credit Institutions authorised under the Banking Act, 1994’, will
require two additional buffers, known as the ‘capital conservation buffer’ and the ‘countercyclical buffer’. With
respect to the former, the Bank will be required to maintain a capital conservation buffer of 2.5%, made up of
CET1 capital, on the risk weighted exposures of the Bank as from 1 January 2019. This buffer will be phased in
over the period from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2018.

Exposures in default

10,009

10,045

804

Other items

19,615

17,537

1,403

641,619

244,086

19,527

19,788

1,583

Additionally, the Bank may be required to maintain a ‘countercyclical buffer’. This is expected to be set in the
range of 0-2.5%, whereby the rate shall consist of the weighted average of the ‘countercyclical buffer’ rates that
apply in the jurisdiction where the relevant exposures are located. However, given that the Bank’s exposures
are mainly contained within Malta, this buffer is expected to be marginal, since the deviation of Malta’s creditto-GDP ratio is not expected to be significant taking cognisance of its long-term trend.

Foreign exchange risk

305

24

264,179

21,134

Secured by mortgages on immovable property

Credit risk
Operational risk

Total capital required
Own funds
Common Equity Tier 1
Tier 2
Total own funds
Total capital ratio

17,653
4,510
22,163
8.39%

During the period under review, the Bank continued to manage its business and capital base diligently,
withstanding the regulatory minimum requirement of 8% by a narrow margin, with the exception of the ratio as
at 30 June 2014. In view of unexpected growth in loans and advances during the month of June, as at 30 June
2014 the Bank’s Total Capital Ratio was 7.93% i.e. below the 8% mark for the first time since commencement
of operations. The Bank’s management took immediate corrective action throughout July 2014 and the Total
Capital Ratio was 8.12% as at 31 July 2014.
The Bank is working on a strategy to move away from its regulatory marginality in order to achieve comfortable
capital adequacy ratios which would enable it to shift to higher profitability and a capital position which would
be well in excess of regulatory floors. The Bank’s parent, with the assistance of its investment banking arm in
Portugal, has embarked on a competitive bidding process to invite all prospective investors that have expressed
interest in investing in the Bank to put forward their formal offers. This process should lead to the identification
of a new controlling shareholder that stands ready to inject capital into the Bank to enable it to exceed regulatory
requirements comfortably.
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2.

Capital management (continued)

2.

Capital management (continued)

2.2

Capital requirements (continued)

2.3

Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (‘ICAAP’) (continued)

In the meantime, the Bank´s Management will continue to undertake initiatives and actions to ensure that
the Bank’s ability to realise its assets and to discharge its liabilities is not put in doubt until the capitalisation
process is concluded.

2.3

Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (‘ICAAP’)
In order to comply with Pillar 2 requirements emanating from MFSA Banking Rule BR/12 as well as to better
manage its overall risk-taking activities, the Bank has continued to monitor other risks not adequately covered
under Pillar 1 with a view to determine the necessary economic capital allocation through the ICAAP.
The ICAAP review exercise is supported through formal documentation, complete with the detailed description of
all calculations performed, as well as assumptions and methodologies used in the process. This documentation
is subject to internal validation by the different areas involved in ICAAP formulation and endorsed by the Chief
Executive Officer.
The Bank formally reviews it's ICAAP Report annually or more frequently from time to time in abridged format
intended for internal use relating to solvency risk monitoring.
Throughout the year, the Bank continued to fine-tune procedures to ensure the adequacy of existing processes,
the definition of control mechanisms and the development of new risk management practices.
For the material risk types identified in the ICAAP process, the risk quantification methodologies that were
chosen took into consideration their adequacy in light of the risk management techniques in place and the
availability of relevant information. The following risk types were considered material:
i.
credit risk;
ii.
liquidity risk;
iii.
interest rate risk;
iv.
position risk on the Bank’s trading book
v.
operational risk;
vi.
IT risk;
vii. strategy risk;
viii. compliance risk;
ix.
reputational risk;
x.
concentration risk; and
xi.
business risk.

From the risk quantification exercise in the 2014 ICAAP, the top three of the eleven risk types identified above
were credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk; in aggregate these three risks constituted 71.8% (2013:
73.1%) of the overall economic capital allocation of the Bank. In line with expectations, credit risk consumed
the highest share of economic capital given that since January 2008, the Bank has strived to develop a sound
loan book through organic growth. As in 2013, Interest Rate Risk remained the second largest risk, attributable
largely to term structure risk, i.e. the possibility of a re-calibration of general interest rates in Malta relative to
rates prevailing in Europe (mainly the Euribor), hypothetically resulting in a downward pressure on local base
rates against interest paid on time deposits which can only be revised once such deposits mature in accordance
with time buckets defined by residual term to maturity across the deposit portfolio. Liquidity risk was the third
most capital intensive risk, which is largely attributable to an assumed higher adverse scenario for the Bank’s
cost of funding spread in its latest ICAAP.
The Bank’s Board of Directors sustains that the ICAAP exercise carried out covered all material risks in order to
determine the capital requirement over a three-year time horizon.
The following actively participate in the Bank’s ICAAP review exercise:
• Board of Directors through its executive arm the Executive Committee;
• Internal Control Department – Risk Management Unit; and
• Banif Financial Group’s Risk Function
The ICAAP process and the final document has been independently followed and evaluated by the Internal Control
Department – Internal Audit Unit of the Bank.

The economic capital calculation was carried out taking into consideration a 99.9% confidence level, in line with
the confidence level used in the quantification exercise done by Banif S.A. The Group maintained the same general
methodology as in previous ICAAP exercises, amidst the still challenging economic scenario characterised by
weak economic growth within the Eurozone and the threat of deflation in a number of Eurozone member states.
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3.

Credit Risk

3.1

Introduction to Credit risk

3.

Credit risk (continued)

3.2

Credit risk management (continued)

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to fulfil the terms of his/her obligations when due. In
view of the nature of its business, the Bank’s financial assets are inherently and predominantly subject to
credit risk. Thus, management has put in place internal control systems to evaluate, approve and monitor credit
risks relating to both investment and loan portfolios.

The table below reflects the Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit
enhancements in accordance with the regulatory information submitted to the MFSA, as follows:
2014

2014

Average exposure

Year end
exposure value

¤000

¤000

38,516

49,805

188

750

Institutions

189,675

166,741

Corporates

16,365

19,835

The Bank’s credit risk arises from various components of the statement of financial position, namely amounts
due from banks, loans and advances to customers and investment in debt securities.

3.2

Credit risk management
Lending decisions should achieve a reasonable balance between risks and returns of extending credit to a
customer. A credit authorisation structure, made up of four physical credit committee levels; ranging from Level
1, which includes authorisation by a Branch Manager, an Area Manager and an officer from the Credit Analysis
Unit, to the highest level, being Level 4, at which the Executive Committee is in place. Each credit committee level
is assigned a sanctioning limit, under which it can operate within specific guidelines. Within its discretionary
limit, a credit committee can approve new credit, increase, reduce or otherwise amend the terms and conditions
of existing facilities and simply renew existing facilities without altering the terms and conditions of sanction.
A credit committee has the onus to make sure that the facility carries acceptable credit risk and meets credit
rating requirements. Lending is not based on the existence of collateral but on the customer’s perceived ability
to repay the exposure from the primary repayment source. At the same time, the existence of security acts as
a fall back option available in case of need. The Bank makes sure that the security held is perfected. Facilities
are generally adequately secured either by cash, financial assets, property and/or guarantees and generally
reviewed periodically. In a facility review, the Bank makes an analysis of a number of factors such as: the
customer profile, the credit quality, non-financial considerations, adherence to internal policies and procedures
and the present and future profitability of the relationship.

Central Government or central banks
Public sector entities

Retail exposures

61,622

61,585

310,330

301,114

Items associated with particular high risk

3,041

12,165

Exposures in default

8,855

10,009

23,415

19,615

652,007

641,619

Secured by mortgages on immovable property

Other items
Total

The residual maturity breakdown by exposure class at year-end was as follows:

The Bank manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it is willing to accept for
individual counterparties and for industry concentrations, and by monitoring exposures in relation to such
limits.
During January 2014, the Bank implemented its three new credit policies relating to personal credit, business
credit and credit risk mitigation, which were extensively reviewed in 2013 in order to enhance the Bank’s sound
internal control mechanism.

At 31 December 2014

Central Government or central banks

The Bank rigorously applies a credit quality review process to provide early identification of possible changes in
the creditworthiness of counterparties, including regular revisions to collateral.

Public sector entities

Over 1 but
less than 5
years

Over 5
years

No maturity

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

49,805

-

1,093

22,625

26,087

750

750

-

-

-

Institutions

166,741

166,741

-

-

-

Corporates

19,835

12,518

2,901

4,416

-

Retail exposures

61,585

31,658

18,136

11,791

-

301,114

31,603

20,837

248,674

-

Items associated with particular high risk

12,165

4,315

6,565

1,285

-

Exposures in default

10,009

5,826

905

3,278

-

Other items

19,615

2,072

1,826

9,955

5,762

641,619

255,483

52,263

302,024

31,849

Secured by mortgages on immovable
property

Total

3.3

Total

Less than
1 year

Credit concentration risk
Within the Bank, concentration risk is the risk of losses resulting from inadequate diversification of the credit
exposures. This risk is managed by setting risk concentration limits for counterparties and industry sectors,
mainly in relation to loans and advances to customers. The Bank’s geographical concentration risk is not deemed
to be significant in view of the fact that the Bank’s exposures are mainly in Malta, the country in which the
Bank’s operations are conducted, as well as in Portugal due to the Bank’s relationship with its parent Banif S.A.
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3.

Credit risk (continued)

3.

Credit Risk (continued)

3.3

Credit concentration risk (continued)

3.3

Credit concentration risk (continued)

3.3.1 Credit concentration risk analysed by counterparty
In terms of Part Four of the CRR ‘Large Exposures’, the total amount of exposures which exceeded 10% of
eligible capital represented 18.1% of the total loan portfolio as at end of 2014 (2013: 12.6%). These exposures are
strictly monitored by management and every reasonable step is taken to reduce this concentration and spread
risk over a wider customer base with further growth in the loan portfolio.

3.3.2 Credit concentration risk analysed by industry sector
An industry sector analysis of the Bank’s exposure amounts split by exposure class is shown in the following table:
At 31 December 2014

The maximum on-balance sheet credit exposure to any client, group of connected clients or counterparty as at
31 December 2014 amounted to ¤5,655,000 (2013: ¤5,907,000) before taking account of collateral or other credit
enhancements.
Within its daily operations, the Bank transacts with counterparty banks and other financial institutions. By
conducting these transactions, the Bank is running the risk of losing funds due to the possible delays in the
repayment of existing and future obligations by counterparty banks. To mitigate this risk, the Bank places
short-term funds solely with pre-approved counterparties subject to pre-established limits determined on the
basis of the respective institution’s credit rating as well as with its parent. The positions are checked against
the limits on a daily basis and in real time.
As prescribed in article 400(2)(c), in light of the fact that both the parent and the Bank are subject to prudential
supervision on a consolidated basis, the Bank’s exposure arising from placements with its parent is exempt
from limits to large exposures outlined in article 395(1) of the CRR. Similarly, the Bank invests in debt securities
issued by Maltese and Portuguese government. Given that these exposures attract a 0% risk weight, they are
also exempt from large exposure limits.

Total

Manufacturing

Financial
services

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

49,805

-

-

-

-

-

49,805

750

-

-

-

-

-

750

Institutions

166,741

-

166,741

-

-

-

-

Corporates

19,835

-

1,554

-

1,725

4,982

11,574

Retail exposures

61,585

2,631

1,432

35,894

3,535

7,667

10,426

of which: SME

21,632

2,528

-

-

3,372

6,837

8,895

301,114

10,633

9,503

204,054

18,825

21,592

36,507

76,592

9,755

-

-

16,354

18,411

32,072

12,165

-

-

-

7,981

-

4,184

9,844

-

-

-

7,981

-

1,863

Exposures in default

10,009

1,429

-

1,964

278

1,418

4,920

Other items

19,615

-

19,615

-

-

-

-

641,619

14,693

198,845

241,912

32,344

35,659

118,166

Central Government or
central banks
Public sector entities

Secured by mortgages on
immovable property
of which: SME
Items associated with
particular high risk
of which: SME

Total

Households
Wholesale
and individuals Construction and retail

Other
sectors
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3.

Credit Risk (continued)

3.

Credit Risk (continued)

3.3

Credit concentration risk (continued)

3.4

Credit quality (continued)

3.4.2 Loans and advances to customers

3.3.3 Credit concentration risk analysed by geographical region
The geographical concentration of the Bank’s exposure classes as at the end of the reporting period are
analysed in the following table.

The credit quality of loans and advances is managed by the Bank using internal credit ratings. The Bank applies
a 12-step internal rating system (‘IRS’) which encapsulates the risk profile associated with each and every
lending relationship on its banking book.

At 31 December 2014

The IRS comprises 12 credit rating levels which constitute a continuum of progressively increasing risk profiles
ranging from A1 (best rating, least risky) to E (loss, worst case representing full risk materialisation). The
rating of every lending relationship (including groups of connected customers), is an important tool that helps
management to identify both non-performing exposures and the better-performing borrowing customers.

Malta

Portugal

¤000

¤000

¤000

49,805

40,466

9,339

750

750

Institutions

166,741

206

166,063

Corporates

19,835

18,936

899

Retail exposures

61,585

61,366

2

301,114

299,840

Items associated with particular high risk

12,165

6,344

Exposures in default

10,009

9,829

-

Other items

19,615

19,615

-

641,619

457,352

Central Government or central banks
Public sector entities

Secured by mortgages on immovable property

Total

3.4

Total

-

5,821

182,124

Other
¤000
-

The Bank’s IRS categorises exposures as follows:

•

472
217
1,274
180
2,143

Credit quality

3.4.1 Balances with banks and debt securities
The Bank holds debt securities that are issued by local government and by the Portuguese government, having
a BBB+ and BB rating respectively, based on S&P’s ratings. The debt securities held by the Bank are listed on the
Malta Stock Exchange and Lisbon Stock Exchange, both of which are recognised investment exchanges in their
respective countries.
Through its daily operations, the Bank also transacts with various counterparty banks, with which the Bank
places short-term funds and enters into foreign exchange derivative transactions subject to limits in place
and subject to the respective institution’s credit rating being within controlled parameters. In this light, the
Bank runs the risk of losing funds due to possible delays in the repayment to the Bank of the existing and
future obligations of the counterparty banks. Management monitors its exposures with counterparty banks on
a daily basis and intervenes, if deemed necessary, to adjust exposures within the controlled parameters. At 31
December 2014, loans and advances to banks mainly consisted of money market placements maturing within
one month.

•

Performing
• High Grade (Internal rating of A1 to A3)
• Standard (Internal rating of B)
• Substandard (Internal rating of C)
Non-performing
• Doubtful (Internal rating of D1 to D6 and E)

High Grade
A customer having an internal risk rating between A1 to A3 generally would not have any interest and/or capital
payments overdue by more than 30 days. Also, no recent history of default would exist. Moreover, the Bank does
not foresee any losses or non-performance of these customers.
Standard
Loans and advances classified within this category, and thus having an internal risk rating of B, relate to those
customers for which the Bank starts to pay more attention to, generally having interest and/or capital payments
past due by more than 30 days but less than 60 days.
Substandard
Customers having an internal risk rating of C, thus classified within the ‘Substandard’ category, generally have
interest and/or capital payments overdue by more than 60 days but not overdue by more than 90 days. In this
light, such loans and advances would have inherent weaknesses that could risk the repayment of the debt, and
thus a greater probability of losses for the Bank.
Doubtful
Loans and advances within this category relate to those facilities which the Bank considers the repayment of
the principal as improbable as a result of deteriorating conditions. These loans and advances generally are past
due by more than 90 days and include those customers which are assessed specifically for impairment by the
Bank, in accordance with the requirements of IFRSs as adopted by the EU.

The counterparty banks with which funds are held are credit rated BB or above based on S&P ratings.
At the end of the reporting period, none of the financial assets mentioned above were past due or impaired.
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3.

Credit Risk (continued)

3.4

Credit quality (continued)

3.

Credit Risk (continued)

3.4

Credit quality (continued)

3.4.2 Loans and advances to customers (continued)

3.4.2 Loans and advances to customers (continued)
The table below analyses the credit quality of the Bank’s loans and advances to customers according to its IRS:
2014
¤000

The following table presents a reconciliation of changes in the specific and collective impairment allowances
of the Bank.
Specific impairment
allowances

Gross loans and advances
High Grade
Standard
Substandard
Doubtful

Total

Manufacturing

Households
and individuals

Construction

Wholesale
and retail

Other

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

At beginning of year

2,233

70

1,047

36

38

1,042

3,451

Additions

1,965

25

849

6

857

228

21,032

Reversals

(615)

-

(305)

(5)

(38)

(267)

At 31 December 2014

3,583

95

1,591

37

857

1,003

Collective impairment
allowances

Total

Manufacturing

Households
and individuals

Construction

Wholesale
and retail

340,513
19,045

384,041
The Bank reviews all credit exposures on a case by case basis and also on a collective basis, if the exposure is
not deemed individually impaired, in order to consider the likelihood that the Bank may be exposed to losses on
loans and advances and with a view to taking early recovery action.
Impaired loans and advances are advances which the Bank has determined as probable that it will be unable to
collect all principal and interest due according to the contractual terms of the loans and advances agreement(s).

At 1 January 2014

Other

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

1,834

131

940

187

211

365

The individually impaired loans and advances mainly relate to a number of independent customers which are
not meeting repayment obligations or deemed by the Bank as unlikely to pay their obligations to the Bank
without recourse by the Bank to realising the collateral.

At 1 January 2014

Each year, the Bank estimates an impairment allowance for any possible incurred losses within its lending
portfolio.

Additions

985

37

445

86

173

244

Reversals

(515)

(37)

(290)

(70)

(44)

(74)

2,304

131

1,095

203

340

535

The Bank performs an assessment for the calculation of specific provisions when a review of credit facilities
reveals that the creditworthiness of a borrower has undergone a significant deterioration and that, as a result,
recovery of a credit facility is in serious doubt. The Bank makes an assessment for specific impairment for those
credit facilities being overdue by 90 days and provides if there is a shortfall. The shortfall or surplus is calculated
as the difference between the individual loans’ carrying amounts and the present value of future cashflows,
discounted at the loans’ original effective interest rate. The calculation of the present value of estimated future
cashflows takes into account the estimated time to liquidation of the collateral, the costs involved in obtaining
and selling the collateral, as well as an appropriate haircut on the market value of the collateral.

At beginning of year

At 31 December 2014

The Bank assumes that all its exposures are individually significant. Accordingly, allowances are assessed
collectively for individually significant loans and advances where there is not yet objective evidence of individual
impairment.
Financial guarantees and letters of credit are assessed and provision is made in a similar manner as for loans.
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‘It is in the
compelling zest
of high adventure
and of victory, and
in creative action,
that man finds his
supreme joys.’
Antoine de Saint-Exupery

\

Alfred Ferrante
Branch Manager, Retail Banking Unit
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3.

Credit Risk (continued)

3.

Credit Risk (continued)

3.4

Credit quality (continued)

3.5

Collateral and other credit enhancements

3.4.2 Loans and advances to customers (continued)
Past due but not impaired loans include loans and advances where contractual interest or principal payments
are past due, but the Bank believes that impairment is not appropriate based on the stage of collection of
amounts owed to the Bank. Related credit losses, which may arise, are partly covered through the Bank’s
assessment for collective impairment allowances.
Loans and advances to customers are analysed into impaired, past due and other exposures as follows:

The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. The
Bank’s Board establishes a policy regarding the acceptability of types of collateral and valuation parameters.
The main types of collateral obtained are as follows:
• For corporate lending, charges over real estate properties, cash or securities;
• For retail lending (including home loans and consumer credit), mortgages over residential properties,
cash or securities; and
• For exposures arising from reverse repurchase transactions, a pledge on liquid sovereign debt securities.

2014
¤000

The Bank’s exposures arising from derivative transactions are considered marginal by the Bank. Accordingly,
the Bank does not obtain credit risk mitigants and hence does not make use of netting agreements.

Impaired

11,387

Past due but not impaired

21,153

Management monitors the market value of collateral obtained during its review of the adequacy of the allowance
for impairment losses, and requests additional collateral in accordance with the underlying agreement when
necessary.

Gross loans and advances to customers

Neither past due nor impaired

351,501
384,041

The following table analyses the impaired and the past due but not impaired gross loans and advances to
customers by industry sector.
Past due but
Impaired

not impaired

¤000

¤000

Manufacturing

1,294

3,857

Households and individuals

4,891

6,639

39

1,078

Wholesale and retail

2,037

3,315

Other sectors

3,126

6,264

11,387

21,153

It is the Bank’s policy to dispose of properties acquired through judicial action in an orderly fashion. The proceeds
are used to reduce or repay the outstanding claim. In general, the Bank does not occupy properties acquired
through judicial action for business use.
The table below represents for each exposure class, the total exposure value that is covered by eligible collateral,
analysed into Residential immovable property, Commercial immovable property and Other eligible collateral. In
the case of exposure secured by mortgage on immovable property, the value is limited to 70% of the market
value of the property or the motgage lending value of the property in the case of residential property, and 50% of
the market value of the property or 60% of the motgage lending value of the property in the case of commercial
property. The Bank also holds other eligible collateral classified as funded credit protection, such as cash and life
insurance policies, as well as liquid soverign debt securities held as pledge on reverse repurchase transactions,
for which the Bank assigns a 0% risk weight when calculating its risk weighted assets in accordance with
Article 222(4).

Gross loans and advances by industry

Construction

The Bank’s impaired and past due but not impaired loans and advances to customers were primarily concentrated
in Malta.
The Bank writes off loan or advance balances (and any related allowances for impairment losses) when it
determines that these are uncollectible. This decision is reached after considering information such as the
occurrence of significant changes in the borrower’s financial position such that the borrower can no longer pay
the obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure.
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3.

Credit Risk (continued)

4.

Remuneration policy (continued)

3.5

Collateral and other credit enhancements (continued)

4.2

Executive Committee
The Board feels that the current Executive Committee has the necessary skills and qualities to manage the
affairs of the Bank and considers the packages offered to its members sufficient to ensure that the Bank
attracts and retains senior staff capable of fulfilling their duties. The Bank’s policy remains to engage these
officials on an indefinite contract of employment, following a period of probation. All contracts are in line with
the relevant legislation, with all terms and conditions being specified in the said contracts of employment.

Immovable property
At 31 December 2014

Total
exposure
value
¤000

Central governments or Central banks

Residential
immovable
property
¤000

Commercial
immovable
property

Other
eligible
collateral

¤000

¤000

Residual
value
¤000

49,805

-

-

-

49,805

750

-

-

-

750

Institutions

166,741

-

-

(165,000)

1,741

Corporates

19,835

(116)

(3,249)

(1,172)

15,298

Retail exposures

61,585

-

-

(12,267)

49,318

301,114

(210,433)

(65,293)

-

25,388

Public sector entities

Secured by mortgages on immovable
property
Items associated with particularly
high risk

12,165

(1,348)

(6,844)

-

3,973

Exposures in default

10,009

(4,635)

(4,069)

(29)

1,276

Other items

19,615

-

-

-

19,615

Total

4.

641,619

(216,532)

(79,455)

(178,468)

167,164

Remuneration policy
Having taken into consideration the size of the Bank, the non-complex elements of its operations and internal
structure as well as the current composition of the Board of Directors, the Board has considered that it is not
necessary to establish a Remuneration Committee. This decision will be reviewed in the event of material changes
to the underlying reasons for this decision, as well as on an annual basis. Therefore, the Board of Directors
performs the functions of the Remuneration Committee, and accordingly determines the remuneration policy
applicable to its employee as well as the Bank’s ‘Identified Staff’ in terms of Commission Delegated Regulation
604/2014, which comprise the members of the Executive Committee, all of which are executive directors, as well
as the Chairman and the non-executive directors of the Bank.

4.1

Board of Directors
The Bank’s Chairman and non-executive Directors are not eligible to receive a performance incentive. Accordingly,
none of these directors were entitled to profit sharing, share options, pension benefits, variable remuneration
or any other remuneration or related payments in their capacity as directors of the Bank. The fees paid to nonexecutive Board members during 2014 amounted to ¤79,984, which are analysed as follows:

Annual salary increases, which are not performance related, are considered every year for the Executive
Committee members, together with annual bonuses, which are generally based on the individual performance
during the previous financial year. Any bonus payments made to Executive Committee members do not exceed
100% of their fixed component of total remuneration for each individual.
Share options, share incentive schemes and profit sharing do not feature in the Bank’s Remuneration policy,
and the Executive Committee members’ contracts of employment do not contain provisions for termination
payments and/or other payments linked to early termination, other than those determined by the Law. Moreover,
no pension benefits are currently payable by the Bank.
Non-cash benefits include health insurance as well as death-in-service benefits.
Total emoluments received by Executive Committee members during the period ended 31 December 2014
amounted to ¤315,827, split as follows:

5.

Fixed remuneration

Variable remuneration

¤284,653

¤59,040

Leverage
With the introduction of the CRR, a new supervisory tool was introduced requiring credit institutions to calculate
a non-risk based leverage ratio, in addition to the risk-based capital requirements discussed above. The leverage
ratio measures the relationship between the Bank’s capital resources and its total assets. The introduction of
this supervisory tool is aimed at preventing build-up of excessive leverage, one of the causes of the banking
crisis in 2008.
The leverage ratio is calculated on a three-month average of capital as a proportion of total exposures. Capital
is defined as Tier 1 capital in line with article 25 of the CRR, whilst total exposure relates to the total on and offbalance sheet exposures, less deductions applied to Tier 1 capital.
The initial implementation of the current leverage ratio regime is to be effected as a Pillar 2 measure. The
Commission is expected to present a report by 31 December 2016 on the impact and effectiveness of the
leverage ratio to the European Parliament and the Council, which would eventually lead to the introduction of
the leverage ratio as a binding measure as of 2018. The Bank does not currently comply with the minimum 3%
Tier 1 leverage ratio based on fully-transitioned Basel III standards.

¤
Michael Frendo - Chairman

41,300

Edward Cachia Caruana

12,728

Kenneth Mizzi

7,500

Maurice Mizzi

9,228

Mark Portelli

9,228

Total Directors’ fees

79,984
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5.

Leverage (continued)

5.

However, as described under section 2.2, the Bank is currently undertaking a competitive bidding process to
identify a new controlling shareholder, which is expected to increase the Bank’s Core Equity Tier 1 capital by
injecting new capital into the Bank, thus enhancing the Bank’s leverage ratio. Until the capitalisation process is
finalised, the Bank is focusing on achieving financial projections for the year ending 31 December 2015 which
reflect defined actions to manage the key components in the Bank’s balance sheet. The main objective is to
utilise the existing amount of capital in the most efficient manner without compromising the intended risk
return relationship that the Bank has set.
The table shown below represents the amounts making up the leverage ratio exposures.
2014
¤000
On-balance sheet exposures (excluding derivatives, SFTs and intangible assets)
On-balance sheet items (excluding derivatives, SFTs and intangible assets)
Asset amounts deducted in determining Tier 1 capital
On-balance sheet exposures (excluding derivatives and intangible assets)

Leverage (continued)
The following table provides a reconciliation of accounting assets and leverage ratio exposures.
2014
¤000
Total assets as per published financial statements
Adjustment for off-balance sheet items

619,069
24,100

Other adjustments
Deduction for intangible assets
Leverage ratio exposure

(1,071)
642,098

452,396
(1,071)

The table below shows the different on balance sheet exposures in relation to the calculation of the leverage
ratio.

451,325
2014
¤000

Derivative exposures
Exposure determined under Original Exposure Method

1,673

Exposures treated as sovereigns

Securities financing transaction exposures
SFT exposure according to Article 222 of Regulation (EU) No. 575/2013

Total on-balance sheet exposures (excluding derivatives, SFTs and
intangible assets), of which:

165,000

Institutions
Secured by mortgages of immovable property

Off-balance sheet exposures
Off-balance sheet exposures at gross notional amount
Adjustments for conversion to credit equivalent amounts
Off-balance sheet exposures

71,131
(47,031)

451,325
52,726
1,745
304,959

Retail exposures

47,118

Corporate

15,843

Exposures in default

10,009

Other exposures

18,925

24,100

Capital and Total Exposures
Tier 1 capital
Total exposures

17,653
642,098

Leverage ratios
End of quarter leverage ratio

2.8%

Leverage ratio (average of monthly leverage ratios over the quarter)

2.4%

Choice on transitional arrangements and amount derecognised fiduciary items
Choice on transitional arrangements for the definition of the capital measure

Fully-phased in
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FIVE YEAR SUMMARY

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY - continued

Statements of Financial Position
As at 31 December

ASSETS
Balances with Central Bank of Malta and cash

Income Statements
For the year ended 31 December
2014

2013

2012

2011

2010

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

29,008

93,898

7,119

7,771

6,607

2,097

1,642

3,386

4,323

1,737

21,464

16,254

22,405

32,617

4,179

-

-

500

-

-

2,254

1,900

1,132

22,290

-

Loans and advances to banks

166,745

121,645

107,622

127,780

276,543

Loans and advances to customers

378,154

342,341

320,048

259,179

155,764

Property and equipment

8,062

7,587

6,369

6,441

5,470

Intangible assets

1,071

899

664

728

620

Deferred tax asset

4,561

5,230

5,386

5,461

5,283

899

625

3

109

314

Cheques in course of collection
Financial investments held-for-trading
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial investments available-for-sale

Derivative financial instruments
Prepayments and accrued income

2,091

1,954

1,934

3,533

1,768

Other assets

2,663

2,305

2,128

122

356

TOTAL ASSETS

619,069

596,280

478,696

470,354

458,641

32,500

32,500

32,500

32,500

25,000

2014

2013

2012

2011

2010

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

22,899

20,291

16,384

10,823

6,760

256

328

789

-

3,060

283

567

-

Interest receivable and similar income

-

on loans and advances and balances
with the Central Bank of Malta

-

on debt securities classified as
loans and receivables

-

on debt and other fixed income instruments

Interest payable and similar expense

102
(14,260)

(15,480)

(10,196)

(5,996)

(3,449)

Net interest income

8,741

8,127

6,799

6,183

3,311

Fees and commission income

2,704

2,204

1,781

1,597

1,022

Fees and commission expense

(588)

(510)

(433)

(342)

(216)

Net fees and commission income

2,116

1,694

1,348

1,255

806

Net trading income and other income

3,071

2,102

2,604

1,359

1,009

Net operating income

13,928

12,113

10,751

8,797

5,126

Employee compensation and benefits

(5,287)

(5,162)

(4,735)

(4,349)

(3,712)

Other administrative expenses

(4,538)

(4,650)

(4,197)

(3,690)

(4,182)

Depreciation of property and equipment

(540)

(471)

(461)

(467)

(485)

Amortisation of intangible assets

(341)

(258)

(206)

(224)

(128)

(1,820)

(1,319)

(902)

(820)

(670)

253

250

(753)

(4,051)

(544)

(129)

(77)

175

1,376

858

124

173

(578)

(2,675)

2c6

0c4

0c6

EQUITY
Share capital

(10,457)

(11,059)

(10,993)

(11,166)

(10,588)

Revaluation reserve

317

87

38

(4)

-

Reserve for General Banking Risks

446

190

-

-

-

Retained earnings

TOTAL EQUITY

22,806

21,718

21,545

21,330

14,412

LIABILITIES
Amounts owed to banks
Amounts owed to customers

214

5,999

13,844

181,518

6,000

579,203

554,007

430,996

261,873

433,679

840

192

51

34

216

Debt securities in issue

5,000

5,000

5,000

-

-

Other liabilities

4,722

2,686

2,388

2,787

2,332

Accruals and deferred income

6,284

6,678

4,872

2,812

2,002

TOTAL LIABILITIES

596,263

574,562

457,151

449,024

444,229

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

619,069

596,280

478,696

470,354

458,641

Contingent liabilities

11,536

8,101

7,311

4,905

5,159

Commitments

62,279

72,958

63,647

67,060

63,254

Derivative financial instruments

Net impairment losses
Profit before tax
Income tax (expense)/credit
Profit/(loss) for the year
Earnings per share

1,402

(2c1)

(10c7)

Memorandum items
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FIVE YEAR SUMMARY - continued

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY - continued

Statements of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December

Accounting Ratios
2014

2013

2012

2011

2010

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

¤000

25,548

22,586

18,289

13,152

6,858

(14,277)

(8,722)

(5,741)

(2,567)

1,776

3,791

(9,812)

(8,855)

Cash flows from operating activities
Interest, fees and commission received
Interest, fees and commission paid
Proceeds/cash losses from trading activities
Payments to employees and suppliers
Cash flows from operating profit before
changes in operating assets and liabilities

(15,494)
1,824
(9,836)

(332)
(7,817)

2,042

273

(356)

(836)

417

1,809

80,000

(80,000)

1

282

(40,965)

(26,584)

(65,578)

4,503

(738)

Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers

2012
%

2011
%

2010
%

2.25

2.03

2.25

1.87

1.12

1,015

1.73
76.87

1.77
87.02

2.01
89.28

1.86
99.24

1.85
165.96

(7,868)

Profit/(loss) before tax to total assets

0.22

0.04

0.05

(0.16)

(0.88)

(2,562)

Profit/(loss) before tax to equity

6.14

1.16

1.16

(3.53)

(28.11)

Proft/(loss) after tax to equity

3.76

0.57

0.80

(2.71)

(18.56)

2014

2013

2012

2011

2010

Shares in issue (millions)
Net assets per share (¤0 cents)

32.5
70

32.5
66

32.5
66

32.5
66

25
58

Profit/(loss) per share (¤0 cents)

2.64

0.38

0.63

(2.10)

(10.7)

Operating expenses to total assets
Cost to income ratio

(1,496)
15,181

(93,964)

3,333

3,123

3,808

(9,962)

(1,145)

1,069

995

(4,611)

Amounts owed to banks

(5,000)

(7,800)

Amounts owed to customers

25,196

123,011

2,210

366

65,315

13,122

Other loans and receivables
Other assets

2013
%

Net interest income and other operating income to
total assets

(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
Reserve deposit with Central Bank of Malta

2014
%

(96,947)
315

(Decrease)/increase in operating liabilities:

Other liabilities

Income tax paid
Net cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets
Financial investments available-for-sale
Financial investments held-for-trading
Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss
Interest received on available-for-sale
investments
Net cash flows used in investing activities

(1,447)
(14,732)

39,267

169,123

(171,806)

(650)
86,152

65,315

(26,467)

-

-

447

700

(239,276)

(2)

287,613

(3)

202,804
(2)

13,122

86,150

(239,279)

(2,122)
(528)
6,061

(388)
21,240
9,552

(1,711)
(22,294)
(27,742)

(569)
2,499

(500)

-

-

-

500

104

3,067

355

(4,982)

6,478

30,259

202,802

486

-

(51,261)

1,930

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from issue of preference shares

-

-

Proceeds from issue of debt securities

-

-

5,000

Net cash flows used in financing activities

-

-

5,000

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

60,333

19,600

121,409

(283,040)

204,732

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
year

129,889

110,289

(11,120)

271,920

67,188

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

190,222

129,889

110,289

(11,120)

271,920

-

7,500

-

-

7,500

-
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
SHAREHOLDING INFORMATION
The issued share capital stood at ¤32,500,000 as at 31 December 2013, made up of 32,500,000 (2013: 32,500,000) fully
paid up ordinary shares of ¤1 each.
The ordinary shares are held as follows:
No. of shares
Banif, S.A. (511 029 730)
PG Holdings Ltd (C 8569)
Virtu Investments Ltd (C 42860)
Mizzi Capital Projects Ltd (C 42406)
SAK Ltd (C 3240)

25,500,000
1,750,000
1,750,000
1,750,000
1,750,000
__________________

32,500,000
__________________

The percentage holdings stand as follows:
%
Banif, S.A. (511 029 730)
PG Holdings Ltd (C 8569)
Virtu Investments Ltd (C 42860)
Mizzi Capital Projects Ltd (C42406)
SAK Ltd (C 3240)

78.48%
5.38%
5.38%
5.38%
5.38%
________________

100%
________________

Each of the shareholders owning five point thirty-eight per centum (5.38%) of the ordinary issued share capital,
are entitled to appoint one Director in line with the Bank’s Articles of Association. Each ordinary share entitles the
shareholder to one voting right.

